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Sub: Information pursuant to Regulation 30 and other applicable Regulations of the SEBI (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI Listing Regulations”)
and SEBI Circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/POD-2/P/CIR/2023/93 dated June 20, 2023 - Notice of
Meeting of the equity shareholders and unsecured creditors of JK Tyre & Industries Limited
to be convened as per the directions provided in the Order of the Hon’ble National Company
Law Tribunal, Jaipur Bench (“Tribunal”) in the matter of the Scheme of Amalgamation of
Cavendish Industries Limited (“Transferor Company”) with JK Tyre & Industries Limited
{“Company” or “Transferee Company”) and their respective shareholders under Sections
230 to 232 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Scheme”)

Dear Sir,

In terms of the Order dated June 12, 2025 read with Order dated July 10, 2025 (uploaded on
July 14, 2025) {collectively known as “Tribunal Order”), the Tribunal has directed separate meetings
of the equity shareholders and unsecured creditors of the Company to be convened and held for the
purpose of considering and if thought fit, approving, with or without modification(s), the Scheme of
Amalgamation of Cavendish Industries Limited with JK Tyre & Industries Limited and their respective
shareholders under Sections 230 to 232 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013
(“Scheme”) and also other Rules and Regulations.

In this regard, please find enclosed the copies of the notices convening the meetings of the equity
shareholders and unsecured creditors of the Company together with the copy of the Scheme and
explanatory statement under Sections 230 and 232 read with Section 102 of the Companies Act, 2013
and Rule 6 of the Companies {Compromises, Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules, 2016 and
relevant annexures thereto.

Brief details of the meetings are as under:

Particulars Equity Shareholders ] Unsecured Creditors
Day and date of the meeting Wednesday, September 3, 2025
Time of the meeting 2.00 p.m. (IST) ] 12.30 p.m. (IST)
Mode of meeting Through video conferencing or other audio visual means
Cut-off date for e-voting Wednesday, August 27, 2025 | Monday, June 30, 2025
Remate e-voting start date Sunday, August 31, 2025 at 9.00 a.m. {IST)
and time S - o
Remote e-voting end date and Tuesday, September 2, 2025 at 5.00 p.m. (IST) |
time !
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The notices convening  the meetings of  the equity  shareholders and
unsecured creditors along with accompanying documents are being hosted on the
Company’s website at https://www.jktyre.com/investor/investor-equity-shareholders-notices
and https://www.jktyre.com/investor/investor-unsecured-creditors-notices respectively.

As permitted in the Tribunal Order, the Notices of the said Meetings are being sent
electronically to the Unsecured Creditors and Equity Shareholders of the Company whose email
addresses are registered with the Company/Depository Participants. Further, as per the Tribunal
Order, copy of physical letter(s) containing the day, date, time and other details for joining the
Meetings through VC/OAVM and the web-link including the exact path, where complete details of the
Notices can be accessed along with a QR Code, sent to those Unsecured Creditors and Equity
Shareholders of the Company whose email addresses are not available with the Company’s records,
is attached.

Thanking you,

Yours faithfully,
For JK Tyre & industries Ltd.

Digitally signed by
KAMAL KAMAL KUMAR

KUMAR MANIK

Date: 2025.07.31

MANIK 20:12:56 +05'30"

(Kamal Kumar Manik)
Company Secretary

Encl: As above
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Corporate Identification Number (CIN): L67120R]J1951PLC045966
Registered Office: Jaykaygram, PO - Tyre Factory, Rajsamand, Kankroli - 313 342, Rajasthan, India
Tel: 02952 - 302 400 / 330 011 Fax: 02952 - 232018

Email: kmanik@jkmail.com |Website: www.jktyre.com

NOTICE CONVENING MEETING OF UNSECURED CREDITORS OF JK TYRE
& INDUSTRIES LIMITED PURSUANT TO ORDER DATED JUNE 12, 2025 READ
WITH ORDER DATED JULY 10, 2025 OF THE HON’BLE NATIONAL COMPANY
LAW TRIBUNAL, JAIPUR BENCH

MEETING
Day Wednesday
Date September 3, 2025
Time 12.30 p.m. (IST)
Mode of Meeting As per the directions of the Hon'ble National Company Law Tribunal,

Jaipur Bench, the meeting shall be conducted through video conferencing
(“VC”) / other audio visual means (“OAVM”)

REMOTE E-VOTING
Cut-off date for e-voting Monday, June 30, 2025

Start Date and Time Sunday, August 31, 2025 at 9.00 a.m. (IST)

End Date and Time Tuesday, September 2, 2025 at 5.00 p.m. (IST)
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FORM NO. CAA.2

[PURSUANT TO SECTION 230(3) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 AND RULE 6 OF THE COMPANIES
(COMPROMISES, ARRANGEMENTS AND AMALGAMATIONS) RULES, 2016]

IN THE HON’BLE NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL, JAIPUR BENCH
INTERLOCUTORY APPLICATION (IA) NO. 27/2025
IN
COMPANY APPLICATION NO. CA(CAA) No. 5/2025

IN THE MATTER OF SECTIONS 230 TO 232 AND OTHER APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF THE COMPANIES ACT,

2013
AND

IN THE MATTER OF SCHEME OF AMALGAMATION OF CAVENDISH INDUSTRIES LIMITED WITH JK TYRE &

INDUSTRIES LIMITED AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SHAREHOLDERS

JKTYRE &INDUSTRIES LIMTED, a company incorporated under the provisions
of Companies Act, 1913 and a company within the meaning of the Companies Act,
2013, having Corporate Identification Number: L67120RJ1951PLC045966 and its
registered office at Jaykaygram, PO - Tyre Factory, Rajsamand, Kankroli - 313 342,
Rajasthan, India Company / Transferee Company

To,

NOTICE CONVENING MEETING OF UNSECURED CREDITORS

The Unsecured Creditors of
JK TYRE & INDUSTRIES LIMITED

1.

NOTICE is hereby given that, in accordance with the Order dated June 12, 2025 read with Order dated July 10, 2025
(uploaded on July 14, 2025) in the above mentioned Interlocutory Application (IA) No. 27/2025 in Company Application
No. CA (CAA) NO. 5/2025, passed by the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Jaipur Bench (“Tribunal”) (“Tribunal
Order”), a Meeting of the Unsecured Creditors of the Transferee Company, will be held for the purpose of their considering,
and if thought fit, approving, with or without modification(s), the proposed Scheme of Amalgamation of Cavendish
Industries Limited (“Transferor Company”) with JK Tyre & Industries Limited (“Company” or* Transferee Company”)
and their respective shareholders (“Scheme”) on Wednesday, September 3, 2025 at 12.30 p.m. (IST) (“Meeting”).

Pursuant to the Tribunal Order and as directed therein, the Meeting will be held through video conferencing (“VC”) /
other audio visual means (“OAVM?”), in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”)
and the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015
(“SEBI Listing Regulations”) and also other applicable Rules and Guidelines, to consider, and if thought fit, to pass, the
resolution mentioned below for approval of the Scheme by requisite majority as prescribed under Section 230(6) of the Act
and other Rules/Regulations, as applicable.

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, 2013, the rules, circulars and
notifications made thereunder (including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof, for the time being in force),
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (including
any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment(s) and circulars issued thereof, for the time being in force) and subject to the
provisions of the Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association of the Company and subject to the approval of
Homn’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Jaipur Bench (“Tribunal”) and subject to such other approvals, permissions and
sanctions of regulatory and other authorities, as may be necessary and subject to such conditions and modifications as may
be deemed appropriate by the parties to the Scheme, at any time and for any reason whatsoever, or which may otherwise be
considered necessary, desirable or as may be prescribed or imposed by the Tribunal or by any regulatory or other authorities,
while granting such approvals, permissions and sanctions, which may be agreed to by the Board of Directors of the Company
(hereinafter referred to as the “Board” which term shall be deemed to mean and include one or more Committee(s) constituted/
to be constituted by the Board or any other person authorised by it to exercise its powers including the powers conferred
by this Resolution), the arrangement embodied in Scheme of Amalgamation of Cavendish Industries Limited (“Transferor
Company”) with JK Tyre & Industries Limited (“Transferee Company”) and their respective shareholders (“Scheme”) be and
is hereby approved.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby authorized to do all such acts, deeds, matters and things, as it
may, in its absolute discretion deem requisite, desirable, appropriate or necessary to give effect to this Resolution and effectively
implement the arrangement embodied in the Scheme and to make any modifications or amendments to the Scheme at any
time and for any reason whatsoever, and to accept such modifications, amendments, limitations and / or conditions, if any,



which may be required and / or imposed by the Tribunal while sanctioning the arrangement embodied in the Scheme or by any
authorities under law, or as may be required for the purpose of resolving any questions or doubts or difficulties that may arise
including passing of such accounting entries and / or making such adjustments in the books of accounts as considered necessary
in giving effect to the Scheme, as the Board may deem fit and proper, without being required to seek any further approval of
the unsecured creditors and the unsecured creditors shall be deemed to have given their approval thereto expressly by authority
under this Resolution.”

3. TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the unsecured creditors shall have the facility and option of voting on the resolution
for approval of the Scheme by casting their votes: (a) through electronic voting system available at the Meeting to be held
through VC / OAVM (“e-voting at the Meeting”); or (b) by remote electronic voting (“remote e-voting”) during the
period as stated below:

REMOTE E-VOTING PERIOD
Commencement of remote e-voting Sunday, August 31, 2025 at 9.00 a.m. (IST)

Conclusion of remote e-voting Tuesday, September 2, 2025 at 5.00 p.m. (IST)

4. A person whose name is recorded in the list of unsecured creditors available with the Transferee Company as on the cut-
off date, i.e., Monday, June 30, 2025 (“Cut-off Date”) only shall be entitled to exercise his / her / its voting rights on the
resolution proposed in the Notice and attend the Meeting. A person who is not an unsecured creditor as on the cut-off
date, should treat the Notice for information purpose only.

5. A copy of the Scheme, statement under Sections 230 and 232 read with Section 102 and other applicable provisions of the
Act and Rule 6 of the Companies (Compromises, Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules, 2016 (“CAA Rules”) along
with all annexures to such Statement are annexed hereto. A copy of this Notice and the accompanying documents are also
placed on the:

a.  website of the Transferee Company and can be accessed at https://jktyre.com/investor/investor-unsecured-creditors-
notices

b.  website of Central Depository Services (India) Limited (“CDSL”) viz. https://www.evotingindia.com being the agency
appointed by the Transferee Company, which will provide the facility of voting to the Unsecured Creditors through
remote e-voting, for participation in the Meeting through VC/OAVM and e-voting at the Meeting; and

c.  websites of the Stock Exchanges i.e., BSE Limited (“BSE”) viz. www.bseindia.com and the National Stock Exchange
of India Limited (“NSE”) viz. www.nseindia.com

6. The Hon’ble Tribunal has appointed Justice Vijender Jain, failing whom, Justice M.S. Bedi, to be the Chairperson of the
Meeting.

7. 'The Hon’ble Tribunal has appointed Mr. Atul Lakhanpal or failing him, Mr. Sapan Dhir to be the Scrutinizer for the
Meeting.

8.  The Scheme, if approved at the aforesaid Meeting, will be subject to the subsequent sanction of the Tribunal and such other
approvals, permissions and sanctions of regulatory or other authorities, as may be necessary.

9. Inaccordance with the applicable Secretarial Standard on General Meetings issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries
of India (“ICSI”) read with MCA Circulars and clarification / guidance on applicability of Secretarial Standards issued
by the ICSI, the proceedings of the Meeting shall be deemed to be conducted at the registered office of the Transferee
Company which shall be the deemed venue of the Meeting. Since the Meeting will be held through VC/OAVM, the Route
Map is not annexed to this notice.

Sd/-

Justice Vijender Jain

New Delhi (Former Chief Justice Punjab & Haryana High Court)
Thursday, July 31, 2025 Chairperson appointed by the Tribunal for the Meeting

Registered Office:

Jaykaygram, PO - Tyre Factory,

Rajsamand, Kankroli - 313 342, Rajasthan, India
CIN: L67120R]J1951PLC045966

Website: www.jktyre.com

E-mail: kmanik@jkmail.com
Tel: 02952 — 302 400 / 330 011

Fax: 02952 - 232018
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NOTES FOR THE MEETING

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR ACCESSING AND PARTICIPATING IN THE MEETING THROUGH VC / OAVM
FACILITY AND VOTING THROUGH ELECTRONIC MEANS INCLUDING REMOTE E-VOTING

1.

10.

11.

Pursuant to the Tribunal Order, the Meeting of the unsecured creditors of the Transferee Company will be held through VC
/ OAVM to transact the business set out in the Notice. Unsecured Creditors attending the Meeting through VC / OAVM
shall be reckoned for the purpose of quorum. Quorum for the Meeting shall be in terms of Section 103 of the Act. Further,
in terms of the Tribunal Order, in the event the aforesaid quorum for the Meeting is not present at the commencement of
the Meeting, then the Meeting shall be adjourned by 30 (thirty) minutes and thereafter the unsecured creditors present at
the Meeting shall be deemed to constitute requisite quorum.

The Statement pursuant to Sections 230 to 232 read with Section 102 and other applicable provisions of the Companies
Act, 2013 (“Act”) and Rule 6 of the Companies (Compromises, Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules, 2016 read with
SEBI Listing Regulations in respect of the business set out in the Notice of the Meeting is annexed hereto. The Meeting will
be conducted in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Tribunal Order, Act, SS-2 and other applicable laws.

Since the Meeting is being held through VC / OAVM, physical attendance of the unsecured creditors has been dispensed
with. Accordingly, the facility for appointment of proxies by the unsecured creditors will not be available for the Meeting.
Hence, proxy forms and attendance slips are not annexed to this Notice.

The proceedings of this Meeting shall be deemed to have been conducted at the registered office of the Transferee Company
located at Jaykaygram, PO - Tyre Factory, Rajsamand, Kankroli — 313 342, Rajasthan, India which shall be the deemed
venue of the Meeting. The route map for the Meeting is not attached as the Meeting is being held through VC / OAVM.

Pursuant to provisions of Section 113 of the Act, authorized representatives of institutional / corporate unsecured creditors
(i.e. other than individuals / Hindu Undivided Family) may be appointed for the purpose of voting through remote
e-voting, for participation in the Meeting through VC / OAVM facility and e-voting at the Meeting. Such institutional /
corporate unsecured creditors are required to send a signed legible copy of its relevant board or governing body resolution
/ power of attorney / authority letter, etc., to the Scrutinizer by e-mail (in PDF / JPEG Format) at scrutinizer.nclt@jkmail.
com with a copy marked to the Transferee Company at kmanik@jkmail.com and CDSL at helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.

com
The Notice of the Meeting and the accompanying documents mentioned in the Index are being sent through:

a. electronic mode to those unsecured creditors whose e-mail addresses are available in the records of the Transferee
Company and the email shall contain the exact path to access the notice, explanatory statement and other relevant
documents; and

b. registered post or speed post or courier to those unsecured creditors whose e-mail addresses are not available, a
physical letter regarding holding of the meeting being sent containing a QR code, through which the relevant details
- such as the day, date, time, and VC/OAVM login details for the meeting, along with the exact path to access the full
notice, explanatory statement and relevant documents along with a copy of the Scheme been sent in lieu of sending
the voluminous physical documents.

The Transferee Company has made arrangements with CDSL to provide the facility for voting by the unsecured creditors
through remote e-voting, for participation in the Meeting through VC / OAVM and e-voting at the Meeting.

The Notice, Scheme, statement under Sections 230 and 232 read with Section 102 and other applicable provisions of the
Act and Rule 6 of the CAA Rules and all other accompanying documents are enclosed herewith and shall be available for
inspection on the Transferee Company’s website at www.jktyre.com

All the documents referred to in the accompanying explanatory statement, shall be available for inspection through
electronic mode during the proceedings of the Meeting. The unsecured creditors seeking to inspect copies of the said
documents may send an email at kmanik@jkmail.com Further, all the documents referred to in the accompanying
explanatory statement shall also be open for inspection by the unsecured creditors at the registered office of the Transferee
Company between 11:00 A.M. to 01:00 P.M. on all working days up to the date of the Meeting.

The Notice convening the Meeting will be published through advertisement in (i) “Business Standard” (English Language
- All Editions); and (ii) “Pratahkal” (Hindi Language — All Editions).

If so desired, the unsecured creditors may obtain a physical copy of the Notice and the accompanying documents, i.e.,
Scheme and the statement under Section 230 read with Section 102 and other applicable provisions of the Act and Rule
6 of the CAA Rules, free of charge. A written request in this regard, along with details of such creditors in the Transferee
Company may be addressed to the Company Secretary at kmanik@jkmail.com
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12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

A.

Subject to the receipt of requisite majority of votes in favour of the Scheme i.e., majority in number representing three-
fourth in value (as per Sections 230 to 232 of the Act), the Resolution proposed in the Notice shall be deemed to have been
passed on the date of the Meeting (specified in the Notice) and the votes cast through remote e-voting and e-voting at the
Meeting will be considered for this purpose.

The voting rights of the unsecured creditors shall be in proportion to the principal amount outstanding as on the cut-off
date as mentioned in the Notice.

PROCEDURE FOR JOINING THE MEETING THROUGH VC / OAVM

The Unsecured Creditors can join the Meeting in the VC/OAVM mode 15 minutes before and also after the scheduled time
of the commencement of the Meeting by following the procedure mentioned in this Notice. The facility of participation
at the Meeting through VC/OAVM will be made available to at least 1,000 unsecured creditors on first-come-first-served
basis. The large Unsecured Creditors (i.e., Unsecured Creditors holding 2% or more principal amount due for payment),
Promoters, Institutions, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel, etc., are allowed to attend the Meeting without restriction
on account of first-come-first-served principle.

An Unsecured Creditor whose name is recorded in the list of Unsecured Creditors maintained by the Transferee Company
as on the cut-off date i.e. Monday, June 30, 2025 can (i) join the Meeting; and (ii) shall be entitled to avail the facility of
remote e-voting, as well as voting at the Meeting, by following the procedure mentioned in this Notice.

E-voting and Joining meeting through VC: In compliance with the Tribunal Order and the provisions of Section 108 and
other applicable provision of the Act read with relevant rules thereunder and the SEBI Listing Regulations, the Transferee
Company is pleased to provide to its unsecured creditors, facility to exercise their right to vote at the Meeting by electronic
means and the business may be transacted through remote e-voting services provided by CDSL. Remote e-voting is
optional. The facility of e-voting shall also be made available at the meeting and unsecured creditors attending the meeting
who have not already cast their vote by remote e-voting will be able to exercise their right to cast vote during the Meeting.

PROCEDURE FOR REMOTE E-VOTING AND E-VOTING DURING THE MEETING

THE INSTRUCTIONS OF UNSECURED CREDITORS FOR E-VOTING AND JOINING VIRTUAL MEETINGS
ARE AS UNDER:

(i) The voting period begins on Sunday, August 31, 2025 at 9.00 a.m. (IST) and ends on Tuesday, September 2, 2025 at
5.00 p.m. (IST). The e-voting module shall be disabled for voting thereafter.

(ii) Voters should log on to the e-voting website www.evotingindia.com during the voting period.
(iii) Click on the ‘Shareholders/Members’ tab.

(iv) Enter your USER ID.

(v) Next enter the Image Verification as displayed and Click on Login.

(vi) Enter your password.

(vii) After entering these details appropriately, click on “SUBMIT” tab.

(viii) Select the EVSN of “JK Tyre & Industries Limited” on which you to choose to vote.

(ix) On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION DESCRIPTION” and against the same the option “YES/NO” for
voting. Select the option “YES” or “NO” as desired. The option “YES” implies that you assent to the Resolution and
option “NO” implies that you dissent to the Resolution.

(x) Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you wish to view the entire Resolution details.

(xi) After selecting the resolution you have decided to vote on, click on “SUBMIT”. A confirmation box will be displayed.
If you wish to confirm your vote, click on “OK?, else to change your vote, click on “CANCEL” and accordingly modify
your vote.

(xii) Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify your vote.

(xiii) You can also take out print of the voting done by you by clicking on “Click here to print” option on the Voting page.
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR UNSECURED CREDITORS ATTENDING THE MEETING THROUGH VC/OAVM, ARE AS

UNDER:

1.

Unsecured Creditors will be provided with a facility to attend the Meeting through VC/OAVM through the CDSL
e-Voting system. Unsecured Creditors may access the same using Remote voting credential & process mentioned
above. The link for VC/OAVM will be available after successful login where the EVSN of Company will be displayed.

Unsecured Creditors are encouraged to join the Meeting through Laptops / IPads for better experience.

Further, Unsecured Creditors will be required to allow Camera and use Internet with a good speed to avoid any
disturbance during the meeting.

Please note that Participants Connecting from Mobile Devices or Tablets or through Laptop connecting via Mobile
Hotspot may experience Audio/Video loss due to fluctuation in their respective network. It is therefore recommended
to use Stable Wi-Fi or LAN Connection to mitigate any kind of aforesaid glitches.

Unsecured Creditors who would like to express their views/ask questions during the Meeting may register
themselves as a speaker by sending their request in advance mentioning their name, Email Id, Mobile Number at
kmanik@jkmail.com between August 18, 2025 to August 25, 2025. The Unsecured Creditors who may have queries
relating to the Scheme, may send their queries during the said period, prior to Meeting mentioning their name, Email
Id, Mobile Number at kmanik@jkmail.com These queries will be replied to by the Transferee Company suitably. The
unsecured creditors will be allowed to express their views and ask questions only relating to the Scheme and/or on
the Resolutions mentioned in the Notice of the Meeting. The Transferee Company reserves the right to restrict the
number of questions and number of speakers, depending upon availability of time as appropriate for smooth conduct
of the Meeting. Those unsecured creditors who have registered themselves as speaker will only be allowed to express
their views/ask questions during the Meeting.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR UNSECURED CREDITORS FOR E-VOTING DURING THE MEETING ARE AS UNDER

L.

The procedure for e-Voting on the day of the Meeting is same as the instructions mentioned above for Remote
e-voting.

Only those Unsecured Creditors, who are present in the Meeting through VC/OAVM facility and have not casted
their vote on the Resolution through remote e-Voting and are otherwise not barred from doing so, shall be eligible to
vote through e-Voting system available during the Meeting.

If any Votes are cast by the Unsecured Creditors through the e-voting available during the Meeting and if the same
Unsecured Creditors have not participated in the meeting through VC/OAVM facility, then the votes cast by such
Unsecured Creditors shall be considered invalid as the facility of e-voting during the Meeting is available only to the
Unsecured Creditors attending the meeting.

Unsecured Creditors who have voted through Remote e-Voting will be eligible to attend the Meeting. However, they
will not be eligible to vote at the Meeting.

If you have any queries or issues regarding attending Meeting & e-Voting from the CDSL e-Voting System, you can
write an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or call on toll free no. 1800 210 99 11.

OTHER INSTRUCTIONS:

1.

The Scrutinizer shall, after the conclusion of voting at the Meeting, unblock and count the votes cast during the
Meeting and votes cast through remote e-voting and shall make a consolidated Scrutinizer’s Report and submit the
same to the Chairperson of the Meeting.

The result of e-voting will be declared within 2 (two) working days of the conclusion of the Meeting and the
same, along with the consolidated Scrutinizer’s Report, will be placed on the website of the Transferee Company:
www.jktyre.com and on the website of CDSL at https://www.evotingindia.com The result will simultaneously be
communicated to the Stock Exchanges. The Transferee Company will also display the results on the notice board at
the Registered Office and Administrative Office of the Transferee Company.
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FORM NO. CAA.2

[Pursuant to Section 230 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 6 and 7 of the Companies (Compromises,
Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules, 2016]

IN THE HON’BLE NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL, JAIPUR BENCH
INTERLOCUTORY APPLICATION (IA) NO. 27/2025
IN
COMPANY APPLICATION NO. CA(CAA) No. 5/2025

IN THE MATTER OF SECTIONS 230 TO 232 AND OTHER APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF THE COMPANIES ACT,
2013

AND

IN THE MATTER OF SCHEME OF AMALGAMATION OF CAVENDISH INDUSTRIES LIMITED WITH JK TYRE &
INDUSTRIES LIMITED AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SHAREHOLDERS

JK TYRE & INDUSTRIES LIMTED, a company incorporated under the
provisions of Companies Act, 1913 and a company within the meaning
of the Companies Act, 2013, having Corporate Identification Number:
L67120RJ1951PLC045966 and its registered office at Jaykaygram, PO -
Tyre Factory, Rajsamand, Kankroli — 313 342, Rajasthan, India Company / Transferee Company

STATEMENT UNDER SECTIONS 230 TO 232 READ WITH SECTION 102 AND OTHER APPLICABLE PROVISIONS
OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 (“ACT”) AND RULE 6 OF THE COMPANIES (COMPROMISES, ARRANGEMENTS
AND AMALGAMATIONS) RULES, 2016 (“CAA RULES”), ACCOMPANYING THE NOTICE OF THE MEETING OF
UNSECURED CREDITORS OF JK TYRE & INDUSTRIES LIMITED PURSUANT TO ORDERS OF THE HON’BLE
NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL, JAIPUR BENCH (“TRIBUNAL”) DATED JUNE 12, 2025 AND JULY 10, 2025
(“TRIBUNAL ORDER”)

1. MEETING FOR THE SCHEME

1.1  This is a statement accompanying the Notice convening the Meeting of Unsecured Creditors of JK Tyre & Industries
Limited (“Company”), for the purpose of their considering and if thought fit, approving, with or without modification(s),
the proposed Scheme of Amalgamation of Cavendish Industries Limited (“Iransferor Company”) with JK Tyre &
Industries Limited (“Company” or “Transferee Company”) and their respective shareholders (“Scheme”) (“Meeting”).
The Scheme provides for: (i) the amalgamation of the Transferor Company (as defined in the Scheme) with the Transferee
Company and dissolution of Transferor Company without winding up; and (ii) various other matters consequent and
incidental thereto or otherwise integrally connected thereto.

1.2 The detailed terms of the arrangement may be referred in the Scheme, appended as ‘Annexure - 1.

1.3 Capital terms not defined herein and used in the Notice and this Statement shall have the same meaning as ascribed to
them in the Scheme.

2. DATE, TIME AND MODE OF MEETING

2.1  Pursuant to the Order dated June 12, 2025 read with Order dated July 10, 2025 (uploaded on July 14, 2025) in the above
mentioned Interlocutory Application (IA) No. 27/2025 in Company Application No. CA (CAA) NO. 5/2025, passed
by the Hon'ble National Company Law Tribunal, Jaipur Bench (“Tribunal”) (“Tribunal Order”), the Meeting of the
Unsecured Creditors of the Transferee Company, will be held for the purpose of their considering and, if thought fit
approving, with or without modification(s), the said Scheme through Video Conferencing (“VC”) / Other Audio Visual
Means (“OAVM”) on Wednesday, September 3, 2025 at 12.30 P.M. (IST) (“Meeting”).

2.2 Subject to the receipt of requisite majority of votes in favour of the Scheme i.e., majority in number representing three-
fourth in value (as per Sections 230 to 232 of the Act), the Resolution proposed in the Notice shall be deemed to have
been passed on the date of the Meeting (specified in the Notice) and the votes cast through remote e-voting and e-voting
at the Meeting will be considered for this purpose.

2.3 In addition, the Transferee Company is seeking the approval of its equity shareholders to the Scheme by way of voting
through e-voting. SEBI Master Circular, inter alia, provides that approval of public shareholders of the Transferee
Company to the Scheme shall be obtained by way of voting through e-voting. Since, the Company is seeking the approval
of its equity shareholders (which includes Public Shareholders) to the Scheme by way of voting through e-voting, this



2.4

3.1

32

4.1

notice will be deemed (i) to be issued in accordance with the provisions of the Act; and (ii) to be the notice sent to the
public shareholders of the Transferee Company in accordance with the SEBI Master Circular. For this purpose, the term
“Public” shall have the meaning assigned to it in Rule 2(d) of the Securities Contracts (Regulations) Rules, 1957 and the
term “Public Shareholders” shall be construed accordingly.

Further, in accordance with the SEBI Master Circular, the Scheme shall be acted upon only if the votes cast by the Public
Shareholders in favour of the aforesaid resolution for approval of Scheme are more than the number of votes cast by the
Public Shareholders against it.

RATIONALE AND BENEFIT OF THE SCHEME

The Transferor Company and the Transferee Company, both, are engaged in the similar line of business. Taking into consideration
the similar line of business and growth prospects available, it is proposed to undertake the amalgamation. This amalgamation will
inter alia result in all the businesses being housed in one listed company with the following benefits:

a)  economies of scale, operational synergies & efficiencies at multiple levels of business operations;

b)  optimisation in administrative, managerial and other overheads;

) reduction in interest cost;

d)  pooling of resources for faster growth;

e)  ease of doing business;

f) comprehensive products offering, availability of combined sales and distribution network;

g)  improved customer satisfaction;

h)  significant reduction in multiplicity of legal and regulatory compliances; and

i) improved investor perception and enhanced shareholders’ value.

The Scheme is in the interest of the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company and their respective stakeholders.

BACKGROUND OF THE COMPANIES

Particulars of the Transferee Company

4.1.1 JK Tyre & Industries Limited (“Transferee Company” or “Company”) having Corporate Identification Number
(CIN) L67120RJ1951PLC045966 was originally incorporated under the provisions of the Indian Companies Act,
1913, as amended, as “].K. Industries Private Limited”, a private limited company pursuant to which a certificate
of incorporation dated February 14, 1951 was issued by the Registrar of Companies, West Bengal. Thereafter, the
Transferee Company was converted into a public limited company pursuant to resolution passed by the shareholders
on April 18, 1974 and consequently the name of the Transferee Company was changed to “J.K. Industries Limited”
and a fresh certificate of incorporation dated May 24, 1974 was issued by the Registrar of Companies, West Bengal.
Further, the name of the Transferee Company was subsequently changed to “JK Tyre & Industries Limited” and a
fresh certificate of incorporation dated April 2, 2007 was issued by the Registrar of Companies, West Bengal. The
equity shares of the Transferee Company are listed on the BSE Limited (“BSE”) and the National Stock Exchange
of India Limited (“NSE”) (“Stock Exchanges”).

4.1.2 The Registered Office of the Transferee Company is situated at Jaykaygram, PO - Tyre Factory, Rajsamand, Kankroli
- 313 342, Rajasthan, India. Its permanent account number with the income tax department is AAACJ6716F. The
e-mail address of the Transferee Company is kmanik@jkmail.com and website is www.jktyre.com

4.1.3 The summary of the main objects of the Transferee Company, as per its Memorandum of Association, have been
reproduced below for the perusal of the unsecured creditors:

“3.  The objects for which the Company is established are:

(i)  To promote and float companies and take over the management as Managing Agents or to acquire
Managing Agency of any company already promoted.

(ii)  To undertake and carry on any business transaction and operation commonly undertaken or carried
on by Financiers, Promoters of Companies, Managing Agents, Bankers, Underwriters, Concessionaries,
Contractors for public and other works, Capitalists or Merchants and in particular to underwrite, issue,
place Shares, Stocks, Bonds, Debentures, Debenture-stocks and Securities, and to deal in Government
Promissory Notes, Securities, Port Trust Debentures, Corporation Securities, Shares, Stocks, Bonds,
Debentures, Debenture-stocks etc.
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(iia)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

To provide, maintain and operate services, facilities and conveniences for the benefit of any Company,
corporate body or society and to act as a service organization for providing general administrative,
secretarial, advisory, commercial, financial, technical, accountancy, legal and other services to companies,
bodies corporate or associations.

To lend, invest or otherwise employ moneys belonging to or entrusted to the Company upon Securities
either movable or immovable or without securities on promise on securing Hand Notes, Hundies and
Bonds registered or otherwise and on such terms as may be thought proper and from time to time vary
such transactions in such manner as the Company may think fit.

To draw, accept and make and to endorse, discount and negotiate Promissory Notes, Hundies, Bills of
Exchange, Bill of Landing and other Negotiable Instruments connected with the business of the Company.

To raise or receive money in deposits at interest or otherwise or borrow or overdraw from Banks,
Private Parties in such manner as the Company may think fit and in particular by the issue of Shares,
Debentures, Debenture-Stocks or Perpetual Annuities and as Securities of any such moneys borrowed,
raised or received, to mortgage, pledge or charge the whole or any part of the property or assets or revenue
of the Company, present or future, including its uncalled Capital by special assignment or otherwise or to
convey, transfer the same absolutely or entrust and to give the lenders power of sale and other powers as
may seem expedient and to purchase, redeem or pay off any such securities.

To carry on, without in any way creating environment pollution or ecological imbalance, as manufacturers
of Aluminium, Steel, Non-ferrous and other Metals, Cement, Tiles, Caustic Soda, Soda Ash, manures,
Glass, Dies, Gases, Coal-tar, Papers, Pulps, Card-boards, Plastic, Textile including Jute, Sugar and its
products and erect factories and purchase machineries for the manufacture of these and also carry on
business as Miners, Chemicals Engineers, Ship-owners, Charterers, Planters, Sugar-merchants, Paper-
merchants and Timber-Merchants and deal in articles of all kinds and description including Gold, Silver,
Copper, Mica, Silks, Jewellery, Fineries etc.

To acquire, construct, operate, sell and manufacture, without in any way creating environmental
pollution or ecological imbalance, Chemical and Pharmaceutical refineries, Oil, Hydrogenation Plant
and its products, Flour Mills, Factories, Distilleries, Laboratories and similar works.

(vii-A) (a) To carry on, without in any way creating environmental pollution or ecological imbalance,

the business of manufacturers, fabricators, processors, producers, growers, makers, importers,
exporters, buyers, sellers, suppliers, stockists, agents, merchants, distributors and concessionaires
of all or any of the following kinds and providers of services of any kind to any potential user in
connection therewith:

(1) Tyres, tubes and tyre-cord and automobile parts and accessories.
(1 -A) Rubber and rubber products of all kinds and descriptions.

(2)  Electronics of all kinds and description such as electrical and wireless sets, television receivers,
transistors, radiography, phonography, Dictaphones and other electrical instruments and articles.

(3)  Graphite, synthetics, coal, tar and tar bye-products.

(4)  General Merchandise goods, plant, machinery, office equipment and stationery goods of all
descriptions, engines, furniture, articles, apparatus, instruments, gadgets, devices, contraptions,
tools, stores, spare parts, utensils and parts and components thereof.

(5)  Chemicals and Pharmaceuticals - both bulk drugs and formulations; vitamins and vitamin
products, tonics, hormones and hormone products; cosmetics of all kinds and medical preparations
required or used for beauty, personal hygiene and prophylactics; medical utilities of all kinds
and descriptions; all kinds of orthopaedic and surgical goods; medical, diagnostic, curative and

prophylactic equipment and machinery of all types and descriptions and spare parts and services
thereof.
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During the last five years, there has been no change in the object clause of the Transferee Company.

The Transferee Company is inter alia engaged in developing, manufacturing, marketing and distributing automotive
tyres, tubes, flaps and retreads.

The share capital of the Transferee Company (as on date of this Notice) is as follows:

Particulars Amount in INR

Authorised Share Capital

62,50,00,000 Equity Shares of INR 2 each 1,25,00,00,000

55,00,000 Preference Shares of INR 100 each 55,00,00,000
TOTAL 1,80,00,00,000

Issued, Subscribed and Paid - Up Share Capital

27,40,20,027 Equity Shares of INR 2 each, fully paid - up 54,80,40,054
TOTAL 54,80,40,054

The audited financial statements of the Transferee Company for the quarter and financial year ended March 31,
2025 is appended as ‘Annexure - 2.

The details of promoters, directors and key managerial personnel of the Transferee Company as on date of this
Notice along with their addresses are mentioned herein below:

S. No. Name Designation / Address
Category
Promoter & Promoter Group
1. |Bengal & Assam Company Limited Promoter 7, Council House Street, Kolkata, West
Bengal - 700 001
2. Shri Bharat Hari Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
3. | Dr. Raghupati Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
4. | Shri Vikram Pati Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
5. Smt. Vinita Singhania Nehru House, 4 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
6. |Smt. Sunanda Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
7. | Shri Harsh Pati Singhania Nehru House, 4 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
8.  |Shri Anshuman Singhania p ter G Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
FomOErHIOUP | Narg. New Delhi - 110 002
9.  |Smt. Sharda Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
10. |Dr. Raghupati Singhania (Karta of Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Raghupati Singhania HUF) Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
11. | Shri Shrivats Singhania Nehru House, 4 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
12. | Shri Harsh Pati Singhania (Karta of Nehru House, 4 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Harshpati Singhania HUF) Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
13. | Shri Vikram Pati Singhania (Karta Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
of Vikrampati Singhania HUF) Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
14. | Shri Anshuman Singhania (Karta Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
of Shripati Singhania HUF) Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
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S. No. Name Designation / Address
Category
Promoter & Promoter Group

15. | Smt. Durgavati Jain Nirmal, 3“ floor, 241, Backbay
Reclamation Nariman Point,
Mumbai - 400 021

16. |Smt. Shubha Kanoria 23 Ballygunge Park Road,
Kolkata - 700 019

17. | Hari Shankar Singhania Holdings Nehru House, 4 Bahadur Shah Zafar

Private Limited Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
18. |Sidhivinayak Trading and Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Investment Limited Marg, New Delhi -110 002

19. | Accurate Finman Services Limited Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi -110 002

20. |Nav Bharat Vanijya Limited Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

21. | Smt. Mamta Singhania Nehru House, 4 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

22. |Smt. Swati Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

23. | Shri Chaitanya Hari Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

24. | Shri Pranav Hari Singhania Nehru House, 4 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

25. | Shri Shridhar Hari Singhania Nehru House, 4 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

26. | Smt. Shweta Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

27. | Smt. Atashi Singhania Nehru House, 4 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

28. | Ms. Aadyaa Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

29 | Ms. Avani Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

30. |Bharat Hari Singhania Family Trust Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

31. |Raghupati Singhania Family Trust Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

32. | Vinita Singhania Family Trust Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

33. |JK Lakshmi Cement Limited Jayakaypuram Basantgarh Distt Sirohi,
Rajasthan - 307 019

34. |JK Paper Limited P.O. Central Pulp Mills Fort Songarh,
District Tapi, Gujarat — 394 660

35. |JK Agri Genetics Limited 7, Council House Street, Kolkata, West
Bengal - 700 001

36. |J.K. Fenner (India) Limited 3, Madurai-Melakkal Road, Madurai,
Tamil Nadu - 625 016

37. |JKF Evolve Limited 3, Madurai Melakkal Road, Kochadai,

Madurai, Tamil Nadu - 625 016
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S. No. Name Designation / Address
Category
Promoter & Promoter Group
38. |Southern Spinners and Processors 3, Madurai-Melakkal Road, Madurai,
Limited Tamil Nadu - 625 016
39. |Modern Cotton Yarn Spinners 3, Madurai-Melakkal Road, Madurai,
Limited Tamil Nadu - 625 016

40. |JK Agri Research Services Limited 1-10-177, 4* Floor, Varun Towers,
Begumpet, Hyderabad, Secunderabad,
Telangana - 500 016

41. |CliniRx Research Private Limited 7, Council House Street, Kolkata, West
Bengal - 700 001

42. |Dwarkesh Energy Limited Gulab Bhawan, 3™ Floor, 6A, Bahadur
Shah Zafar Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

43. | Valiant Pacific LLC 305, AL Masraf Tower, Baniyas Road,
Deira, Dubai

44. |LV P Foods Private Limited Patriot House, 4™ Floor, 3 Bahadur Shah
Zatar Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

45. | Sridharnath Research Limited 3, Madurai-Melakkal Road, Kochadai,
Madurai, Tamil Nadu - 625 016

46. |Param Shubham Vanijya Limited Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

47. | Sago Trading Limited Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

48. | YPL Enterprises Private Limited 13* Milestone, 12-6 Delhi Mathura
Road, Ballabgarh, Faridabad, Haryana
-121 004

49. |]J.K. Credit and Finance Limited Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

50. |Juggilal Kamlapat Lakshmipat Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

51. |JK Insurance Brokers Limited Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

52. | Panchmahal Properties Limited Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar

Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

Name Designation / Category Address
Directors
Dr. Raghupati Singhania Chairman & Managing | Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Director Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
Shri Shreekant Somany Director Somany Ceramics Limited, Kassar -
124 507, Haryana
Smt. Sunanda Singhania Director Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
Smt. Meera Shankar Director House No. - 40 IFS Villas, Builders
Area, Pocket — 6, Greater Noida,
Gautam Budh Nagar - 201 310, Uttar
Pradesh
Shri Subhrakant Panda Director Madhuban, 30, Green Avenue, Vasant
Kunj, New Delhi - 110 070
Shri Krishna Kumar Bangur Director Graphite India Limited, 31,

Chowringhee Road, Kolkata 700 016
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4.2

Name Designation / Category Address
Directors
Dr. Jorg Nohl Director Erich Ruppel, Str-7 Wunstorf, 31515,
Germany

Shri. Bharat Hari Singhania Director Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

Shri Anshuman Singhania Managing Director | Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

Dr. Arun Kumar Bajoria Whole-time Director |Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

OTHER KEY MANAGERIJAL PERSONNEL (KMPs)

Name Designation / Category Address
Shri Sanjeev Kumar Aggarwal Chief Financial Officer |Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002
Shri Kamal Kumar Manik Company Secretary | Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

Particulars of the Transferor Company

4.2.1

422

4.2.3

Cavendish Industries Limited (“Transferor Company”) having Corporate Identification Number (CIN)
U74900R]J2015PLC097517 was incorporated on January 12, 2015 under the provisions of the Companies Act,
2013 with Registrar of Companies, West Bengal with the name and style of “Cavendish Industries Limited”. The
Transferor Company is a public limited company and it is a subsidiary of JK Tyre & Industries Limited i.e. the
Transferee Company. The equity shares of the Transferor Company are not listed on any stock exchange(s).

The Registered Office of the Transferor Company was shifted from the State of West Bengal to the State of
Rajasthan vide fresh certificate issued by Registrar of Companies dated October 1, 2024. The registered office of
the Transferor Company is situated at Jaykaygram, PO - Tyre Factory, Rajsamand, Kankroli - 313 342, Rajasthan,
India. Its permanent account number with the income tax department is AAFCC8999]. The e-mail address of the

Transferor Company is kmanik@jkmail.com

The summary of the main objects of the Transferor Company, as per its Memorandum of Association, have been
reproduced below for the perusal of the unsecured creditors:

“II(A). The objects to be pursued by the Company on its incorporation are:

L To carry on the business of makers, manufacturers, processors, producers, importers, exporters,
buyers, sellers, dealers, stockists, distributors, suppliers, agents, merchants, fabricators, processors and
concessionaires of all kinds of rubber, tyres, tubes, flaps, tyrecord, vehicles, wheels, automobile parts and
components, automobile accessories, automobile consultants and the compounds, substances, derivatives,
substitutes and by-products of the aforesaid materials and to prepare, press, vulcanize, repair and retreat
such of them as are considered expedient.

2. To carry on the business of makers, manufacturers, processors, producers, weavers, importers, exporters,
buyers, sellers, dealers, stockist, distributors, suppliers, agents, merchants, fabricators, processors and
concessionaries of all varieties of nylons, rayon, cellulose rayon, viscose, rayon filament yarn, chemicals,
transparent paper, silk and artificial silk, linen, cloth, fabrics, velvet, cords, flax, wool, threads and other
goods and fabrics, whether natural, man made or machine made in its all forms, and to purchase comb,
prepare, spin, dye polymethane, cellulose, dropping, spun or other fibrous substances and deal in silk,
cotton, rayon, hemp, jute, wool and any fibrous substances, bleachers and dyers and makers of vitriol,
bleaching and dyeing materials.

3. To carry on the business of makers, manufacturers, processors, producers, purchasers, sellers, makers,
importers, exporters, dealers, brokers, agents, stockists, generators, distributors, suppliers, agents,
merchants, fabricators, processors and concessionaires and to process, treat, prepare, refine limestone,
cement and all types and kinds of cement or cement related products and all kind of lime, plasters, clay,
gravel, gypsum, artificial stone and all other products made out of cement and products/ by-products,
peripheral products like generation, transmission and distribution of power or any other product or
preparations allied thereto by whatever name called.”
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4.2.4 During the last five years, there has been no change in the object clause of the Transferor Company.

4.2.5 The Transferor Company is inter alia engaged in developing, manufacturing, marketing and distributing automotive
tyres, tubes & flaps.

4.2.6 The share capital of the Transferor Company (as on date of this Notice) is as follows:

Particulars Amount in INR
Authorised Share Capital

4,00,00,00,000 Equity Shares of INR 10 each 40,00,00,00,000
1,00,00,00,000 Unclassified Shares of INR 10 each 10,00,00,00,000

TOTAL 50,00,00,00,000

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-Up Share Capital
5,99,71,273 Equity Shares of INR 10 each, fully paid - up 59,97,12,730
TOTAL 59,97,12,730

4.2.7 The audited financial statements of the Transferor Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2025 is
appended as ‘Annexure - 3’.

4.2.8 The details of promoters, directors and key managerial personnel of the Transferor Company as on the date of this
Notice along with their addresses are mentioned herein below:

Name Designation / Address
Category
Promoter & Promoter Group

JK Tyre & Industries Limited Promoter Jaykaygram PO - Tyre Factory, Rajsamand,

Kankroli - 313 342, Rajasthan
Promoter Group

JK Tornel, S.A. De C.V. Santa Lucia 311, Azcapotzalco, 02770
Mexico, D.E.

Valiant Pacific LLC 305, AL Masraf Tower, Baniyas Road, Deira,
Dubai

Smt. Sunanda Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar Marg,

Promoter Group New Delhi - 110 002

Dr. Raghupati Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar Marg,
New Delhi - 110 002

Smt. Vinita Singhania Nehru House, 4 Bahadur Shah Zafar Marg,
New Delhi - 110 002

Shri Anshuman Singhania Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar Marg,
New Delhi - 110 002

DIRECTORS
Name Category / Designation Address
Dr. Raghupati Singhania Director Patriot House, 3, Bahadur Shah Zafar Marg,
(Non - Executive New Delhi - 110 002
Chairman)

Shri Shreekant Somany Director Somany Ceramics Limited, Kassar -
124 507, Haryana

Smt. Shwetambara Shardul Shroff Director 4, Jor Bagh, New Delhi - 110 003

Chopra

Dr. Arun Kumar Bajoria Whole-time Director | Patriot House, 3, Bahadur Shah Zafar Marg,
New Delhi - 110 002

Shri Kalpataru Tripathy Director Villa No. 12, ATS Pristine Sector 150,
Noida - 201 310 Uttar Pradesh

Dr. Shailendra Chouksey Director G-7, Sector — 44, Noida - 201 301, Uttar
Pradesh
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5.5
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5.8

5.9

5.10

OTHER KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL (KMPs)

Name Designation / Category Address

Shri Kamal Kumar Manik Chief Financial Officer & |Patriot House, 3 Bahadur Shah Zafar
Company Secretary Marg, New Delhi - 110 002

SALIENT FEATURES OF THE SCHEME

The salient features of the Scheme are, inter-alia, as stated below. The capitalized terms used herein shall have the same
meaning as ascribed in the Scheme:

This Scheme is presented under Sections 230 to 232, SEBI Master Circular and other applicable provisions of the Act
read with Section 2(1B), Section 47, Section 72A and other applicable provisions of the Income Tax Act (as defined in the
Scheme) and other applicable law, if any and provides for the amalgamation of the Transferor Company (as defined in the
Scheme) with the Transferee Company and dissolution of Transferor Company without winding up and also provides for
varjous other matters consequent and incidental thereto or otherwise integrally connected thereto;

The Appointed Date’ means April 1, 2025 or such other date as may be mutually agreed by the respective Board of the
Parties and ‘Effective Date’ is the date on which last of the conditions specified in Clause 19 (Conditions Precedent) of
the Scheme are complied with or waived, as applicable;

The Scheme shall become effective from the Appointed Date but shall be operative from the Effective Date;

Upon the effectiveness of this Scheme and in consideration of the amalgamation of the Transferor Company with the
Transferee Company, the Transferee Company shall, without any further application, act, deed, consent, acts, instrument
or deed, issue and allot, on a proportionate basis to each shareholder of the Transferor Company, whose name is recorded
in the register of members as member of the Transferor Company as on the Record Date, as under:

“92 (Ninety Two) fully paid up equity shares of INR 2 (Indian Rupees Two) each of the Transferee Company, credited as fully
paid up, for every 100 (One Hundred) equity shares of INR 10 (Indian Rupees Ten) each of the Transferor Company.”

The said equity shares issued by the Transferee Company will be listed on BSE and NSE, post receipt of requisite approvals.

No equity shares shall be issued by the Transferee Company in respect of the shares, if any, held by the Transferee
Company and/or its subsidiary(s) in the Transferor Company, and all such shares shall stand cancelled upon the Scheme
becoming effective.

Upon the Scheme becoming effective, Transferor Company along with all its assets, liabilities, contracts, employees,
records etc. being its integral part shall stand transferred to the Transferee Company as a going concern subject to the
provisions of the Scheme.

From the appointed date and up to the effective date, the Transferor Company and Transferee Company shall carry on its
business and activities with reasonable diligence and business prudence.

Combination of the authorized share capital of the Transferor Company with the authorized share capital of the Transferee
Company and consequential increase in the authorized share capital of the Transferee Company as provided in Part II
Clause 10 of the Scheme.

Dissolution of the Transferor Company pursuant to the Scheme

On the Scheme becoming effective, the Transferor Company shall stand dissolved without being wound up and the
Board and any committees thereof shall without any further act, instrument or deed be and stand discharged. On and
from the Effective Date, the name of the Transferor Company shall be deemed to be struck off from the records of the
Registrar of Companies.

The effectiveness of the Scheme is contingent upon certain conditions as mentioned in the Scheme.

Note: The above details are the salient features of the Scheme. The unsecured creditors are requested to read the
entire text of the Scheme annexed hereto to get fully acquainted with the provisions thereof.

RELATIONSHIP SUBSISTING BETWEEN PARTIES TO THE SCHEME

The Transferee Company is the promoter of the Transferor Company. As on the date of this notice, the Transferee
Company and/or its subsidiaries hold 5,24,60,965 (~87.48%) equity shares of the Transferor Company, each having a
face value of INR 10. Out of these, 4,44,60,965 (~74.13%) of the total equity share capital of the Transferor Company is
held by the Transferee Company, i.e., JK Tyre & Industries Limited.
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7.1

7.2

8.1

8.2

9.1

BOARD APPROVALS

The Board of Directors of the Transferee Company at its Board Meeting held on September 16, 2024 by resolution passed

unanimously approved the Scheme, as detailed below:

Name of Director

Voted in favour / against / did not participate or vote

Dr. Raghupati Singhania

Voted in favour

Shri Shreekant Somany

Voted in favour

Smt. Sunanda Singhania

Voted in favour

Smt. Meera Shankar

Voted in favour

Shri Subhrakant Panda

Voted in favour

Shri Krishna Kumar Bangur

Leave of Absence

Dr. Jorg Nohl

Leave of Absence

Shri Bharat Hari Singhania

Voted in favour

Shri Anshuman Singhania

Voted in favour

Dr. Arun Kumar Bajoria

Voted in favour

Shri Vimal Bhandari*

Voted in favour

Shri Kalpataru Tripathy*

Voted in favour

* ceased to be Directors of the Company w.e.f. 25" September 2024.

The Board of Directors of the Transferor Company at its Board Meeting held on September 16, 2024 by resolution passed

unanimously approved the Scheme, as detailed below:

Name of Director

Voted in favour/ against/ did not participate or vote

Dr. Raghupati Singhania

Voted in favour

Shri Kalpataru Tripathy

Voted in favour

Dr. Shailendra Chouksey

Voted in favour

Smt. Shwetambara Shardul Shroff Chopra

Voted in favour

Dr. Arun Kumar Bajoria

Voted in favour

Shri Anuj Kathuria*

Voted in favour

* ceased to be a Director of the Transferor Company w.e.f. 14" February 2025.

INTEREST OF DIRECTORS, KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL (KMPs) AND THEIR RELATIVES

IK Tyre & Industries Limited (“Transferee Company”)

None of the Directors, KMPs of the Transferee Company and their respective relatives (as defined under the Act and
rules framed thereunder) has any interest in the Scheme except to the extent of their directorship and shareholding in the
Transferee Company;, if any. Save as aforesaid, none of the said Directors or the KMPs or their respective relatives has any
material interest in the Scheme.

Cavendish Industries Limited (“Transferor Company”)

None of the Directors, KMPs of the Transferor Company and their respective relatives (as defined under the Act and
rules framed thereunder) has any interest in the Scheme except to the extent of their directorship and shareholding in the
Transferor Company; if any. Save as aforesaid, none of the said Directors or the KMPs or their respective relatives has any
material interest in the Scheme.

EFFECT OF SCHEME ON STAKEHOLDERS
The effect of the Scheme on various stakeholders is summarised below:

Shareholders, Key Managerial Personnel, Promoter and Non-Promoter Shareholders

The effect of the Scheme on the shareholders, key managerial personnel, promoter and non-promoter shareholders of
the Transferee Company and the Transferor Company are appended in the attached reports i.e. ‘Annexure - 4’ and
‘Annexure - 5’, respectively, adopted by the respective Board of Directors of the Transferee Company and the Transferor
Company at its meeting held on September 16, 2024 pursuant to the provisions of Section 232(2)(c) of the Act.
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9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

9.7

10.

11.

12.

12.1

Directors

9.2.1 Pursuant to the Scheme, the Transferor Company will be dissolved without winding up. The KMPs concerned in
the Transferor Company shall become employees of the Transferee Company without any interruption in their
service. The Scheme will have no effect on the office of existing Directors of the Transferee Company. The Directors
of the Transferee Company will continue to be Directors of the Transferee Company, as before.

9.2.2 It is clarified that the composition of the Board of Directors of the companies may change by appointments,
retirements or resignations in accordance with the provisions of the Act, SEBI Listing Regulations and Memorandum
and Articles of Association of such companies but the Scheme itself does not affect the office of Directors of such
companies.

Employees

Pursuant to the Scheme and with effect from the Effective Date, the Transferee Company will engage, without any
interruption in service, all employees engaged in or in relation to the Transferor Company, on the terms and conditions
not less favourable than those on which they are engaged by the Transferor Company, immediately preceding the Effective
Date.

Creditors

Pursuant to the Scheme and with effect from the Effective Date, all creditors of the Transferor Company will become
creditors of the Transferee Company. The rights of the creditors of the Transferee Company and Transferor Company shall
not be impacted pursuant to the Scheme and there will be no reduction in their claims on account of the Scheme. There
is no likelihood that the respective creditors of the Transferee Company and Transferor Company would be prejudiced
in any manner as a result of the Scheme being sanctioned.

Debenture holders and Debenture Trustees

The Transferee Company and the Transferor Company have not issued any debentures and accordingly have not
appointed any debenture trustee(s).

Depositors and Deposit Trustees

The Transferor Company have not taken any deposits within the meaning of the Act and Rules framed thereunder and
accordingly have not appointed any deposit trustee(s). The Transferee Company has accepted unsecured deposits in
compliance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder. These deposits shall remain
unaffected, as the Transferee Company will continue to exist upon the Scheme becoming effective.

There will be no adverse effect on account of the Scheme on the aforesaid stakeholders. The Scheme is proposed to the
advantage of all concerned, including the said stakeholders.

NO INVESTIGATION PROCEEDINGS

There are no proceedings pending under Sections 210 to 227 of the Act against the Transferee Company and the Transferor
Company.

AMOUNTS DUE TO UNSECURED CREDITORS

The amount due to unsecured creditors by the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company as on June 30, 2025 is
as follows:

Sr. No. |Particulars Amount in INR
1. Cavendish Industries Limited 10,06,33,08,700
2. JK Tyre & Industries Limited 23,49,06,26,441

The Scheme embodies the arrangement between the Transferee Company and the Transferor Company, and its
shareholders. No change in value or terms or any compromise or arrangement is proposed under the Scheme with
any of the creditors of the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company. The Scheme does not involve any debt
restructuring and therefore the requirement to disclose details of debt restructuring is not applicable.

DETAILS OF CAPITAL OR DEBT RESTRUCTURING, IF ANY

Upon amalgamation of the Transferor Company with the Transferee Company, all equity shares of the Transferor
Company held by the Transferee Company and / or its subsidiaries, shall stand cancelled. The capital structure of
Transferee Company and the Transferor Company has been provided above in the statement.
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12.2

13.

13.1

13.2

14.

14.1

14.2

15.

16.
16.1

16.2

The Scheme does not in any manner adversely or prejudicially affect the rights of any creditors of the Transferee Company
and the Transferor Company or contemplate any compromise or arrangement with the creditors of the Transferee
Company and the Transferor Company. Further, there is no debt restructuring envisaged in the Scheme.

VALUATION REPORT AND FAIRNESS OPINION

A copy of the Share Exchange Ratio Report dated September 16, 2024 issued by M/s. PwC Business Consulting Services
LLP (IBBI Registration No. IBBI/RV-E/02/2022/158), Registered Valuer (“Share Exchange Ratio Report”), in connection
with the Scheme is appended as ‘Annexure - 6’.

A copy of the Fairness Opinion dated September 16, 2024, issued by ICICI Securities Limited, an Independent SEBI
Registered Merchant Banker (“Fairness Opinion”), have also confirmed that the Share Exchange Ratio as recommended
by M/s. PwC Business Consulting Services LLP, the registered valuer for the proposed Scheme of Amalgamation seems
fair and reasonable, a copy of the Fairness Opinion is appended as ‘Annexure - 7°.

PRE / POST SHAREHOLDING PATTERN

JK Tyre & Industries Limited (“Transferee Company”)

The pre & post scheme shareholding pattern of the Transferee Company is as follows (based on shareholding as on the
date of sending this notice):

Category Pre Post

No. of shares | % of shareholding | No. of shares | % of shareholding
Promoter and Promoter Group 13,85,25,055 50.55 14,54,34,536 51.77
Public 13,54,94,972 49.45 13,54,94,975 48.23
TOTAL 27,40,20,027 100.00 28,09,29,511 100.00

Cavendish Industries Limited (“Transferor Company”)

The pre & post scheme shareholding pattern of the Transferor Company is as follows (based on shareholding as on the
date of sending this notice):

Category Pre Post
No. of shares | % of shareholding | No. of shares | % of shareholding
Promoter and Promoter Group 5,99,71,273 100.00 | Upon the Scheme becoming effective,
Public i} _|the Transferor Company shall be

dissolved without being wound up.

TOTAL 5,99,71,273 100.00

AUDITORS’ CERTIFICATE OF CONFORMITY OF ACCOUNTING TREATMENT IN THE SCHEME WITH
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Transferee Company and the Transferor Company have confirmed that the accounting treatment certificate dated
September 16, 2024 issued by M/s. S S Kothari Mehta & Co. LLP (ICAI Firm Registration No. 000765N/N500441) and
M/s. Lodha & Co LLP (Firm Registration no: 301051E/E300284), the Statutory Auditors of the Transferee Company and
the Transferor Company respectively, confirming the accounting treatment in the prescribed manner in the Scheme is
in conformity with the accounting standards prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 and other Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles in India. Copies of the said certificates of the Transferee Company and the Transferor
Company are appended as ‘Annexure - 8’ and ‘Annexure - 9), respectively.

APPROVALS AND INTIMATIONS IN RELATION TO THE SCHEME

In terms of Regulation 37 of the SEBI Listing Regulations read with SEBI Master Circular, BSE and NSE, by their respective
Observation Letters dated April 1, 2025 and April 2, 2025, respectively, have conveyed “no adverse observations / no-
objection” on the Scheme.

A copy of the said letters issued by BSE and NSE are appended hereto as ‘Annexure - 10’ and ‘Annexure - 11’ respectively.
Further, in terms of the said SEBI Master Circular, the Transferee Company has not received any complaint relating to
the Scheme and “NIL” complaints reports were filed by the Transferee Company with BSE and NSE, copies of which are
appended hereto as ‘Annexure - 12’ and ‘Annexure - 13’.
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16.3

16.4

16.5

16.6

16.7

16.8

17.

17.1

Detailed Compliance Report as per the format specified in Annexure IIT of the SEBI Scheme Circular is enclosed as
‘Annexure 14°.

As per the requirements of above observation letters, details of ongoing adjudication & recovery proceedings, prosecution
initiated, and all other enforcement action taken against the Transferee Company, its promoters and directors, as
submitted to the Tribunal, are appended hereto as ‘Annexure - 15.

Information pertaining to the Transferor Company involved in the Scheme in the format prescribed for abridged
prospectus as specified in Part E of Schedule VI of the SEBI (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,
2018 is attached hereto. M/s. D & A Financial Services Private Limited, Independent SEBI Registered Merchant Bankers,
have issued a certificate certifying the accuracy and adequacy of the information in the said abridged prospectus. The said
certificate and abridged prospectus of the Transferor Company are attached hereto as ‘Annexure - 16’.

A copy of the Scheme has been filed by the Transferee Company and the Transferor Company with the jurisdictional
Registrar of Companies.

The notice of the Meeting along with the copy of the Scheme in the prescribed form, will be served on all concerned
authorities in terms of the Tribunal Order.

All approvals as stated in clause 19 (Conditions Precedent) of the Scheme, in order to give effect to the Scheme, will be
obtained. Additionally, the Transferee Company and the Transferor Company will obtain such approvals / sanctions / no
objection(s) from the regulatory or other governmental authorities in respect of the Scheme in accordance with law, as
may be required.

OTHER ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AS MANDATED BY THE STOCK EXCHANGE(S)

Details in respect of the particulars mentioned / stipulated in: (i) clause (h) of the no-objection letter, dated April 2, 2025,
received from NSE; and (ii) clause (H) of the no adverse observation letter, dated April 1, 2025, received from BSE:

Need for the merger, Rationale of the scheme, Synergies of business of the entities involved in the scheme, Impact of
the scheme on the shareholders and cost benefit analysis of the scheme

° NEED FOR THE MERGER

Cavendish Industries Limited (“Transferor Company”) is inter alia engaged in developing, manufacturing,
marketing and distributing automotive tyres, tubes & flaps.

JK Tyre & Industries Limited (“Transferee Company”) is inter alia engaged in developing, manufacturing,
marketing and distributing automotive tyres, tubes, flaps and retreads.

The merger of the Transferor Company with the Transferee Company will result in focused growth, enhancement
of manufacturing capacities, operational efficiencies and business synergies.

. RATIONALE OF THE SCHEME

The Transferor Company and the Transferee Company, both, are engaged in the similar line of business. Taking into
consideration the similar line of business and growth prospects available, it is proposed to undertake the amalgamation.
This amalgamation will inter alia result in all the businesses being housed in one listed company with the following
benefits:

a)  economies of scale, operational synergies & efficiencies at multiple levels of business operations;
b)  optimisation in administrative, managerial and other overheads;

c) reduction in interest cost;

d)  pooling of resources for faster growth;

e)  ease of doing business;

f) comprehensive products offering, availability of combined sales and distribution network;

g)  improved customer satisfaction;

h)  significant reduction in multiplicity of legal and regulatory compliances; and

i) improved investor perception and enhanced shareholders’ value.

The Scheme is in the interest of the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company and their respective stakeholders.
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. SYNERGIES OF BUSINESS OF THE ENTITIES INVOLVED IN THE SCHEME

The background and information about the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company are, inter-alia, as

under:

(a)  The Transferor Company is inter alia engaged in developing, manufacturing, marketing and distributing
automotive tyres, tubes & flaps;

(b)  The Transferee Company is inter alia engaged in developing, manufacturing, marketing and distributing
automotive tyres, tubes, flaps and retreads; and

(c) Taking into consideration the similar line of business and growth prospects available, it is proposed to

undertake the merger.

. IMPACT OF THE SCHEME ON THE SHAREHOLDERS

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

In consideration of the amalgamation of the Transferor Company with the Transferee Company, the
Transferee Company shall, issue and allot, on a proportionate basis to each shareholder of the Transferor
Company, whose name is recorded in the register of members as member of the Transferor Company as
on the Record Date (as defined in the Scheme). Further, no equity shares shall be issued by the Transferee
Company in respect of the shares, if any, held by the Transferee Company and/or its subsidiary(s) in the
Transferor Company, and all such shares shall stand cancelled upon the Scheme becoming effective;

The rights and interests of the shareholders of the Transferee Company will not be prejudicially affected by
the Scheme;

Upon the Scheme becoming effective, the Transferor Company shall be dissolved without being wound up
and the shareholders of the Transferor Company shall become shareholders of the Transferee Company;

Upon the effectiveness of the Scheme and subject to receipt of regulatory approvals, the equity shares of the
Transferee Company issued as consideration pursuant to the Scheme, shall be listed on BSE Limited and the
National Stock Exchange of India Limited; and

The Scheme is expected to be beneficial to the shareholders of the Transferee Company leading to opportunity
for growth and value creation in the long run and maximizing the value and returns to the shareholders,
achieving cost and operational efficiencies.

. COST BENEFIT ANALYSIS OF THE SCHEME

The Scheme is expected to provide an opportunity to improve the economic value for the companies involved in
the Scheme and their stakeholders, in view of the consolidation of the businesses. This is primarily on account of
various cost and operational synergies which are expected to accrue to the Transferee Company on account of the
Scheme. While the Scheme would lead to incurring some costs towards its implementation, the benefits of the
Scheme over a longer period would far outweigh such costs for the stakeholders of the Transferee Company.

17.2 Clarification Letter dated January 17, 2025 issued by Statutory Auditor with respect to method of accounting to be
followed for accounting amalgamation in Transferee Company post -merger

17.3

Kindly refer to ‘Annexure - 17°.

Details of Registered Valuer issuing Valuation Report and Merchant Banker issuing Fairness opinion, Summary of
methods considered for arriving at the Share-Swap Ratio and Rationale for using above methods

Details:

Details of the Registered Valuer issuing Valuation Report and Merchant Banker issuing Fairness opinion:

Sr. No. Name Particulars
1. M/s. PwC Business Consulting Services LLP | Registered Valuer issuing Valuation Report in connection with
the Scheme [IBBI Registration No. IBBI/RV-E/02/2022/158]
2. ICICI Securities Limited Independent SEBI registered Merchant Banker issuing the
fairness opinion on the Valuation Report by M/s. PwC
Business Consulting Services LLP
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17.4

17.5

17.6

Summary of methods considered for arriving at the Share-Swap Ratio and the rational of using the methods:

The Transferor Company and the Transferee Company had appointed M/s. PwC Business Consulting Services LLP, a
Registered Valuer (IBBI Registration No. IBBI/RV-E/02/2022/158), for undertaking the valuation exercise in connection
with the proposed Scheme. M/s. PwC Business Consulting Services LLP has issued a Share Exchange Ratio Report dated
September 16, 2024 determining the fair value and proposing the share exchange ratio for the issuance of consideration
shares, as defined in the Scheme.

The Share Exchange Ratio Report, including the summary of methodologies and assumptions along with the submissions
made to the Stock Exchange(s) is annexed hereto and marked as ‘Annexure - 6 for reference.

Revised shareholding pattern submitted by JKTIL vide email dated March 21, 2025
Kindly refer to ‘Annexure - 18’.

Pre and Post scheme shareholding of CIL and JKTIL as on date of notice of Shareholders meeting along with
rationale for changes, if any, occurred between filing of Draft Scheme to Notice to shareholders

Details:

There has been a change in the shareholding of CIL between the date of filing of the Draft Scheme and the date of this
Notice due to the transfer of shares. Kindly refer to Paragraph 17.6 below for details of the changes in the shareholders
of the Transferor Company. It may be noted that no additional capital has been allotted or issued by the Transferor
Company during this period.

In the Transferee Company also, no additional capital has been issued or allotted during the said period. However, based
on the advice of SEBI/ Stock Exchanges, all shareholders of the Transferor Company are now to be treated as part of the
Promoter Group in the Shareholding Pattern of the Transferee Company post scheme. The revised shareholding pattern
reflecting this change was shared by the Transferee Company via its email dated March 21, 2025, and forms part of this
notice.

Capital built-up of CIL since incorporation and last 3 years shareholding pattern filed by CIL with ROC

Details: Capital Built-up of the Transferor Company since incorporation:

Date of Issue# No. of Equity Issue Price Type of Issue (IPO/ | Cumulative Capital |  Whether
Shares Issued (Rs.) FPO/ Preferential (No. of Shares) listed, if not
Issue/ Scheme/ Bonus/ listed, give
Rights/ Buy Back, etc.) reasons thereof
January 31, 2015 50,000 10 Subscription to 50,000 No*
Memorandum of
Association
March 31, 2015 70,00,00,000 10 Allotment on Private 70,00,50,000 No*
Placement basis
July 8, 2016 (65,00,46,429) | Not Applicable | Reduction in Equity 5,00,03,571 No*
Share Capital**
March 30, 2020 51,70,000 145 Preferential Issue 5,51,73,571 No*
March 22, 2022 47,97,702 155 Allotment of Equity 5,99,71,273 No*
Share on Rights basis

# This is date of Allotment.

*The Transferor Company is unlisted.

** Pursuant to the Order of Hon’ble High Court, Calcutta dated 17" May 2016 (effective from 4™ July 2016), issued,
subscribed and paid-up equity share capital of the Transferor Company was reduced from Rs. 7,00,05,00,000 (INR)
compromising 70,00,50,000 equity shares of Rs. 10 (INR) each to Rs. 50,00,35,710 (INR) comprising 5,00,03,571 equity
shares of Rs. 10 (INR) each.
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Last three years’ shareholding of the Transferor Company:

The details of the last three years’ shareholding are as under:

Shareholding Pattern as on March 31, 2025

SI. No | Name of the Shareholder No. of Equity Shares (%)
1. |JK Tyre & Industries Limited 4,44,60,965 74.13
2. |JK Tornel, S.A. De C.V 80,00,000 13.34
3. | Valiant Pacific LLC 75,00,000 12.51
4. | Smt. Sunanda Singhania 10,093 0.02
5. | Dr. Raghupati Singhania 139 0.00
6. | Smt. Vinita Singhania 46 0.00
7. | Shri Anshuman Singhania 30 0.00
TOTAL 5,99,71,273 100.00
Shareholding Pattern as on March 31, 2024
Sl. No | Name of the Shareholder No. of Equity Shares (%)
1. |JKTyre & Industries Limited 4,44,60,965 74.13
2. |JK Tornel, S.A. De C.V 8,000,000 13.34
3. | Valiant Pacific LLC 7,500,000 12.51
4. | Smt. Sunanda Singhania 10,093 0.02
5. |Dr. Arun Kumar Bajoria 139 0.00
6. | Shri Ashok Kumar Kinra 46 0.00
7. | Shri Sanjiv Saxena 30 0.00
TOTAL 5,99,71,273 100.00
Shareholding Pattern as on March 31, 2023
SL. No | Name of the Shareholder No. of Equity Shares (%)
1. |JK Tyre & Industries Limited 4,44,60,965 74.13
2. JK Tornel, S.A. De C.V 8,000,000 13.34
3. | Valiant Pacific LLC 7,500,000 12.51
4. | Smt. Sunanda Singhania 10,093 0.02
5. | Dr. Arun Kumar Bajoria 139 0.00
6. | Shri Ashok Kumar Kinra 46 0.00
7. | Shri Sanjiv Saxena 30 0.00
TOTAL 5,99,71,273 100.00
17.7 Details of Revenue, PAT and EBIDTA of CIL and JKTIL for last 3 years
Details:
CAVENDISH INDUSTRIES LIMITED
(Rs. in Crores)
Particulars FY 2024-25 FY 2023 - 24 FY 2022 - 23
Revenue from Operations 3981.24 3657.11 3864.14
Profit after tax 108.26 155.59 9.04
EBITDA 441.52 513.24 324.96
YoY growth of Revenue (%) 8.86% -5.36% 29.57%
YoY growth of PAT (%) -30.42% 1621.13% 113.99%
EPS (Rs.) 18.05 25.94 1.51
Industry growth rate (%) (Volumes) 6% - 7% 11% 6%
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JIK TYRE & INDUSTRIES LIMITED

(Rs. in Crores)

Particulars FY 2024-25 FY 2023 - 24 FY 2022 - 23
Revenue from Operations 10176.33 10313.27 9617.92
Profit after tax 385.23 590.76 183.77
EBITDA 1075.25 1397.22 806.33
YoY growth of Revenue (%) -1.33% 7.23% 19.74%
YoY growth of PAT (%) -34.79% 221.47% 0.40%
EPS (Rs.)

- Basic 14.06 22.42 7.45
- Diluted 14.05 22.36 7.45
Industry growth rate (%) (Volumes) 6% — 7% 11% 6%

17.8 Projections considered for valuation of CIL and JKTIL

17.9

Kindly refer to ‘Annexure - 19.

Justification for growth rate considered for valuation of CIL and JKTIL

Details

The growth rates considered for the valuation of CIL and JKTIL have been determined in accordance with standard
valuation methodologies and are reflective of the respective companies’ business models, industry trends, and future
projections. The detailed justification for the growth rates adopted is provided in the letter dated October 15, 2024 issued
by PwC Business Consulting Services LLP, IBBI Registered Valuer (Registration No.: IBBI/RV-E/02/2022/158). The said

letter is attached herewith as ‘Annexure — 19’.

17.10 Value of Assets and liabilities of CIL that are being transferred to Transferee Company and post-merger balance

sheet of JKTIL

Details

Assets & Liabilities of the Transferor Company as of March 31, 2025 are as follows:

(Rs. in crores)

Particulars Transferor Company
ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Property Plant and Equipment 2569.76
Capital Work-in-Progress 90.16
Other Intangible Assets 1.52
Financial Assets

(i) Investments 4.85
(ii) Trade receivables 13.14
(iii) Other financial assets -
Other non-current assets 3.49
Total Non-Current Assets (A) 2682.92
Current Assets

Inventories 597.48
Financial Assets

(i)  Trade receivables 624.87
(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 46.82
(iii) Other Bank balances 28.49
(iv) Other financial assets 24.57
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(Rs. in crores)

Particulars Transferor Company
Current Assets (Net) 4.03
Other Current Assets 51.52
Total Current Assets (B) 1377.78
TOTAL ASSETS (A+B) 4060.70
EQUITY AND LIABILITES
Equity
Equity share capital 59.97
Other equity 1004.25
Total Equity (C) 1064.22
Non-Current Liabilities
Financial liabilities
(i) Borrowings 1010.01
(ii) Lease liabilities 10.58
(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 166.38
Provisions 27.21
Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net) 71.68
Total Non - Current Liabilities (D) 1285.86
Current Liabilities
Financial liabilities
i Borrowings 766.04
ii.  Lease liabilities 5.23
iii. Trade payables
-Micro & Small Enterprises 15.60
-Other 387.98
iv.  Other financial Liabilities 162.18
Other current liabilities 372.95
Provisions 0.64
Total Current Liabilities (E) 1710.62
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (C+D+E) 4060.70

Details of assets & liabilities of Transferee Company (Standalone) pre and post amalgamation (based on March 31,

2025) are as follows

(Rs. in crores)

Particulars Pre amalgamation| Post Amalgamation
(Standalone)

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 3644.92 6213.32
Capital Work in Progress 273.82 363.98
Investment Property 5.31 5.31
Other Intangible Assets 12.54 14.06
Intangible assets under development 1.12 1.12
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(Rs. in crores)

Particulars Pre amalgamation| Post Amalgamation
(Standalone)
Financial assets
(i) Investments 783.38 151.01
(ii) Other Financial Assets 111.94 125.08
Other non-current assets 67.00 70.49
Total Non - Current Assets (A) 4900.03 6944.37
Current Assets
Inventories 1519.20 2110.88
Financial assets
(i) Investments 11.29 11.29
(ii) Trade receivables 2265.86 2830.79
(iii) Cash and cash equivalents 51.28 98.10
(iv) Other Bank Balances 496.11 524.60
(v)  Other financial assets 147.75 172.32
Current Tax Assets (Net) 33.94 37.97
Other current assets 552.31 316.25
Total Current Assets (B) 5077.74 6102.20
TOTAL ASSETS (A+B) 9977.77 13046.57
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity share capital 54.80 56.18
Other equity 413791 4559.25
Total Equity (C) 4192.71 4615.43
Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Financial liabilities
(i) Borrowings 846.82 1856.83
(ii) Lease Liabilities 67.51 77.45
(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 742.45 908.83
Provisions 35.16 62.37
Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net) 505.21 575.45
Total Non - Current Liabilities (D) 2197.15 3480.93
Current Liabilities
Financial liabilities
(i) Borrowings 1798.00 2564.04
(ii) Lease liabilities 35.99 40.42
(iif) Trade payables
- Micro & Small Enterprises 41.72 57.32
- Others 1118.62 1446.66
(iv) Other Financial Liabilities 397.61 559.79
Other current liabilities 188.85 274.22
Provisions 7.12 7.76
Total Current Liabilities (E) 3587.91 4950.21
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (C+D+E) 9977.77 13046.57
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17.11

17.12

17.13

Details of potential benefits and risks associated with the merger, including integration challenges, market
conditions and financial uncertainties

Details:

Potential Benefits are as follows:

a)  economies of scale, operational synergies & efficiencies at multiple levels of business operations;
b)  optimization in administrative, managerial and other overheads;

c) reduction in interest cost;

d)  pooling of resources for faster growth;

e)  ease of doing business;

f) comprehensive products offering, availability of combined sales and distribution network;
g)  improved customer satisfaction;

h)  significant reduction in multiplicity of legal and regulatory compliances; and

i) improved investor perception and enhanced shareholders’ value.

The Transferor Company is a subsidiary company of the Transferee Company and both the companies are engaged
in developing, manufacturing, marketing and distributing automotive tyres, tubes and flaps. Hence, we do not see
any risk or integration challenges arising out of merger. Further, as both Companies are presently serving the same
markets, therefore, there will not be any change in the market condition due to merger. It may further be clarified that
both companies are profitable and have strong Balance Sheets, Hence, this amalgamation will not lead to any financial
uncertainties for Transferee Company.

Financial implication of merger on promoters, public shareholders and the companies involved
Details:

The merger of Cavendish Industries Limited with and into JK Tyre & Industries Limited will not have any financial
implications on account of the following:

L In consideration of the amalgamation of the Transferor Company with the Transferee Company, the Transferee
Company shall, issue and allot, on a proportionate basis to each shareholder of the Transferor Company, whose name
is recorded in the register of members as member of the Transferor Company as on the Record Date (as defined in the
Scheme). Further, no equity shares shall be issued by the Transferee Company in respect of the shares, if any, held by
the Transferee Company and/or its subsidiary(s) in the Transferor Company, and all such shares shall stand cancelled
upon the Scheme becoming effective.

2. The rights and interest of the shareholders of the Transferee Company will not be prejudicially affected by the Scheme.

3. Upon the Scheme becoming effective, the Transferor Company shall be dissolved without being wound up and the
shareholders of the Transferor Company shall become shareholders of the Transferee Company.

4. Upon the effectiveness of the Scheme and subject to receipt of regulatory approvals, the equity shares of the Transferee
Company issued as consideration pursuant to the Scheme, shall be listed on BSE Limited and the National Stock
Exchange of India Limited.

The Scheme is expected to be beneficial to the shareholders of the Company leading to opportunity for growth and value
creation in the long run and maximizing the value and returns to the shareholders, achieving cost and operational efficiencies.

Conditions imposed by lending scheduled commercial banks/financial institutions, if any, while issuing its NOC to
the Scheme

Details

In terms of SEBI Master Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/POD-2/P/CIR/2023/93 dated June 20, 2023, both the Transferor
Company and the Transferee Company have secured No Objection Certificates (“NOC”) from over 75% of their secured
lenders, based on value, for the proposed Scheme. No specific conditions have been imposed by lending scheduled
commercial banks/financial institutions, if any, while issuing its NOC to the Scheme.
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17.14 Disclose all pending actions against the entities involved including its promoters and directors in the scheme and

18.

19.

20.

possible impact of the same on the Transferee Company to the shareholders
Details

There are no pending actions against the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company as on date. Further, the
detail of pending litigation against the Transferee Company is forming part of the explanatory statement. It may also be
noted that there there are no actions taken or subsisting against the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company
including its promoters / directors of the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company, which adversely impact the
Scheme.

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES

The additional documents submitted with NSE, as per Annexure — M of the NSE Checklist and in line with the advice
received from BSE via email dated April 1, 2025, pursuant to Point (Q) of the observation letter, along with the application
filed under Regulation 37 of the SEBI Listing Regulations for obtaining the Observation Letter, are enclosed herewith as
‘Annexure - 20’.

INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS

In addition to the documents appended hereto, the electronic copy of following documents will be available for inspection
in the investors section of the website of the Transferee Company at www.jktyre.com

a. Certified copy of the Tribunal Order
b.  Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Transferee Company and the Transferor Company

c. Audited financial statements of the Transferee Company and the Transferor Company for the financial year ended
as on March 31, 2025

d.  Copy of the Scheme

e. Certificate of the Statutory Auditor of the Transferee Company and the Transferor Company, respectively,
confirming that the accounting treatment prescribed under the Scheme is in compliance with Section 133 of the
Act and other Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India

f. All other documents displayed on the Transferee Company’s website i.e. www.jktyre.com in terms of the SEBI
Master Circular

Based on the above and considering the rationale and benefits, in the opinion of the Board, the Scheme will be of
advantage to, beneficial and in the interest of the Transferee Company;, its shareholders and other stakeholders and the
terms thereof are fair and reasonable. The Board of Directors of the Transferee Company recommend the Scheme for
approval of the unsecured creditors.

Sd/-
Justice Vijender Jain
(Former Chief Justice Punjab & Haryana High Court)

New Delhi, July 31, 2025 Chairperson appointed by the Tribunal for the Meeting

Registered Office:

Jaykaygram, PO - Tyre Factory,
Rajsamand, Kankroli - 313 342,
Rajasthan, India

CIN: L67120R]J1951PLC045966

Website: www.jktyre.com

E-mail: kmanik@jkmail.com
Tel: 02952 - 302 400 / 330 011

Fax: 02952 - 232018
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INFORMATION AT A GLANCE

Particulars

Notes

Cut-off date to determine those unsecured creditors
who are eligible to vote on the resolution

Monday, June 30, 2025

Remote e-Voting start date and time

Sunday, August 31, 2025 at 9.00 a.m. (IST)

Remote e-Voting end date and time

Tuesday, September 2, 2025 at 5.00 p.m. (IST)

Date on which the resolution is deemed to be passed

Wednesday, September 3, 2025

Name, address and contact details of e-voting service
provider

Central Depository Services (India) Limited

A Wing, 25th Floor, Marathon Futurex,

Mafatlal Mills Compound, N.M. Joshi Marg,

Lower Parel (East), Mumbai - 400 013, Maharashtra, India

E-mail Id: helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com
Tel: 1800 21 09911

Name and contact details for clarifications

Shri Kamal Kumar Manik

Company Secretary & Compliance Officer

JK Tyre & Industries Limited

3, Bahadur Shah Zafar Marg, New Delhi - 110 002, India
Tel: 91 11 - 6820 1112

Email: kmanik@jkmail.com
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Annexure 3

ANNEXURE — A To THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Annexure “A’ referred to in paragraph 1 under the heading “report on other legal and regulatory
requirements” of our report of even date on the financial statements of Cavendish Industries Limited
for the year ended March 31, 2025.

i. (Q)(A) The Company has maintained proper records

(o)

(B)

showing full particulars, including quantitative
details and situation of Property, Plant and
Equipment and relevant details of right of use
assets (RoU).

The Company has maintained proper records
showing full particulars of infangible assets.

As per the physical verification program,
certain Property, Plant and Equipment and
right of use assets (RoU) were physically verified
during the year by the Management which, in
our opinion, is reasonable having regard o the
size of the Company and nature of its assets.
Based on information and records provided to
us, No material discrepancies were noticed on
such verification.

According to the information and explanations
given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the propery tax receipt registered sale
deed / transfer deed / conveyance deed
provided to us, we report that, the ftitle deeds
of all the immovable properties, (other than
immovable properties where the Company
is the lessee and the lease agreements are
duly executed in favour of the Company)
disclosed in the financial statements included
in property, plant and equipment, are held in
the name of the Company as at the balance
sheet date, except for the following:

(9)

e)

ii. ()

(o)

The Company has not revalued any of its
property, plant and equipment (including Right
of Use assets) and intangible assets during the
year.

Based on information and explanations given
fo us and records provided, no proceedings
have been initiated during the year or are
pending against the Company as at March
31, 2025 for holding any benami property
under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition)
Act, 1988 (as amended in 2016) and rules
made thereunder.

The inventories were physically verified during
the year by the Management at reasonable
intervals (except for stock lying with the third
parties and in transit which have been verified
based on confirmations). In our opinion and
according to the information and explanations
given to us, the coverage and procedure
of such verification by the Management is
appropriate having regard to the size of the
Company and the nature of its operations. No
discrepancies of 10% or more inthe aggregate
for each class of inventories were noticed on
such physical verification of inventories when
compared with books of account.

According to the information and explanations
giventous, the Company has been sanctioned
working capital limits in excess of Rs. 5 crores,

Rs. in Crores (10 Million)

Held in

Description
of property

Gross carrying
value

name of

Whether promoter,
director or their
relative or employee

Period held —
indicate range,
where appropriate

Reason for not
being held in name
of company

Land

2.32

Title under
dispute

No

Since 31¢" March
2015

Under Litigation*

*refer note no.33
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Vi,

in aggregate, during the year, from banks or
financial institutions on the basis of security of
current assets. In our opinion and according
to the information and explanations given to
us, the quarterly retuns / statements (stock
statements, book debt statements, credit
monitoring arrangement reports, statements
on ageing analysis of the debtors/other
receivables, and other stfipulated financial
information) filed by the Company with such
banks or financial institutions are generally
in agreement with the unaudited books of
account of the Company of the respective
quarters.

The Company has made an investment in a
Company but not provided any guarantee or
security, and granted any loans or advances in
the nature of loans, secured or unsecured, fo
companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships
or any other parties during the year, hence
reporting under clause 3(iii) (o) to (f) of the
Order is not applicable.

The Company has not granted any loans,
made investments or provided guarantees or
securities and hence reporting under clause
3(iv) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company has not accepted any deposits
from the public or amounts which are deemed
fo be deposits within meaning of Sections 73
to 76 or any other relevant provisions of the
Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies
(Acceptance of Deposits) Rules. Hence, we
do not offer comment on the same. Further,
according to the information and explanations
given to us, no order has been passed by
the Company Law Board or the National
Company Law Tribunal or the Reserve Bank of
India or any Court or any other Tribunal against
the Company in this regard.

We have broadly reviewed the books of
accountmaintained by the company pursuant
o the rules made by the Central Government
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vii. (Q)

Viil.

ix. ()

for the maintenance of cost records under
section 148(1) of the Act in respect of the
Company’s products and services to which
the said rules are made applicable and are
of the opinion that prima facie, the prescribed
records have been made and maintained.
We have, however, not made a detailed
examination of the said records with a view
to determine whether they are accurate or
complete.

According to the records of the Company, the
Company is regular in depositing undisputed
statutory dues including Goods and Services
tax, Provident Fund, Employees’ State Insurance,
Income Tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, duty of
Customs, duty of Excise, Value Added Tax,
Cess and other material statutory dues with the
appropriate authorities 1o the extent applicable.

There were no undisputed statutory dues
payable in respect of Goods and Services 1ax,
Provident Fund, Employees’ State Insurance,
Income-tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, duty of
Custom, duty of Excise, Value Added Tax, Cess
and other material statutory dues in arrears
as at March 31, 2025 for a period of more
than six months from the date they become
payable.

There are no statutory dues as referred to in
sub-clause (a) above which have not been
deposited as on March 31, 2025 on account
of disputes.

As per the information and representation
made to us, there were no transactions relating
to previously unrecorded income that were
surrendered or disclosed as income in the tax
assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961
(43 of 1961) during the year.

As per the records and information provided, in
our opinion, the Company has not defaulted
in the repayment of loans or other borrowings
or in the payment of interest thereon to any
lender during the year.



Xi.

(o)

()

()

()

(o)

(@)

(o)

The Company has not been declared wilful
defaulter by any bank or financial institution or
government or any government authority.

To the best of our knowledge and belief and
as per the records and information provided,
in our opinion, term loans availed by the
Company were, applied by the Company
during the year for the purposes for which the
loans were obtained.

On an overall examination of the financial
statements of the Company, funds raised on
short-term basis have, prima facie, not been
used during the year for long-term purposes
by the Company.

The Company does not have any subsidiary,
associates or joint venture. Hence, reporting
under clause 3(ix)(e) of the Order is not
applicable.

The Company does not have any subsidiary,
associates or joint venture. Hence, reporting
on clause 3(ix)(f) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company has not raised moneys by way
of initial public offer or further public offer
(including debt instruments) during the year
and hence reporting under clause 3(x)(a) of
the Order is not applicable.

The Company has not made any preferential
allotment or private placement of (fully or
partly or optionally) convertible debentures
during the year and hence reporting under
clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable
to the Company.

Based on the audit procedures performed and
on the basis of information and explanations
provided by the management, no fraud by
the Company and no material fraud on the
Company has been noticed or reported
during the year.

No report under sub-section (12) of section
143 of the Companies Act has been filed
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Xil,

Xiii.

Xiv.

©

(@)

o)

in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under rule 13 of
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014
with the Central Government, during the year
and upto the date of this report.

As represented to us by the Management,
there were no whistle blower complaints
received by the Company during the year.

In our opinion and according to the
information and explanations given to us, the
Company is not a nidhi company and hence
reporting under clause 3(xii) of the Order is not
applicable.

According to the information and explanations
and records made available by the
management of the Company and audit
procedures performed, the Company is in
compliance with Section 177 and 188 of
the Companies Act, where applicable, for all
fransactions with the related parties and the
details of related party transactions have been
disclosed in the financial statements etc. as
required by the applicable Indian accounting
standards. (Read with note no. 45)

In our opinion, the Company has an adequate
internal audit system commensurate with the
size and the nature of its business.

We have considered, the internal audit reports
issued fo the Company during the year and
fill date in determining the natfure, timing and
extent of our audit procedures.

On the basis of records made available
fo us and according to information and
explanations given to us, the Company has
not entered into non-cash transactions with
the directors or persons connected with ifs
directors and hence provisions of section 192
of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable
to the Company.

The Company is not required to be registered
under section 45-I1A of the Reserve Bank of
India Act 1934 and hence reporting under



Xviil,

XiX.

clause 3(xvi)(@)., (b) and (c) of the Order is
not applicable. As per the information and
explanation provided to us, there are two CIC
within the group as defined in Core Investment
Companies (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016.

The Company has not incurred cash losses
during the financial year covered by our audit
or in the immediately preceding financial year.

There has bbeen no resignation of the statutory
auditors of the Company during the year.

On the basis of the financial ratios, ageing
and expected dates of realization of financial
assets and payment of financial liabilities,
other information accompanying the financial
statements and our knowledge of the Board of
Directors and Management plans and based
on our examination of the evidence supporting
the assumptions, nothing has come to our
attention, which causes us to believe that any
material uncertainty exists as on the date of
the audit report indicating that Company is
not capable of meeting its liabilities existing
at the date of balance sheet as and when
they fall due within a period of one year from
the balance sheet date. We, however, state
that this is not an assurance as to the future
viability of the Company and/ or certificate
with respect to meeting financial obligations
by the Company as and when they fall due.
We further state that our reporting is based on
the facts up to the date of the audit report
and we neither give any guarantee nor any
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XXi.

assurance that all liabilities falling due within
a period of one year from the balance sheet
date, will get discharged by the Company as
and when they fall due.

The Company has fully spent the required
amount towards Corporate Social Responsibility
(CSR) and there are no unspent CSR amount
for the year requiing a fransfer to a Fund
specified in Schedule VIl to the Companies
Act or special account in compliance with the
provision of sub-section (6) of section 135 of
the said Act.

The Company is not required 1o prepare
Consolidated  Financial ~ Statements  and
accordingly reporting under clause 3(xxi) of
the Order is not applicable.

For LODHA & CO LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI-FRN: 301051E/E300284

Shyamal Kumar
Partner
Membership No. 509325

Place: New Delhi
Date: 15" May 2025



ANNEXURE — B To THE AuDITORS’ REPORT

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of
Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls over
financial reporting of Cavendish Industries Limited (“the
Company”) as of March 31, 2025 in conjunction with
our audit of the financial statements of the Company
for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial
Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining internal financial controls
based on the intermnal control over financial reporting
criteria established by the Company considering
the essential components of internal control stated
in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial
Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAl). These
responsibilities include the design, implementation
and maintenance of adequate internal financial
controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including
adherence to respective company’s policies, the
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection
of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness
of the accounting records, and the timely preparation
of reliable financial information, as required under the
Companies Act, 2013.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
infernal financial controls over financial reporting of
the company based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial
Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) issued by the Instfitute
of Chartered Accountants of India and the Standards
on Auditing, prescribed under Section 143(10) of the
Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an
audit of intermnal financial controls. Those Standards
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and the Guidance Note require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit fo obtain reasonable assurance about whether
adequate intemnal financial controls over financial
reporting were established and maintained and if such
controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls system over financial reporting and
their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal
financial controls over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion on the internal financial controls system
over financial reporting of the company.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over Financial
Reporting

A company’s intermnal financial control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal financial
control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the fransactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance



that fransactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorisations of
management and directors of the company; and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
fimely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Limitations of Internal Financial Controls over
Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent Imitafions of internal

financial controls over financial reporting, including
the possibility of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements due to
error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the intemnal financial
controls over financial reporting to future periods are
subject to the risk that the internal financial control
over financial reporting may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

69

Opinion

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material
respects, an adequate internal financial controls
system over financial reporting and such intemal
financial confrols over financial reporting  were
operating effectively as at March 31, 2025, based
on the internal control over financial reporting criteria
established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over
Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India.

For LODHA & CO LLP
Chartered Accountants
FRN: 301051E/E300284

Shyamal Kumar
Partner
Membership No.509325

Place: New Delhi
Date: 15™ May, 2025



Cavendish Industries Limited

Balance Sheet As Ar 31st March 2025
% in Crores (10 Million)

Note N As at As atf
ote Ho. 31.03.2025 31.03.2024
ASSETS
(1) Non-Current Assets
(@)  Property, Plant and Equipment 2 2569.76 2620.27
(b) Capital work-in-progress 90.16 14.42
(c) Ofher Intangible Assets 3 1.52 0.59
(d)  Financial Assets
- Investments 4 4.85 2.43
- Others 5 13.14 13.01
(f)  Other Non-Current Assets 7 3.49 6.19
2682.92 2656.91
(2) Current Assets
(@)  Inventories 8 597.48 579.48
(b)  Financial Assets
- Trade Receivables 9 624.87 498.46
- Cash and cash equivalents 10 46.82 44.60
- Other Bank Balances 11 28.49 70.77
- Other Financial Assets 12 24.57 26.27
(c) Cumrent Tax Assets (Net) 13 4.03 3.87
(d)  Other Current Assets 14 51.52 60.85
1377.78 1284.30
TOTAL ASSETS 4060.70 3941.21
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
(@)  Equity Share Capital SOCE - | 59.97 59.97
(b)  Ofher Equity SOCE - I 1004.25 895.67
1064.22 955.64
LIABILITIES
(1) Non-current Liabilities
(@) Financial Liabilities
- Borrowings 15 1010.01 1211.27
- Lease Liabilities 10.58 11.41
- Other Financial Liabilities 16 166.38 156.15
(b)  Provisions 17 27.21 26.84
(c) Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net) 6 71.68 34.78
1285.86 1440.45
(2) Current Liabilities
(@) Financial Liabilities
- Borrowings 18 766.04 604.44
- Lease Liabilities 5.23 4.59
- Trade Payables
- Micro and Small Enterprises 19 15.60 21.49
- Others 19 387.98 500.38
- Other Financial Liabilities 20 162.18 148.54
(b)  Ofher current liabilities 21 372.95 265.12
(c) Provisions 22 0.64 0.56
1710.62 1545.12
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 4060.70 3941.21
Company Overview, Basis of preparation and Material Accounting Policies. 1
The accompanying notes are an infegral part of the financial statements.
As per our report of even date
For LODHA & CO. LLP KAMAL KUMAR MANIK Dr. Raghupati Singhania (DIN: 00036129) Chairman
Chartered Accountants Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary  Arun K. Bajoria (DIN: 00026540) Director
SHYAMAL KUMAR Kalpataru Tripathy (DIN: 00865794) Director
Partner Dr. Shailendra Chauksey (DIN: 00040282) Director
'‘New Delhi, the 15th May, 2025 Shreekant Somany (DIN: 00021423) Director
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Cavendish Industries Limited
Statement of Profit & LOSS For The Year Enpep 31st MarcH 2025

% in Crores (10 Million)

Note No. 2024-2025 2023-2024
|, Revenue from operations 23 3981.24 3657.11
Il.  Other income 24 9.61 7.59
lll. Total Income (I + 1I) 3990.85 3664.70
V. Expenses
Cost of materials consumed 2517.68 2345.32
Purchases of Stock-in-Trade 152.50 124.10
(Increase) / Decrease in inventories of Finished goods, 25 133.01 (9.51)
Work-in-progress and Stock-in-frade
Employee benefits expense 26 291.04 252.92
Finance costs 27 164.60 170.78
Depreciation and amortisation expense 125.81 1156.24
Other expenses 28 455.10 438.63
Total Expenses (IV) 3839.74 3437.48
V. Profit before Interest, Depreciation & Tax (PBIDT) 441.52 513.24
VI.  Profit / (Loss) before exceptional items and tax (llI-IV) 1581.11 227.22
VII.  Exceptional ltems 40 (6.06) (19.30)
VIII.  Profit / (Loss) before tax (VI+VII) 145.05 207.92
IX. Tax Expenses:
(1) Current Tax - -
(2) Deferred Tax 36.79 52.33
X.  Profit / (Loss) for the Year (VIII-IX) 108.26 1565.59
XI.  Other Comprehensive Income
[tems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss :
Re-measurement gains / (losses) on defined benefit plans 0.43 (0.96)
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (0.11) 0.24
Total Other Comprehensive Income 0.32 (0.72)
Xll.  Total Comprehensive Income for the Year (X+XI) 108.58 154.87
Xlll.  Earnings per equity share of ¥ 10 each
Basic/Diluted (%) 41 18.05 25.94
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
As per our report of even date
For LODHA & CO. LLP KAMAL KUMAR MANIK Dr. Raghupati Singhania (DIN: 00036129) Chairman
Chartered Accountants Chief Financial Officer & Company Secrefary — Arun K. Bajoria (DIN: 00026540) Director
SHYAMAL KUMAR Kalpataru Tripathy (DIN: 00865794) Director
Partner Dr. Shailendra Chauksey (DIN: 00040282) Director
'‘New Delhi, the 15th May, 2025 Shreekant Somany (DIN: 00021423) Director
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Cavendish Industries Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity (SOCE) for the year ended 31st. March, 2025

T in Crores (10 Million)

EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL

As at As ot
(1) Current reporting period 31.03.2025 31.03.2024
As at Change due Restated Change As at
01.04.2024 to prior period | Balance as at during the 31.03.2025
errors 01.04.2024 Current Year
59.97 - 59.97 - 59.97
(2) Previous reporting period
ot O sel ] o | o | | A
01.04.2023 errors 01.04.2023 Current Year 31.03.2024
59.97 - 59.97 59.97
a. Authorised:
Equity Shares - 400,00,00,000 of ¥ 10 each 4000.00 4000.00
Unclassified Shares - 100,00,00,000 of ¥ 10 each 1000.00 1000.00
5000.00 5000.00
b. Issued, Subscribed and fully Paid up:
Equity Shares - 5,99,71,273 (Previous Year: 5,99,71,273) of ¥ 10 each
Balance atf the beginning of the year 59.97 59.97
Change during the year - -
Balance at the end of the year 59.97 59.97
c. Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding:
Shares outstanding as at the beginning of the year 5,99,71,273 5,99,71,273
Change during the year -
Shares outstanding as at the end of the year 5,99,71,273 5,99.71,273
d. Details of each shareholder holding more than 5% shares:
Name of Shareholder No. of No. of
Shares held Shares held
JK Tyre & Industries Ltd. 4,44,60,965 4,44,60,965
JK Tornel S.A. De C.V. 80,00,000 80,00,000
Valiant Pacific LLC. 75,00,000 75,00,000
e. Details of shares held by the Holding Company including shares held by its Subsidiary and Associate:
JK Tyre & Industries Ltd. 4,44,60,965  4,44,60,965
JK Tornel S.A. De C.V. 80,00,000 80,00,000
Valiant Pacific LLC. 75,00,000 75,00,000
f. Rights and preferences attached to Equity Shares:

i. The Company has only one class of Equity Shares having face value of ¥ 10/- each and each shareholder is enfitled to
one vote per share.

i. Inthe event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the
Company, after distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares
held by the shareholders.

ii. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual
General Meeting, except in case of interim dividend.

g. Conditions attached with Unclassified Shares:

Unclassified shares may be classified into Equity or Preference Shares or reclassified or divided in the capital with or without
voting rights, as may be permissible in law.
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Statement of Changes in Equity (SOCE) for the year ended 31st March 2025

h. Shareholding of Promoters:

Shares held by promoters at the end of 31.03.2025

S.no. | Name of Promoter No. of Shares | % of total shares

% Change during FY 2024-25

1 JK Tyre & Industries Ltd. 4,44,60,965* 74.13

* In addition, 8000000 Equity Shares (13.34%) are also held by JK Tornel, S.A. De C.V., a subsidiary of JK Tyre & Industries Ltd.

Shares held by promoters at the end of 31.03.2024

S. No. | Name of Promoter No. of Shares % of total shares

% Change during FY 2023-24

1 JK Tyre & Industries Ltd. 4,44,60,965* 74.13

* In addition, 8000000 Equity Shares (13.34%) are also held by JK Tornel, S.A. De C.V., a subsidiary of JK Tyre & Industries Ltd.

] OTHER EQUITY % in Crores (10 Million)
(1) Current reporting period
Particulars Reserve & Surplus
Retained Earnings
Securities Surplus in P/L Other Comprehensive Total Other
Premium Statement Income* Equity
As at 1st April, 2024 789.41 115.86 (9.60) 895.67
Profit / (Loss) for the year - 108.26 - 108.26
Other comprehensive income (Net of Taxes) - - 0.32 0.32
As at 31st Mar, 2025 789.41 224.12 (9.28) 1004.25
(2) Previous reporting period
Particulars Reserve & Surplus
Retained Earnings
Securities Surplus in P/L | Other Comprehensive Total Other
Premium Statement Income* Equity
As at 1st April, 2023 789.41 (39.73) (8.88) 740.80
Profit / (Loss) for the year - 1565.59 - 1565.59
Other comprehensive income (Net of Taxes) - - (0.72) (0.72)
As at 31st Mar, 2024 789.41 115.86 (9.60) 895.67
* Represents Re-measurement Gains / (Losses) on Defined Benefit Plans.
Component of equity Nature and Purpose
Securities Premium Represents amounts received in excess of face value on issue of equity shares which may
be utilised for purposes specified u/s 52(2) of the Companies Act, 2013.
As per our report of even date
For LODHA & CO. LLP KAMAL KUMAR MANIK Dr. Raghupati Singhania (DIN: 00036129) Chairman
Chartered Accountants Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary  Arun K. Bajoria (DIN: 00026540) Director
SHYAMAL KUMAR Kalpataru Tripathy (DIN: 00865794) Director
Partner Dr. Shailendra Chauksey (DIN: 00040282) Director
‘New Delhi, the 15th May, 2025 Shreekant Somany (DIN: 00021423) Director
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Notes to Financial Statements

NOTE - 1 COMPANY OVERVIEW, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1

1.2

1.3
U}
Q)

The Company overview:

Cavendish Industries Limited (CIL) is a public limited company
incorporated and domiciled in India and its shares are not
listed on any Stock Exchanges in India. The registered office
of the company is situated at Jaykaygram, PO -Tyre Factory
Kankroli, Rajsamand- 313342, Rajasthan, India,

CIL develops, manufactures, markets and  distributes
automotive Tyres, Tubes & Flaps. The company markets its
Tyres for sale to vehicle manufacturers for fitment in original
equipment and for sale in domestic as well as overseas
markets. The company has three manufacturing plants
located in Uttarakhand.

These financial statements were approved and adopted by
board of directors of the Company in their meeting held on
15" May 2025.

Basis of preparation and measurement of financial
statements:

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) as prescribed
under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015, as
amended from time to time and other relevant provisions
of the Companies Act, 2013. All accounting policies and
applicable IND AS have been applied consistently for all
periods presented.

The functional currency of the company is Indian rupee (3).

The financial statements have been prepared under historical
cost convention on accrual basis, except for the items that
have been measured at fair value as required by relevant Ind
AS. The financial statements correspond to the classification
provisions contained in Ind AS-1 (Presentation of Financial
Statements).

The preparation of these financial statements requires
management judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of accounting policies, the accounting
disclosures made and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income, and expenses. Estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on a periodic basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimates are revised if the revision affects only
that period of revision and future periods also if the revisions
affects both current and future periods.

Material accounting policies:
Property, plant and equipment:

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.
Cost includes expenses directly affributable to bringing
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o)

(i)

Q)

o)

the asset to the locatfion and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner infended by
management.

Expenditure during construction / erection period is included
under capital work-in-progress which is allocated to the
respective property, plant and equipment on completion of
construction / erection.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (including
Continuous  Process Plants considered on technical
evaluation) has been provided using Straight line method
over their useful lives and in the manner prescribed under
Schedule Il of the Companies Act, 2013. However, in respect
of certain property, plant and equipment, depreciation
is provided as per their useful lives as assessed by the
management supported by technical advice ranging from
20 to 35 years for plant and machinery and 30 to 70 years
for buildings. Accelerated depreciation in respect of a
production accessory is provided over 6 years.

The carying amount is eliminated from the financial
statements, upon sale and disposition of the assets and the
resultant gains or losses are recognised in the statement of
profit and loss.

Lease:

The Company, as a lessee, at the inception of contract,
assesses whether the contract is a lease or not. If yes, the
contract conveys in favour of the Company, the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The right-of-use assets are initially recognized atf cost,
which comprises of the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or prior to the
commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct
costs less any lease incentives. In the Balance Sheet, Right-of-
use assets are presented under respective items of Property,
Plant and Equipment or Investment Property, as the case
may be. The lease liability is initially measured at amortized
cost at the present value of the future lease payments.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if not readily determinable, using the
incremental borowing rates of the Lessee. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
are re-measured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes
to future payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change
in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

Depreciation on Right-of-use Asset has been provided using
Straight line method over their useful lives or lease period,
whichever is lower. Inferest Expense on Lease Liabilities are



Notes to Financial Statements

provided using discount rafe used to determine Lease
Liabilities. Depreciation and Inferest expenses are recognised

in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

C) For short-term leases and leases for which, the underlying
asset value is low, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
not recognised. The lease payments associated with these

leases are recognised as expense over the lease term.

d) The Company, as a lessor, recognises lease payments from
operating leases as income on straight-line basis over the
lease term. The Company has recognised costs, including
depreciation, incurred in earning the lease income as an

expense.

(iii) Inventories:

Inventories are valued at lower of cost and net realisable
value. However, materials and other supplies held for use
in production of inventories are not written down below
cost, if the finished goods are expected to be sold at or
above cost. The cost is computed on weighted average
basis. Finished Goods, Traded Goods and Process Stock
include cost of purchase, cost of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Slow-moving and obsolete items based upon

technical evaluation are provided for.

(iv) Employee benefit:

Employee benefits include wages & salaries, provident
fund, employee state insurance scheme, gratuity fund and

compensated absences, etc.

(@) Defined-contribution plans

Contributions to the employees’ regional provident fund,
Employees’ Pension Scheme and Employees’ State Insurance
are recognised as defined conftribution plan and charged as
expenses during the period in which the employees perform

the services.

(o) Defined-benefit plans

Retirement benefits in the form of Gratuity and Leave
Encashment are considered as defined benefit plan and
determined on actuarial valuation using the Projected Unit
Credit Method at the balance sheet date. Actuarial Gains
or Losses through re-measurement of the net obligation of
a defined benefit liability or asset is recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income. Such re-measurements are not
reclassified to Statement of Profit and Loss in subsequent

periods.

(©) Short term employee benefits

Short term benefits are charged off at the undiscounted
amount in the year in which the related service is rendered.

v) Income tax:

Income tax is comprised of current and deferred tax. Income
tax expense is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss,
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(@)

(b)

(©

(vi)

(a)

except to the extent it relates to items directly recognised in
equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax: Current Tax is the amount of tax payable on the
estimated taxable income for the current year as per the
provisions of Income Tax Act, 1961.

Deferred tax: Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
unabsorbed losses and unabsorbed depreciafion to the
extent, it is probable that taxable income will be available
against which the same can be realised. Deferred tax assets
are reviewed af the end of each subsequent reporting
period.

Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) Credit: MAT credit is recognized
when there is convincing evidence that the Company will
pay normal income tax during the specified period. It is
reviewed at the end of each subsequent reporting period._

Financial Instruments:

A financial instrument is any confract that gives rise o a
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

Financial assets

Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, frade
and other receivables, investments in securities and other
eligible current and non-current assets.

At initial recognition, all financial assets are measured af
fair value. However, trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component are measured at fransaction
price. The financial assets are subsequently classified under
one of the following three categories according to the
purpose for which they are held. The classification is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period.

Financial assets at amortised cost: At the date of initial
recognition, are held to collect contractual cash flows of
principal and inferest on principal amount outstanding on
specified dates. These financial assets are infended to be
held until maturity. Therefore, they are subsequently measured
at amortised cost by applying the Effective Inferest Rate (EIR)
method fo the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
The EIR amortisation is included as interest income in the
profit or loss on time proportionate basis. The losses arising
from impairment are recognised in the profit or 1oss.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income: At the date of initial recognition, are held to collect
confractual cash flows of principal and interest on principal
amount outstanding on specified dates, as well as held for
selling. Therefore, they are subsequently measured at each
reporting date at fair value, with all fair value movements
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI). Inferest
income calculated using the effective interest rate (EIR)
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(b)

method on time proportionate basis, impairment loss or
gain and foreign exchange loss or gain are recognised in
the Statement of Profit and Loss. On derecognition of the
asset, cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income is reclassified from the OCI to
Statement of Profit and Loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: At the
date of initial recognition, financial assets are held for frading,
designated financial assets to be valued through profit or
loss or which are measured neither at Amortised Cost nor
at Fair Value through OCI. Therefore, they are subsequently
measured at each reporting date at fair value, with all fair
value movements recognised in the Statement of Profit
and Loss. Dividend income on equity shares is recognized
when the right to receive payment is established, which
becomes certain after shareholders’ approval. Interest and
dividend income as well as fair value changes are disclosed
separately in Statement of Profit & Loss.

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expires orittransfers the financial asset and the fransfer qualifies
for derecognition under Ind AS 109. Upon derecognition, the
difference between the carrying amount of a financial asset
derecognised and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in the Statement of
Profit and Loss.

The company assesses impairment based on the expected
creditlosses (ECL) model fo all its financial assets measured at
amortised cost. ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Company in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that entity expects to
receive (i.e all cash shortfalls) discounted at original effective
interest rate. Impairment loss allowance (or reversal) for the
period is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include long-term and short-term
loans and borrowings, trade and other payables and
other eligible current and non-current liabilities.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and other payables,
net of directly affributable transaction costs. After initial
recognition, financial liabilities are classified under one of
the following two categories:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost: After initial recognition,
such financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost by applying the Effective Interest Rate (EIR)
method fo the gross carrying amount of the financial liability.
The EIR amortisation is included in finance expense in the
Statement of profit and loss.
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(vii)

(viii)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: which are
designated as such on initial recognition, or which are held
for frading. Fair value gains / losses attributable to changes
in own credit risk is recognised in OCI. These gains / losses
are not subsequently tfransferred to Statement of Profit and
Loss. All other changes in fair value of such liabilities are
recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

The Company derecognises a financial liability when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a
financial liability derecognised and the sum of consideration
paid and payable is recognised in statement of profit and
loss as other income or finance costs / other expenses.

Derivative financial instruments:

Derivative instruments such as forward currency contracts,
inferest rate swaps and option contracts are used to hedge
foreign currency risks and interest rate risk. Such derivatives are
initially recognised at their fair values on the date on which
a derivative contract is entered infto and are subsequently
re-measured at fair value on each reporting date. Any gains
or losses arising fromn changes in the fair value of derivatives
are taken directly to Statement of Profit and Loss. Derivatives
are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive
and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Revenue:

Revenue is recognised upon fransfer of control of promised
Qoods or services to customers at fransaction price (net of
taxes and duties), arrived atf by determining the consideration
received or receivable affer adjusting returns, allowances,
frade discounts, volume discounts efc. in exchange of goods
or services.

For applying above principle, the Company adopfs five step
model, which are: a) Identify the contract(s) with customer(s);
b) Identify the performance obligations under the contract(s);
c) Determine the transaction price; d) Allocate the transaction
price to the performance obligations in the contract(s);
e) recognise revenue, when or as the entity safisfies a
performance obligation.

Contract Liabilities are recognised when there is an entity’s
obligation tfo fransfer goods or services to a customer for
which, the entity has received consideration from the
customer. Revenue in excess of invoicing are classified as
contfract assets.

Sale of Goods:

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point
in time, when control is fransferred to the customer.

Interest Income:

Interest income is recognized on time proportion basis using
the effective interest method.
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Dividend income:

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive
payment is established, which becomes certain after
shareholders’ approval.

(ix) Grants:

Grants and subsidies from the Government are recognised
when there is reasonable assurance that the grant / subsidy
will be received and all aftaching conditions will be complied
with. Revenue Grants are recognised in the Statement of
Profit and Loss. Capital Grants relating to specific assets are
recognised in the balance sheet by deducting the grant
from carrying amount of the asset and depreciatfion is
charged on reduced carrying value of asset.

2. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Export incentives are recognised in the Statement of Profit
and Loss.

x)
The carrying amount of Property, plant and equipment, Intangible
assets and Investment property and Investments are reviewed at
each Balance Sheet date to assess impairment if any, based on
internal / external factors. An asset is treated as impaired, when
the carying cost of asset exceeds its recoverable value, being
higher of value in use and net selling price. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the
year in which an asset is identified as impaired. The impairment loss
recognised in prior accounting period is reversed, if there has been
an improvement in recoverable amount.

Impairment:

% in Crores (10 Million)

PARTICULARS GROSS VALUE DEPRECIATION NET VALUE
As af|  Additions / Sales / As at Upto| Forthe Sales / Upto As at As ot
31.03.2024 | Adjustments | Adjusiments| 31.03.2025| 31.03.2024 Year | Adjustments| 31.03.2025 | 31.03.2025 | 31.03.2024
Land - Freehold * 388.60 388.60 - 388.60 388.60
(388.60) (388.60) (388.60)|  (388.60)
Buildings
- Owned 308.79 13.56 322.35 49.96 5.27 55.23 267.12 258.83
(271.74) (37.05) (308.79) (45.53)|  (4.43) (49.96) (258.83)|  (226.21)
- On Lease-Right of use $ 20.39 2.73 1.25 21.87 8.56 3.80 1.12 11.24 10.63 11.83
(13.91) (6.48) (20.39) (5.40)|  (3.16) (8.56) (11.83) (8.51)
Plant & Equipment:
- Owned 2732.51 68.21 20.56| 2780.16 777.84| 114.00 7.90 883.94 1896.22| 1954.67
(2554.01) (178.95) (0.45)| (2732.51) (672.40)| (105.81) (0.37) (777.84)| (1954.67)| (1881.61)
- On Lease-Right of use $ 4.63 2.20 1.29 5.54 1.72 1.54 1.29 1.97 3.57 2.91
(5.26) (2.35) (2.98) (4.63) (3.51)| (1.19) (2.98) (1.72) (2.971) (1.75)
Fumiture and Fixtures 5.65 0.12 5.77 4.75 0.47 5.22 0.55 0.90
(5.55) (0.10) (5.65) (4.29)|  (0.46) (4.75) (0.90) (1.26)
Office Equipment 2.57 0.76 3.33 0.33 0.47 0.80 2.53 2.24
(0.60) (1.97) (2.57) (0.24)|  (0.09) (0.33) (2.24) (0.36)
Vehicles 0.84 0.30 1.14 0.55 0.05 0.60 0.54 0.29
(0.84) (0.84) (0.51)|  (0.04) (0.55) (0.29) (0.33)
As at 31.03.2025 3463.98 87.88 23.10| 3528.76 843.71| 125.60 10.31 959.00| 2569.76| 2620.27
As at 31.03.2024 (3240.51) (226.90) (3.43)| (3463.98) (731.88)| (115.18) (3.39) (843.71)| (2620.27)| (2508.63)

Figures in brackets represent amounts pertaining fo previous year.

In accordance with the option given under Ind AS, the property plant and equipment as on 01.04.2015 were recognised at the carrying value of previous GAAP

as deemed cost.

The Company has not revalued any Property, Plant & Equipment during the year.

For security against borrowings- refer Note No. 15
* Refer Note No. 33
$ Refer Note no. 34
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3. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
X in Crores (10 Million)

PARTICULARS GROSS VALUE AMORTISATION NET VALUE
As af | Additions / Sales / As at Upto | For the Sales / Upto As at As at
31.03.2024 | Adjustments | Adjustments | 31.03.2025 | 31.03.2024 Year | Adjustments | 31.03.2025 | 31.03.2025 | 31.03.2024
Computer Software # 4.95 1.14 - 6.09 4.36| 0.21 - 4.57 1.52 0.59
(4.46) (0.49) - (4.95) (4.30)| (0.06) - (4.36) (0.59) (0.16)

Figures in brackets represent amounts pertaining to previous year.
# Being amortised over a period of 5 years.

< in Crores (10 Million)

As at As at
31.03.2025 31.03.2024
4.  INVESTMENTS [NON-CURRENT (OTHER THAN TRADE)]
Investment in EqQuity Shares (af fair value through P&L)
Solarithic Power SPV Pvt. Ltd. (2430000 shares @ I10/-each) 2.43 2.43
Truere UP 2 Pvt. Ltd. (24186760 shares @ X 10/-each) 2.42 -
4.85 2.43
5. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS [NON-CURRENT]
Bank deposits * 0.01 0.01
Security Deposits 13.13 13.00
13.14 13.01

*  Represent fixed deposits having maturity more than 12 months as security deposit with sales fax department X 0.01 cr. (Previous year : ¥ 0.01 cr.).

6. DEFERRED TAX ASSET / (LIABILITY) (NET)
Deferred Tax Liability related to Property, (294.56) (281.51)
Plant & Equipment
Deferred Tax Asset on:

(i) Expenses / Provision Allowable 14.97 14.38
(i) Unatosorbed Depreciation / Losses 207.91 232.35
Deferred Tax Asset / (Liability) - Net (71.68) (34.78)

7.  OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Advances - Project Related 3.49 6.19
3.49 6.19
8. INVENTORIES (Valued at lower of cost or net redlisable value)

Raw Materials* 332.16 189.87
Work-in-Progress 21.88 32.70
Finished Goods 191.04 315.48
Stock-in-trade 13.86 11.61
Stores and Spares 38.54 29.82
597.48 579.48

* Includes raw materials in fransit ¥ 148.07 crs. (Previous Year : X 56.47 crs.)

9. TRADE RECEIVABLES [CURRENT] (Unsecured)

Considered Good $ 624.87 498.46
Credit Impaired 0.29 0.29
Less : Allowance for Bad and Doubtful debts (0.29) (0.29)

624.87 498.46

$ Refer Note No. 45 for frade receivables from related parties.
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Ageing of Trade Receivables as at 31.03.2025 and 31.03.2024: % in Crores (10 Million)
Particulars Not Due as on Outstanding as on 31.03.2025 for following periods
31.03.2025 from due date of payment
Less than| 6 months| 1-2 years| 2-3 years More than TOTAL
6 months -1 year 3 years
Undisputed Trade Receivables
(i) Considered Good 416.20 175.05 22.95 1.83 1.97 3.14 621.14
(i) Credit impaired - 0.29 0.29
Disputed Trade Receivables -
(i) Considered Good - 0.03 0.01 1.11 0.45 2.13 3.73
(i) Credit impaired - -
TOTAL 416.20 175.08 22.96 2.94 2.42 5.56 625.16
Particulars Not Due as on Outstanding as on 31.03.2024 for following periods
31.03.2024 from due date of payment
Less than| 6 months| 1-2 years| 2-3 years More than TOTAL
6 months -1 year 3 years
Undisputed Trade Receivables
(i) Considered Good 394.46 92.34 2.80 2.68 1.28 2.45 496.01
(i) Credit impaired - 0.29 0.29
Disputed Trade Receivables
(i) Considered Good - - 0.07 0.3 0.61 1.47 2.45
(i) Credit impaired - - - - - - -
TOTAL 394.46 92.34 2.87 2.98 1.89 4.21 498.75
X in Crores (10 Million)
As at As at
31.03.2025 31.03.2024
10. CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS
Balances with Banks in Current Accounts 14.61 25.67
Remittances in transit and Cheques on hand 32.21 18.93
Cash on hand - -
46.82 44.60
11.  OTHER BANK BALANCES
Deposit Accounts * 28.49 70.77
28.49 70.77

* Represent DSRA 24.28 crs, deposits with Banks under lien fowards margin money against Bank Guarantees X 1.09 cr. & Letter of Credit ¥ 3.12 crs. (previous year: ¥ 64.82 crs.,
% 1.03 cr. and X 4.92 crs. respectively).

12.  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS [CURRENT]
Unsecured, Considered Good

Interest Recoverable 1.78 3.42
Advances to Employees 2.62 2.55
Derivative Instruments measured at fair value 20.17 20.30

24.57 26.27

13. CURRENT TAX ASSET / (LIABILITIES) (Net)

Current Tax Assets/ (Liabilities) (Net) 4.03 3.87
4.03 3.87
14. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Balances with Govt. Authorities 42.77 44.61
Prepaid Expenses 2.31 3.53
Advances to Suppliers 5.85 12.15
Others 0.59 0.56
51.52 60.85
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15.

16.

17.

18.

BORROWINGS [NON-CURRENT] T in Crores (10 Million)
Non-Current Current *
As at As at As at As at
31.03.2025 31.03.2024 31.03.2025 31.03.2024

SECURED LOANS
Term Loans: **

- Financial Institution 221.66 302.33 88.86 86.57
- Banks 788.35 908.94 12293 121.27
1010.01 1211.27 211.79 207.84

* Amount payable during next 12 months is included under the head “"Borrowings (Current)’(Note no. 18).
** Net of ¥ 156.19 crs. (Previous year T 16.26 crs.) for unamortised processing charges.

Notes :

Term Loans aggregating X1218.24 crs. are secured with first par passu charge on movable and immovable assets at Company’s
plants in Uttrakhand, both present & future; pledge of 51% shareholding held by the Holding Company on pari passu basis; exclusive
charge on Debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA); and second pari passu charge on all the current assets of the Company, both
present & future.

Foreign Currency Term Loan from a Financial Institution amounting to ¥311.02 crs. is repayable in 14 equal quarterly instalments;
Rupee Term Loans from Banks aggregating to I884.24 crs (out of which Rs. 123.75 crores temporarily converted into Foreign Currency
Loan) from Banks are repayable in 22 to 39 unequal quarterly instalments; Rupee term loan amounting to ¥22.98 crs. from a bank is
repayable in 34 equal quarterly instalments.

Term Loans of ¥18.75 crs. from banks are secured by subservient charge created on current assets and movable fixed assets of the
company, both present and future. Further, term loan is repayable in 3 bi-annual equal instalments.

% in Crores (10 Million)

As at As af
OTHER FINANCIAL LIABLITIES [NON-CURRENT] 31.03.2025 31.03.2024
Trade Deposits & Others 166.38 156.15
166.38 156.15
PROVISIONS [NON-CURRENT]
Provision for Employee Benefits (Refer Note No. 43) 27.21 26.84
27.21 26.84
BORROWINGS [CURRENT]
SECURED LOANS
Repayable on demand from Banks * 300.20 254.94
Current Maturities of long-term borrowings 211.79 207.84
511.99 462.78
UNSECURED LOANS
Loans From:
Banks 254.05 141.66
254.05 141.66
766.04 604.44

Represent Working Capital borrowings secured by hypothecation of current assets of the Company, both present and future with second charge created
on movable and immovable assets of its Plants at Laksar, Uttrakhand.
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19.

20.

21.

22,

TRADE PAYABLES [CURRENT]

Ageing of Trade Payables is as given hereunder:

T in Crores (10 Million)

Particulars Not Due Outstanding for following periods Total
as on from due date of payment
31.03.2025 | |ess than 1 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3
year years
(i) MSME 15.60 - - - - 15.60
(i) Others 375.64 - - - - 375.64
(iii) Disputed dues - MSME - - - - - -
(iv) Disputed dues - Others - - - - - -
SUB TOTAL 391.24 - - - - 391.24
Add: Unbilled Dues 12.34
TOTAL TRADE PAYABLES 403.58
Particulars Not Due Outstanding for following periods Total
as on from due date of payment
31.03.2024 | | egs than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years | More than 3 years
(i) MSME 21.49 - - 21.49
(i) Others 435.46 - - - 435.46
(iii) Disputed dues - MSME - - - - -
(iv) Disputed dues - Others - - - -
SUB TOTAL 456.95 - - 456.95
Add: Unbilled Dues 64.92
TOTAL TRADE PAYABLES 521.87
T in Crores (10 Million)
As at As at
31.03.2025 31.03.2024
OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES [CURRENT]
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 1.90 1.18
Liabilities for Expenses* 160.28 146.74
Derivative Instruments measured at fair value - 0.62
162.18 148.54
OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Government and Other Statutory Dues 65.55 44.93
Extended Producer Responsibility compliance obligation (EPR) 9.42 31.42
Contract Liabilities 297.48 188.27
Others 0.50 0.50
372.95 265.12
PROVISIONS [CURRENT]
Provision for Employee Benefits (Refer Note No. 43) 0.64 0.56
 0.64 056
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23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS
Sale of :-
Products

Other operating revenues:
Miscellaneous Income #

# Includes Government Incentives of ¥ 6.26 crs. (Previous year : X 3.41 crs.)

OTHER INCOME

Interest from financial Assets valued at Amortised cost
Other Interest Income

Profit on Sale of Fixed Assets (Net)

Others

(INCREASE) / DECREASE IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS,
WORK-IN-PROGRESS AND STOCK-IN-TRADE

Opening Stock

Finished Goods

Work-in-Progress

Stock-in-Trade

Closing Stock
Finished Goods
Work-in-Progress
Stock-in-Trade

Net (Increase) / Decrease in Stocks

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES
Salaries and Wages
Contribution to Provident and other Funds

Employees’ Welfare and other Benefits

FINANCE COSTS

Interest on Borrowings & Others
Interest on Lease Liabilities
Ofther Borrowing Costs

OTHER EXPENSES

Consumption of Stores and spares
Power and Fuel

Freight and Transportation

Lease Rent

Advertisement and sales promaotion
Conversion Charges

Repair & Maintenance Expenses
Insurance

Corporate Social Responsibility Expenses
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR)
Miscellaneous Expenses
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< in Crores (10 Million)

As at As at
31.03.2025 31.03.2024
3955.28 3631.21
25.96 25.90
3981.24 3657.11
3.99 5.57
5.00 1.80
0.10 -
0.52 0.22
9.61 7.59
315.48 307.59
32.70 28.88
11.61 13.81
359.79 350.28
191.03 315.48
21.89 32.70
13.86 11.61
226.78 359.79
133.01 (9.51)
239.77 204.33
14.93 14.35
36.34 34.24
291.04 252.92
160.53 168.17
1.39 1.14
2.68 1.47
164.60 170.78
42.27 41.59
156.28 161.75
139.73 132.58
2.41 2.21
0.61 0.68
2.95 3.33
18.21 13.71
5.61 5.66
0.22 0.01
27.57 20.73
59.24 56.38
455.10 438.63
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29.
30.
31.

32.

33.

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account ¥ 83.80 crs. (Previous Year: ¥ 90.27 crs.).
Contingent liabilities in respect of claims not accepted and not provided for account X 11.93 crs (Previous year: ¥ 11.93 crs).
Debt / Advances include ¥ 3.73 crs. (Previous year: ¥ 2.45 crs) for which legal and other necessary action has been
taken. In the opinion of the Management, these debts are recoverable and the same have been classified as good.
q) Ageing of Capital work in progress as on 31.03.2025 & 31.03.2024 is as follows:
< in Crores (10 Million)
Category Particulars Amount in Capital Work-in-Progress for a period of TOTAL
Less than1 | 1-2 years | 2-3 years | More than
year 3 years
As at 31.03.2025
Projects in progress 90.16 - - - 90.16
Capital work in progress ) brog
As at 31.03.2024
Projects in progress 14.42 - - - 14.42
No project were temporarily suspended by the Company during the current year and previous year.
b) There were no material projects which have exceeded their originally planned cost and completion schedule.
¢) Capital work in progress includes following pre-operative expenses pending allocation:
g in Crores (10 Million)
Particulars As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Employee Benefit Expense & Consultancy 0.18 0.43
Miscellaneous Expenses 0.73 0.82
Finance Cost 0.00 3.63
Add: Expenditure up to previous year 1.08 1.12
Sub-Total 1.99 6.00
Less: Transferred to Property, Plant and Equipment 0.96 4.92
Total 1.03 1.08
The Immovable Properties which are not held in name of the Company as on 31.03.2025 and 31.03.2024 are as given
hereunder:
< in Crores (10 Million)
Relevant line item | Description Gross Whether title deed holder Property held | Reason for not
in the Balance of item of carrying is a promoter, director or since which being held in
sheet property value relative of promoter/director date the name of
or employee of promoter/ the company
director
P . Plant &
foperty,  Plan Land * 2.32 No 31.03.2015 | Under Litigation
Equipment
*4.75 acres
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34,

Q)

o)

()

()

©)

The Company has lease contracts for buildings and plant & equipment. These are recognised as Right of use assets
and related lease liabilities in accordance with accounting policy of the Company as given in Note no. 1.3 (ii).

The movements in Right of use assets is shown in Note no. 2, Property, Plant & Equipment.

The movement in lease liabilities included in Other Financial Liabilities during the year is as follows:

% in Crores (10 Million)

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024
As af beginning of the year 16.00 11.46
Additions 4.93 8.83
Accretion of Interest 1.39 1.14
Less: Payments (6.38) (6.43)
Less: Leases Terminated (0.13) -
Balance at the end of the year 15.81 16.00
Current 5.23 4.59
Non-current 10.58 11.41

The amounts recognised in profit and loss during the year:

T in Crores (10 Million)

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024
Depreciation expenses of right of use assets 5.34 4,35
Interest expense on Lease liabilities 1.39 1.14
Lease Rent recognised as expenses for short term leases 0.34 0.16
Lease Rent recognised as expenses for low value asset leases 2.07 2.05

9.14 7.70

Cash outflows in regard to Lease contracts, as Lessee:

< in Crores (10 Million)

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024
Operating activities
Short term / low value assets Lease payments 2.41 2.21
Financing activities
Repayment of Principal portion of Lease Liabilities 4.99 4,29
Repayment of Interest portion of Lease Liabilities 1.39 1.14

The contractual maturities of lease liabilities as at 31st March, 2025 and 31st March, 2024 on undiscounted basis are

given below: < in Crores (10 Million)
Particulars As ot As ot
31.03.2025 31.03.2024

Not later than one year 6.26 5.77
Later than one year and not later than five years 11.47 12.80
Later than five years 0.00 0.03
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35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

40A.

The details of amounts outstanding under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 to the extent
of information available with the Company are as under:

(i) Principal & Interest amount due and remaining unpaid as at 31.03.2025: Nil (Previous year: Nil), (i) Payment made
beyond the appointed day during the year: Nil (Previous year: Nil) and (iii) Interest Accrued and unpaid as at 31.03.2025:
Nil (Previous year: Nil).

a. The Company has borrowings from Banks and Financial Institutions on the basis of securities of Current Assets. It has
also filed the quarterly statements of current assets with all consortium banks and Financial Institutions during the year
and these statements agree with salient relevant items of books of account of the Company.

b. The Company has utilised the borrowings received from Banks and Financial Institution for the purpose for which it
was taken during the year.

Expenditure on Research and Development (R&D) activities during the year: < in Crores (10 Million)

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024
i) Revenue Expenditure*:

1. Employee Cost 0.19 0.20

2. Cost of Materials and Testing Charges 1.01 1.52

Subtotal (i) 1.20 1.72

ii) Capital Expenditure - -

Total (i+ii) 1.20 1.72

* Included in respective revenue accounts.

The amount required to be spent under Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 for the year ended 31st March 2025
is ¥ 0.21 crs (31st March 2024: Nil.) i.e. 2% of average net profits for last three financial years, calculated as per Section
198 of the Companies Act, 2013. The Company has spent T 0.22 crs (Previous year: ¥ 0.01 crs). on Corporate Social
Responsibility during the year.

Amount paid to Auditors: < in Crores (10 Million)
Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024
i) Statutory Auditors
a)  Audit Fee 0.12 0.12
b) Taxation 0.01 0.01
c) Certificates / Other Services 0.02 0.05
d) Reimbursement of expenses: I 199236 (Previous Year: ¥ 80064)

ii) Cost Auditors
Q)  Audit Fee 0.01 0.01
b) Certification / other services: ¥ 2750 (Previous Year: ¥ 3050)

Exceptional items include unfavorable Foreign Exchange Rate fluctuation ¥ 6.06 crs. (Previous Year: ¥ 8.62 crs.) and
Extended Producer Responsibility of ¥ Nil (Previous Year: ¥ 10.68 Crores).

The Board of Directors of the Company on 16th September 2024 has approved the ‘Scheme of Amalgamation’ with
JK Tyre & Industries Lid., a Holding Company. The Appointed Date of the Scheme is Tst April, 2025 and the Scheme is
subject to customary regulatory, shareholders, creditors and NCLT approvals.
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41. Earnings Per Share (EPS) g in Crores (10 Million)
Particulars 2024-2025| 2023-2024
a. Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to Equity shareholders 108.26 1556.59
b. Weighted average number of Equity Shares for Basic/Diluted EPS 59971273| 59971273
c. Eamings per share of ¥ 10 each
- Basic / Diluted (%) 18.05 25.94
42. FINANCIAL RATIOS:
Sl. Description Units |2024-25|2023-24 | Change in | Explanation
No. Ratio (%) note
Current Ratio Times 0.92 0.96 -4.28
1 | Cumrent Assets / (Current Liabilities excluding
current maturities of Long-Term Borrowings)
5 Debt-Equity Ratio Times 1.67 1.90 -12.16
(Total Debt / Equity)
Debt Service Coverage Ratio Times 1.12 1.35 -17.54
3 |(Eamings before Interest, Depreciation and
Tox / (Inferest + Principal repayments)
4 Return on Equity Ratio % 10.72 17.72 -39.50 Refer A
(Net Profits / Average Equity)
Inventory turnover ratio Times 6.77 6.53 3.60
5 | (Revenue from Operations / Average
Inventory)
Trade Receivables tumnover ratio Times 7.09 7.44 -4.73
6 | (Revenue from Operations / Average
Accounts Receivables)
7 Trade payables furnover ratio Times 6.19 4.75 30.15 Refer B
(Purchases / Average Trade Payables)
8 Net capital furnover ratio Times -32.89 | -69.03 -52.35 Refer C
(Revenue from Operations / Working Capital)
9 Net profit ratio % 2.71 4,25 -36.11 Refer A
(Net Profit / Total Income)
Return on Capital employed % 11.27 14.58 -22.70
10 | (Earnings before interest and taxes / Average
Capital Employed)
Return on investment % 6.49 6.66 -2.50
11 |(Income on Investment / Average Investments
in Fixed Deposits)

Note A : Lower Profitability led to reduction in return on equity and net profit ratio.
B : Reduction in average frade payable led to better Trade Payable Tumover Ratio.
C : Betfter working capital management.
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43. The disclosures required under Ind AS 19 “Employee Benefits” notified in the Companies (Indian Accounting
Standards) Rules, 2015 are as given below:

T in Crores (10 Million)
(a) Defined Benefit Plan

(M

Particulars Leave Encashment Gratuity
(Non-Funded) (Funded)
2024-2025 | 2023-2024 | 2024-2025| 2023-2024
1 Change in the Present Value of Obligation
1 Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation at the beginning of the year 10.74 9.21 39.87 34.33
2 | Curent Service Cost 1.61 1.49 3.15 2.88
3 | Inferest Cost 0.70 0.64 2.72 2.47
4 | Acquisitions (Credit) /cost - - - -
5 |Re-measurement (or actuarial) (gain) / loss arising from:
- change in financial assumptions - - 1.21 1.71
- experience variance (i.e. actual experience vs assumptions) 0.20 0.15 (1.51) (0.43)
6 | Past Service Cost - - - -
7 | Benefits Paid (1.46) (0.75) (2.11) (1.09)
8 | Present Value of Obligation as atf the end 11.79 10.74 43.33 39.87
Il | Change in the Fair Value of Plan Assets
1 Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year - - 23.59 19.13
2 | Acquisitions adjustment / fransfer - - - -
3 | Investment Income - - 1.72 1.49
4 Employer’s Contribution - - 4.11 3.59
5 | Benefits Paid - - (2.11) (1.09)
6 | Return on plan assets, excluding amount recognised in net inferest expense - - 0.33 0.47
7 | Fair value of plan assets as at the end - - 27.64 23.59
Il | Expenses recognised in the Statement of Profit & Loss Account *
1 Current Service Cost 1.61 1.49 3.15 2.88
2 | Past Service cost - - - -
3 | Net Interest income / (cost) on the Net Defined Benefit Liability / (Asset) 0.70 0.64 1.00 0.98
4 | Expenses recognised in the income statement 2.31 2.13 4.15 3.86
IV | Other Comprehensive Income
1 | Actuarial (Gains) / Losses:
- change in financial assumptions 0.31 0.41 1.21 1.71
- experience variance (i.e. actual experience vs assumptions) (0.11) (0.26) (1.51) (0.43)
2 | Retumn on plan assets, excluding amount recognised in net interest expense - -
(0.33) (0.47)
3 | Components of defined benefit costs recognised in other comprehensive
income 0.20 0.15 (0.63) 0.81
V | Actuarial Assumptions: -
1 Discount Rate 6.80% 7.00% 6.80% 7.00%
2 | Expected rate of return on plan assets - - 7.00% 7.00%
3 | Mortality Indian Assured Lives Mortality (2006-08) Ultimate
4 | Salary Escalation 5.00% | 5.00% | 5.00% | 5.00%

* Included under the head Employee Benefits Expense - Refer Note 26.
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(i) % in Crores (10 Million)

Particulars Leave Encashment Gratuity
2024-25| 2023-24| 2022-23 | 2021-22 | 2020-21| 2024-25| 2023-24| 2022-23 | 2021-22 | 2020-21
Present Value of Defined 11.79 10.74 9.21 8.41 7.79 43.33 39.87 34.33 30.30 26.05

Benefit Obligation
Fair Value of Plan Assets - - - - 27.64 23.59 19.13 17.01 14.62
Surplus / (Deficit) (1.79)| (10.74) (9.21) (8.41) (7.79)| (15.69)| (16.28)| (15.20)| (13.29)| (11.43)

Experience adjustment on (0.11) (0.26) (0.45) 0.29 (0.29) (1.51) (0.43) (0.16) 470  (0.45)
Plan Liabilities (Gain) / Loss
Experience adjustment on - - - - - (0.33) (0.47) 0.68 0.11 (0.28)

Plan Assets (Gain) / Loss

(i) Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably possible changes at the year end, to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions
as constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation as the amount shown below:

% in Crores (10 Million)

Particulars Leave Encashment Gratuity

31st March 2025 31st March 2024 31st March 2025 31st March 2024

Decrease |Increase | Decrease| Increase| Decrease|Increase| Decrease| Increase

Discount Rate (- / + 1%) 13.48 10.36 12.30 9.44 50.06| 37.67 46.27 34.52

Salary Growth Rate (- / + 1%) 10.33 13.50 9.40 12.31 37.54| 50.11 34.39 46.32

Aftrition Rate (- / + 1%) 11.67 12.03 10.62 11.00 42.85 44.29 39.35 40.95

Mortality Rate (- / + 10% of 11.78 11.80 10.73 10.75 43.30| 43.36 39.83 39.90
mortality rates)

(iv)  The expected retumn on plan assets is determined considering several applicable factors mainly the composition of the
plan assets held, assessed risks of assets management, historical results of return on plan assets and the policy for plan
assets management.

(v)  The estimates of future salary increase, considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, promotion
and other relevant factors, such as supply and demand in the employment market.

(vi)  Maturity Profile of Defined Benefit Obligation: g in Crores (10 Million)
Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024
Leave Encashment Gratuity Leave Encashment Gratuity
Within next 1 Year 0.27 0.54 0.19 0.68
Between 2 - 5 Years 1.92 4.24 1.67 3.59
Between 6 - 10 Years 4.71 12.36 4.89 11.51
More than 10 Years 44.98 130.71 40.22 115.58

(b) Defined Contribution Plans -

Employer’s Confributions to Provident and other Funds charged off during the 12 months ended 31st March, 2025 of
% 10.79 crs. (Previous Year: ¥ 10.49 crs.) has been included under the head Employee Benefits Expense. (Refer Note 26)
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44, REVENUE RECOGNISED UNDER CONTRACTS

(@) The disaggregation of revenue earned under confracts as per Ind AS-115 is as follows:

T in Crores (10 Million)

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024

Category-wise:

Revenue recognised at the point of time:

Tyres, Tubes & Flaps 3911.84 3593.66

Other goods 43.44 37.55
3955.28 3631.21

Geography-wise

Within India 3595.62 3309.87

Outside India 359.66 321.34
3955.28 3631.21

(b) Revenue-related receivables and confract liabilities af the year-end:

< in Crores (10 Million)

Particulars

As at 31.03.2025

As at 31.03.2024

Trade receivables (refer note 9)
Contract liabilities (refer note 21)

624.87
297.48

498.46
188.27

(c) Reconciling the amount of revenue recognised during the year in the statement of profit and loss with the confracted

% in Crores (10 Million)

price:
Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024
Revenue as per contracted price 4118.19 3830.77
Reductions towards variable consideration components* (162.91) (199.56)
Revenue from contracts with customers 3955.28 3631.21

* The reduction towards variable consideration comprises of discounts, claims against obligations, etc.

(d)  Impairment in Trade Receivables are disclosed as ‘Allowance for Bad and Doubtful debts’ amounting ¥ 0.29 cr. (Previous

year: ¥ 0.29 cr.).

45, Related Parties
a) Ultimate Holding Company:
Bengal & Assam Company Lid [upfo 22" Dec’2023]
Holding Company:
JK Tyre & Industries Ltd. (JKTIL)

b) i) Fellow Subsidiaries of the Holding Company (with which, the Company has transactions):

J.K. Fenner (India) Ltd. (JKFIL) [upto 22nd Dec'2023]

ii) Fellow Subsidiaries of the Company (with which, the Company has transactions)

Compania Hulera Tomnel, S.A. de C.V. (CHT)
Treel Mobility Solutions Pvt Ltd (Treel-S)(w.e.f.19™ Felb'25)

c) Associates (with which, the Company has transactions):

Hari Shankar Singhania Elastomer and Tyre Research Institute (HASETRI)

JK Lakshmi Cement Ltd. [upto 22nd Dec'2023]
Treel Mobility Solufions Pvt Ltd (Treel) (Till 18™ Felb'25)
Valiant Pacific LLC. (VPL)

Western Tires Inc (WTI)
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d) Key Management Personnel (KMP) (with which, the Company has transactions):

0] Dr. Raghupati Singhania Chairman

(i) Shri Kalpataru Tripathy Director

(iii) Dr. Prakash Vishnu Bhide Director [Tenure completed on 11" April’2024]

(iv) Smit. Shwetambara Shardul Shroff Chopra Director

V) Shri Arun Kumar Bajoria Whole-Time Director

(vi) Shri Kamal Kumar Manik Company Secretary & Chief Financial Officer

(vii) Shri Ashok Kumar Kinra Non-Executive Director of BACL [upto 22 Dec'2023]
(viii) Dr. Shailendra Chouksey Director (w.e.f.12th Apr'2024)

(ix) Shri Shrikant Somany Director (w.e.f.26th Nov'2024)

(x) Shri Anuj Kathuria Director [Tenure from 16"May 24 to 14™ Felb’'2025]

e) Post- Employment benefit plan Entity:

CIL Employees Gratuity Fund (CIL-EGF)
f) Other Related Parties (With which the Company has transactions):

(i) Bengal & Assam Company Ltd (BACL-(O)) - Investor having significant influence
(i) J.K. Fenner (India) Ltd. (JKFIL-(O))-Subsidiary of BACL [w.e.f. 23 Dec'2023]
. The following transactions were carried out with related parties in the ordinary course of business and on arm'’s length

basis:
g in Crores (10 Million)
Holding Fellow Associates | Other TOTAL
Nature of Transactions Company | Subsidiaries Related
Parties

Sale of good to JKTIL, CHT-81.80,VPL-78.55, & WTI-31.78 1001.67 81.80 110.33 - 1193.80
Sale of good to JKTIL, CHT-126.51,VPL-48.88, & WTI-31.94 (837.59) (126.51) (80.82) -l (1044.92)
Sale of Capital items to JKTIL 9.26 - - - 9.26
Sale of Capital items to JKTIL (0.07) - - - (0.07)
Purchase of Goods from JKTIL 112.09 - - 112.09
Purchase of Goods from JKTIL, JKFIL & JKLC (183.90) (0.01) (0.14) (0.02) (184.07)
Purchase of Capital items from JKTIL 0.13 - - 0.13
Purchase of Capital items from JKTIL (1.62) - - - (1.62)
Services availed from JKTIL, HASETRI-0.28, JKFIL (O)-0.08, BACL-(O) - 0.91 57.11 - 0.28 0.99 58.38
Services availed from JKTIL, HASETRI-0.30,JKFIL (O)-0.14 (58.88) - (0.30) (0.14) (659.32)
Sharing of expenses paid to JKTIL & TREEL (X 33800) 0.02 - - 0.02
Sharing of expenses paid to JKTIL & TREEL (X 32600) (0.01) - - - (0.01)
Contribution to CIL-EGF - - - 3.52 3.52
Contribution to CIL-EGF - - - (4.67) (4.67)
Outstanding as at year end:
Receivable:
CHT-63.56, VPL-73.25 & WTI -18.56 - 63.56 91.81 - 155.37
CHT-44.68, VPL-27.19 & WII -8.45 - (44.68) (35.64) - (80.32)
Payable:
JKTIL - 347.52, CIL-EGF - 15.68, BACL-(O) - 0.19 347.52 - - 15.87 363.39
JKTIL - 305.01, CIL-EGF — 16.28,JKFIL (O) — 0.02 (305.01) - - (16.30) (321.31)

Note: Figures in brackets represent amounts pertaining to previous year.
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Il. Transactions with KMP:

2024-25 2023-24
Short-term employee benefits T0.12cr. 0.08 cr.
Other payments 0.00 cr. 0.10 cr.

46. Income Tax:

(A) Amounts recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss

% In Crores (10 Million)

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024

Current Tax -

Deferred Tax:

Relating fo origination and reversal of temporary differences 36.79 52.33

Total Deferred Tax 36.79 52.33

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss 36.79 52.33
(B) Income Tax recognized in other comprehensive Income

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024

Deferred tax on Re-measurement losses on defined benefit plans 0.11 (0.24)

Total 0.11 (0.24)
(C) Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Particulars 2024-2025 2023-2024

Accounting profit / (Loss) before income tax 145.05 207.92

At applicable Statutory Income Tax Rate @ 25.168% 36.79 52.33

Others -

Income tax Expense 36.79 52.33

Effective Tax Rate 25.36% 25.17%
(D) Reconciliation of Deferred Tax (Assets) / Liabilities (Net)

Particulars As at As at

31.03.2025 31.03.2024

Opening Balance 34.78 (17.37)

Deferred Tax (asset) / expense recognized in:

Statement of profit and loss 36.79 52.33

Other comprehensive income 0.11 (0.24)

Deferred Tax Liabilities/ (Assets) (Net) 71.68 34.78

47. Other statutory Information:

Q. The Company does not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against
the Company for holding any Benami property.

b. The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any Banks or any other Financial Institution at any fime
during the financial year.

C. The Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of use assets) or intangible assets
during the year.

d. The Company did not have any material ransactions with companies struck-off under section 248 of the companies
Act,2013 or section 560 of the companies Act, 1956 during the financial year.
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48.

e. The Company has not traded or invested in Crypto Currency or Virtual Currency during the year.

f. The Company does not have any charges or safisfaction, which is yet to be reqistered with Registrar of Companies
(ROC) beyond the statutory period.

g During the year, the Company has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies),
including foreign entities (Intermediaries) with the understanding that the Intermediary shall:

° directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on
behalf of the company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

° provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

h. The Company has not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party)
with the understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Company shall:

° directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on
behalf of the Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

° provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries

i. The Company has no such transactions which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered
or disclosed as income during the year in tax assessments under Income Tax Act, 1961.

j. The Company has not made any Loans or Advances to any promoters, directors, KMPs and the related parties (as
defined under the Companies Act, 2013), either severally or jointly with any other person, that are:

° repayable on demand; or

o without specifying any terms or period of repayment.
Fair Values:
Set out below, is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the financial instruments of the
company:

T In Crores (10 Million)

Particulars As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Carrying Fair Value Carrying Fair Value
Amount Amount
(i) Financial Assets
(a) At Fair Value through Profit & Loss
- Investments 4.85 4.85 2.43 2.43
- Others 20.17 20.17 20.30 20.30
(b) At Amortised Cost
- Trade receivables 624.87 624.87 498.46 498.46
- Others 92.85 92.85 134.35 134.35
Total 742.74 742.74 655.54 655.54
(i) Financial Liabilities
(a) At Fair Value through Profit & Loss - - 0.62 0.62
(b) At Amortised Cost
- Borrowings 1776.05 1776.05 1815.71 18156.71
- Trade payables 403.58 403.58 521.87 521.87
- Others 344.37 344.37 320.07 320.07
Total 2524.00 2524.00 2658.27 2658.27
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The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

1.

49.

Cash and short-term deposits, frade receivables, loans, frade payables, and other current financial assets and liabilities
approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

Other non-current receivables are evaluated by the Company, based on parameters such as interest rates, individual
creditworthiness of the counterparty etc. Based on this evaluation, allowances are considered to account for the
expected losses of these receivables. As at end of each reporting year, the carrying amounts of such receivables, net
of allowances (if any), are not materially different from their calculated fair values.

Fair value of borrowings from banks and other non-current financial liabilities, are estimated by discounting future cash
flows using rates currently available for debt on similar ferms and remaining maturities.

The fair values of derivatives are calculated using the RBI reference rate as on the reporting date as well as other variable
parameters.

Fair Value Hierarchy:

All financial assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows: -

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets.
Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

The following table presents the fair value measurement hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities, which have been
measured, subsequent to initial recognition, at fair value as af 31st March,2025 and 31¢March 2024:

3 In Crores (10 Million)

Particulars Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
31st March, 2025
Financial Assets

- Unquoted Shares - - 4.85
- Option Contracts - 20.09 -
- Forward Contracts - 0.08 -

Financial Liability
- Forward Contracts - - R
31st March, 2024
Financial Assets

- Unquoted Shares - - 2.43
- Option Contracts - 20.30 -
Financial Liability

- Forward Contracts - 0.62 -

There has been no transfer among levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year ended 31 March, 2025.
Financial Risk Management objectives and policies:

The Company’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks from its operations. The key financial risks include
market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

° Market Risk: Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises mainly three types of risk: interest rate risk, curency
risk and other price risk such as commodity price risk.
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° Foreign Currency Risk: Foreign Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The company has obtained foreign currency borrowings
and has foreign currency trade payables and receivables and is therefore, exposed to foreign exchange risk.

After taking cognisance of the natural hedge, the company takes appropriate hedges to mitigate its risk resulting from
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rate(s).

Foreign Currency Sensitivity: The following table demonstrates the sensitivity 1o a reasonably possible change in USD with
all other variables held constant. The impact on company’s profit before tax is due to changes in the foreign exchange
rate is as follows:

% In crores (10 Million)

Particulars As at 31.03.2025 As af 31.03.2024
Change in USD +31.00 +31.00
Effect on profit before tax (1.06) (0.90)
Change in USD -3 1.00 -¥1.00
Effect on profit before tax 1.06 0.90

Option Contracts for hedging Payables ¥ 266.59 crs. - US $ 31.15 Million (Previous year: ¥ 346.28 crs. - US $
41.53 million) and Forward Contracts for hedging Payables ¥ 123.78 crs. - US $ 14.46 Million (Previous year: %
142.22 crs. - US § 17.06 Million) is outstanding as at 31.03.2025.

Foreign currency exposure unhedged net payable is T 90.63 crs. — US $ 10.59 Million (Previous year: I 74.79
crs. — US $ 8.97 Million) as at 31.03.2025.

° Interest rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Any changes in the interest rates environment
may impact future rates of borrowing. The Company mitigates this risk by regularly assessing the market
scenario, finding appropriate financial instruments, interest rate negotiations with the lenders for ensuring the
cost effective method of financing.

Interest Rate Sensitivity: The following table demonstrates the sensitivity 1o a reasonably possible change in interest rates
on financial assets affected. With all other variables held constant, the company’s profit before tax is affected through
the impact on finance cost with respect to our borrowing, as follows:

% In crores (10 Million)

Particulars As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Change in basis points + 25 + 25
Effect on profit before tax (4.44) (4.54)
Change in basis points - 25 -25
Effect on profit before tax 4.44 4,54

The assumed movement in basis points for the interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market
environment.
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Commodity price risk: The Company is affected by the price voldtility of cerfain commaodities. Its operating
activities require the purchase of raw material and manufacturing of tyres, and therefore, require a continuous
supply of certain raw materials such as natural rubber, synthetic rubber, carbon black, fabric, bead wire, rubber
chemicals etc. To mitigate the commodity price risk, the Company has an approved supplier base to get best
competitive prices for the commodities and to assess the market to manage the cost without any compromise
on quality.

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that counter party might not honor its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer confract, leading to a financial loss. The company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities
(primarily tfrade receivables).

Trade Receivables: Customer credit risk is managed based on company’s established policy, procedures and
controls. The company assesses the credit quality of the counterparties, taking into account their financial position,
past experience and other factors.

Credit risk is reduced by receiving deposits, pre-payments and export letter of credit to the extent possible. The
Company has a well-defined sales policy to minimize its risk of credit defaults. Outstanding customer receivables
are regularly monitored and assessed. Impairment analysis is performed based on historical data at each reporting
date on an individual basis. However, a large number of minor receivables are grouped into homogenous groups
and assessed for impairment collectively.

Credit Risk Exposure: The allowance for expected credit loss on customer balances for the year ended March 31,
2025 and March 31, 2024:

g in crores (10 Million)

Particulars As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024

Balance at the beginning 0.29 0.29

Add: Provision created during the Year - -

Balance at the End 0.29 0.29

Deposits with Bank: The deposits with banks constitute mostly the liquid investment of the company
and are generally not exposed to credit risk.

Liquidity Risk: Liquidity risk is the risk where the company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are seftled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The
company’s approach is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilites when due.
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The table below summarises the maturity profile of company’s financial liabilities based on contractual payments:

< in crores (10 Million)

Particulars Upto 5 years > 5 years
As at 31 March 2025

Borrowings* 1502.58 273.47
Trade and Other Payables 403.58 -
Lease Liabilities 15.81 -
Other financial liabilities 162.18 166.38
Total 2084.15 439.85
As at 315 March 2024

Borrowings* 1424.29 391.42
Trade and Other Payables 521.87 -
Lease Liabilities 15.97 0.03
Ofther financial liabilities 148.54 156.15
Total 2110.67 547.60

*Including working capital facility from consortium banks renewed every year.

50. Capital Management: The Company’s policy is fo maintain an adequate capital base so as to maintain creditor and
market confidence and to sustain future development. Capital includes issued capital, share premium and all other
equity reserves attributable to equity holders. In order to strengthen the capital base, the company may use appropriate
means 1o enhance or reduce capital, as the case may be.

The company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net Debt

is calculated as borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. < in crores (10 Million)
Particulars As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Borrowings 1776.05 1815.71
Less: Cash and Cash equivalents 46.82 44.60
Net debt 1729.23 1771.11
Equity Share Capital 59.97 59.97
Other Equity 1004.25 895.67
Total Capital 1064.22 955.64
Capital and net debt 2793.45 2726.75
Gearing ratio 61.90% 64.95%

51. The company has only one operating segment namely, ‘Tyre’. Revenue from one customer of the Company is ¥ 1001.67
crs. (2023-24: X 837.59 crs.), which is more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue.

52.  Figures less than ¥ 50,000 have been shown at actual in brackets.

53. Previous year figures have been reclassified / regrouped wherever necessary.

As per our report of even date

For LODHA & CO. LLP KAMAL KUMAR MANIK Dr. Raghupati Singhania (DIN: 00036129) Chairman
Chartered Accountants Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary Arun K. Bajoria (DIN: 00026540) Director
SHYAMAL KUMAR Kalpataru Tripathy (DIN: 00865794) Director
Partner Dr. Shailendra Chauksey (DIN: 00040282) Director
‘New Delnhi, the 15th May, 2025 Shreekant Somany (DIN: 00021423) Director
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Cavendish Industries Limited

Cash Flow Statement For Te Year Enpep 31st March 2025
% in Crores (10 Million)

2024-2025 2023-2024
A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net profit before tax and extraordinary items 145.05 207.92
Adjustment for:
Depreciation and Amortisation expense 125.81 115.24
Finance Costs 164.60 170.78
(Profit) / Loss on sale of Property, Plant & Equipment (0.10) -
Unredlised Foreign Exchange Fluctuation (14.08) (14.89)
Interest Received (8.99) 7.37
Operating Profit before working capital changes 412.29 471.68
(Increase) / Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables (113.58) (28.91)
(Increase) / Decrease in Inventories (18.00) (38.94)
Increase / (Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables 12.79 63.91
Cash generated from Operations 293.50 467.74
Direct taxes (Net) (0.16) 1.98
Net Cash from Operating activities 293.34 469.72
B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment (156.74) (149.96)
Sale of Property, Plant & Equipment 12.76 0.08
Deposit Accounts with Banks 42.28 2.78
Investment Purchase (2.42) (2.43)
Interest Received 10.63 6.04
Net Cash used in Investing activities (93.49) (143.49
C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds / (Utilisation) from Short-term borrowings (net) 159.09 (11.93)
Proceeds from Long-term borowings 42.02 77.37
Repayment of Long-term borowings (230.95) (208.38)
Payment of Lease Liabilities (4.99) (4.29)
Finance Costs paid (162.80) (168.78)
Net Cash from / (used) in Financing activities (197.63) (316.01)
Net increase / (decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2.22 10.22
Cash and Cash Equivalents as at the beginning of the year 44.60 34.38
Foreign Currency Translation gain / (loss) on Cash and Cash Equivalents - -
Cash and Cash Equivalents as at the end of the year 46.82 44.60
Notes:
(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents Include:
- Cash, Cheques on hand and Remittances in transit 32.21 18.93
- Balances with Banks 14.61 25.67
- Unrealised Translation gain / (loss) on Foreign Currency balances - -
Total 46.82 44.60
(i) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:
Particulars 31.03.2024 CASH FLOWS NON CASH CHANGES 31.03.2025
FOREIGN EXCHANGE MOVEMENT |  Others
LONG TERM BORROWINGS 1,419.11 (188.93) (9.46) 1.08| 1,221.80
1,564.11 (131.01) (16.14) 2151 1,419.11
SHORT TERM BORROWINGS 396.60 159.09 (1.44) - 554.25
408.32 (11.93) 0.21 - 396.60
LEASE LIABILITIES 16.00 (4.99) - 4.80 15.81
11.46 (4.29) - 8.83 16.00
TOTAL LIABILITIES FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,831.71 (34.83) (10.90) 5.88| 1,791.86
1,983.89 (147.23) (15.93) 10.98 1,831.71
Figures in Italics represent amounts pertaining to previous year.
As per our report of even date
For LODHA & CO. LLP KAMAL KUMAR MANIK Dr. Raghupati Singhania (DIN: 00036129) Chairman
Chartered Accountants Chief Financial Officer & Company Secrefary — Arun K. Bajoria (DIN: 00026540) Director
SHYAMAL KUMAR Kalpataru Tripathy (DIN: 00865794) Director
Partner Dr. Shailendra Chauksey (DIN: 00040282) Director
'‘New Delhi, the 15th May, 2025 Shreekant Somany (DIN: 00021423) Director
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3.1

(d) Certificate dated September 16, 2024 issued by M/s. S. S. Kothari Mehta & Co.
LLP, Chartered Accountants {ICAl Firm Registration No. 000765N/N500441),
the Statutory Auditors of the Company, confirming the accounting treatment
stated in the scheme is in compliance with the accounting standards prescribed
under Section 133 of the Act and other generally accepted accounting

principles;
(e) Report dated September 16, 2024 of the Audit Committee of the Company; and

(f) Report dated September 16, 2024 of the Committee of Independent Directors
of the Company.

Need for the amalgamation and rationale of the Scheme

The Transferor Company and the Transferee Company, both, are engaged in the
similar line of business. Taking into consideration the similar line of business and
growth prospects available, it is proposed to undertake the amalgamation. This
amalgamation will inter alia result in all the businesses being housed in one listed

company with the following benefits:

(a) economies of scale, operational synergies & efficiencies at multiple levels of
business operations;

(b) optimisation in administrative, managerial and other overheads;
(c)  reduction in interest cost;

{d)  pooling of resources for faster growth;

(e) ease of doing business;

(f) comprehensive products offering, availability of combined sales and
distribution network;

(g) improved customer satisfaction;
(h)  significant reduction in multiplicity of legal and regulatory compliances; and
(i) improved investor perception and enhanced shareholders’ value.

The Scheme is in the interest of the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company
and their respective stakeholders.

Share Exchange Ratio Report

The share exchange ratio for issue of consideration pursuant to the Scheme is
summarized as follows:

99



L H€rvee

3.2
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4.2
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4.4

5.1

Upon the Scheme coming into effect and in consideration of the amalgamation of the
Transferor Company with the Company, the Company shall, without any further
application, act, deed, consent, acts, instrument or deed, issue and allot, on a
proportionate basis to each shareholder of the Transferor Company, whose name is
recorded in the register of members as member of the Transferor Company as on the
Record Date (as defined in the Scheme), as under:

92 (Ninety Two) fully paid up equity shares of INR 2 (Indian Rupees Two) each of the
Transferee Company, credited as fully paid up, for every 100 (One Hundred) equity
shares of INR 10 (Indian Rupees Ten) each of the Transferor Company.

The Share Exchange Ratio Report and the Fairness Opinion have been duly considered
by the Board, and the Board has come to the conclusion that share exchange ratio
specified in the Scheme is fair and reasonable.

The Transferee Company New Equity Shares (as defined in the Scheme) shall be
subject to the provisions of the memorandum of association and articles of
association of the Company, as the case may be, and shall rank pari passu in all
respects with any existing equity shares of the Company, as the case may be, after the
Effective Date including with respect to dividend, bonus, right shares, voting rights
and other corporate benefits attached to the equity shares of the Company.

No special valuation difficulties were reported.

Effect of the Scheme on the equity shareholders (promoter and non-promoter) of
the Company

In consideration of the amalgamation of the Transferor Company with the Company,
the Company shall, issue and allot, equity shares to each shareholder of the Transferor
Company, whose name is recorded in the register of members as member of the
Transferor Company as on the Record Date (as defined in the Scheme). Further, no
equity shares shall be issued by the Company in respect of the shares, if any, held by
the Company and/or its subsidiary(s) in the Transferor Company, and all such shares
shall stand cancelled upon the Scheme becoming effective.

The rights and interests of the shareholders of the Company will not be prejudicially

affected by the Scheme.

Upon the Scheme becoming effective, the Transferor Company shall be dissolved
without being wound up and the shareholders of the Transferor Company shall

become shareholders of the Company.

Upon the effectiveness of the Scheme and subject to receipt of regulatory approvals,
the equity shares of the Company issued as consideration pursuant to the Scheme,
shall be listed on BSE Limited and the National Stock Exchange of India Limited.

Effect of the Scheme on the Key Managerial Personnel (“KMP”) of the Company

There shall be no effect of the Scheme on the KMPs of the Company, pursuant to the
Scheme.
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5.2 Further none of the KMPs of the Company have any interest in the Scheme except to
the extent of the equity shares held by them, if any, in the Company.

In the opinion of the Board, Scheme will be of advantage and beneficial to the Company, its
shareholders and other stakeholders.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Eor and on Behalf of
JK Tyre& Industries Limited

el

Name: Dr. Raghui)ati Siﬁghénia
Chairman |
DIN: 00036129

Place: New Delhi
Date: September 16, 2024
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Annexure 11

01 NSE NNIftyEO
Ref: NSE/LIST/44459 April 02, 2025

The Company Secretary
JK Tyre & Industries Limited
Kind Attn.: Mr. Kamal Manik

Dear Sir,

Sub: Observation Letter for draft scheme of arrangement between Cavendish Industries Limited
(“ClIL/Transferor Company”) and JK Tyre & Industries Limited (“JKTIL/Transferee Company”) and
their respective shareholders under sections 230 to 232 and other applicable provisions of the
Companies Act, 2013.

We are in receipt for captioned draft composite scheme of arrangement filed by JK Tyre & Industries Limited.

Based on our letter reference no. NSE/LIST/44459 dated December 31, 2024, submitted to SEBI pursuant to
SEBI Master Circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/POD-2/P/CIR/2023/93 dated June 20, 2023 and Regulation 37 and
Regulation 94(2) of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015 for comments on the Draft Scheme of Arrangement.
SEBI vide its letter dated April 01, 2025, has inter alia given the following comment(s) on the draft scheme of
arrangement:

a) The Company shall ensure that the proposed composite scheme of Amalgamation and Arrangement shall be
in compliance with the provisions of Regulation 11 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015.

b) The Company shall ensure to disclose all details of ongoing adjudication & recovery proceedings, prosecution
initiated, and all other enforcement action taken, if any, against the Company, its promoters, and directors,
before Hon'ble NCLT and shareholders, while seeking approval of the Scheme.

c) The Company shall ensure that additional information, if any, submitted by the Company after filing the
Scheme with the Stock Exchanges, from the date of receipt of this letter, is displayed on the websites of the
listed company and the Stock Exchanges.

d) The company shall ensure that the entities involved in the proposed scheme shall not make any changes in the
draft scheme subsequent to filing the draft scheme with SEBI by the Stock Exchange(s), except those mandated
by regulators/authorities/tribunal.

e) The Company shall ensure compliance with the SEBI Circular issued from time to time. The entities involved
in the Scheme shall duly comply with various provisions of the SEBI Master Circular dated June 20, 2023,
and ensure that all the liabilities of Transferor Company are transferred to the Transferee Company.

The Company shall ensure that information pertaining to all the Unlisted Companies, if any, involved in the
scheme shall be included in the format specified for abridged prospectus as provided in Part E of Schedule VI
of the ICDR Regulations, 2018, in the explanatory statement or notice or proposal accompanying resolution
to be passed, which is sent to the shareholders for seeking approval.

g) The Company shall ensure that the financials in the scheme incluging.finansials £onsidered for valuation

report are not for period more than 6 months old.

Signer: SAILI MOHAN KAMBLE

Date: Wed, Apr 2, 2025 15:57:40 IST
f NSE Location: NSE

National Stock Exchange of India Limited | Exchange Plaza, C-1, Elock G, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra {E), Mumbai — 400 051,
India +91 22 26598100 | www.ns=india.com | CIN UST120MH1992PLC069T 69
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Continuation Sheet

The Companies shall ensure that the following disclosure as a part of explanatory statement or notice or
proposal accompanying resolution to be passed to be forwarded by the Company to the shareholders while
seeking approval u/s 230 to 232 of the Companies Act 2013, so that public shareholders can make an informed
decision in the matter.

i Need for the merger, Rationale of the scheme, Synergies of business of the entities involved in the
scheme, Impact of the scheme on the shareholders and cost benefit analysis of the scheme.

ii. Clarification letter dated January 17, 2025 issued by Statutory Auditor with respect to method of
accounting to be followed for accounting amalgamation in Transferee Company post-merger.

iii. Details of Registered Valuer issuing Valuation Report and Merchant Banker issuing Fairness
opinion, Summary of methods considered for arriving at the Share-Swap Ratio and Rationale for
using above methods.

iv. Revised shareholding pattern submitted by JKTIL vide email dated March 21, 2025.

V. Pre and Post scheme shareholding of CIL and JKTIL as on the date of notice of Shareholders meeting
along with rationale for changes, if any, occurred between filing of Draft Scheme to Notice to
shareholders.

Vi Capital built-up of CIL since incorporation and last 3 years shareholding pattern filed by CIL with
ROC.

vii. Details of Revenue, PAT and EBIDTA of CIL and JKTIL for last 3 years.

viii. Projections considered for valuation of CIL and JKTIL.

iX. Justification for growth rate considered for valuation of CIL and JKTIL.

X. Value of Assets and liabilities of CIL that are being transferred to Transferee Company and post-
merger balance sheet of JKTIL.

Xi. Details of potential benefits and risks associated with the merger, including integration challenges,
market conditions and financial uncertainties.

Xii. Financial implication of merger on Promoters, Public Shareholders and the companies involved.

xiii.  Conditions imposed by lending scheduled commercial banks/financial institutions, if any, while

issuing its NOC to the Scheme.
Xiv. Disclose all pending actions against the entities involved including its promoters and directors in the
scheme and possible impact of the same on the Transferee Company to the shareholders.

The Company shall ensure that the details of proposed scheme under consideration as provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchanges shall be prominently disclosed in the notice sent to the shareholders.

The Company shall ensure that the proposed equity shares, if any, to be issued in terms of the ““Scheme” shall
mandatorily be in demat form only.

The Company shall ensure that the *““Scheme” shall be acted upon subject to the Company complying with the
relevant clauses mentioned in the scheme document.

The Company shall ensure that no changes to the draft scheme except those mandated by the
regulators/authorities/ tribunals shall be made without specific written consent of SEBI.

The Company shall ensure that the observations of SEBI/Stock Exchanges shall be incorporated in the petition
to be filed before NCLT and the Company is obliged to bring the obserwvatiens toitheinetice of NCLT.

Signer: SAILI MOHAN KAMBLE
Date: Wed, Apr 2, 2025 15:57:40 IST
Location: NSE
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n) The Companies shall ensure that all the applicable additional information shall form part of disclosures to the
shareholders, which was submitted by the Company to the Stock Exchange as per Annexure M of Exchange
checklist.

0) The Company shall ensure to comply with all the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, rules and
regulations issued thereunder, including obtaining the consent from the creditors for the proposed scheme.

p) Itis to be noted that the petitions are filed by the Company before NCLT after processing and communication
of comments/observations on draft scheme by SEBI/ Stock exchange. Hence, the Company is not required to
send notice for representation as mandated under section 230(5) of Companies Act, 2013 to SEBI again for
its comments/observations/representations.

It is to be noted that the petitions are filed by the Company before NCLT after processing and
communication of comments/observations on draft scheme by SEBI/ Stock exchange. Hence, the Company
is not required to send notice for representation as mandated under section 230(5) of Companies Act, 2013
to National Stock Exchange of India Limited again for its comments/observations/representations.

Please note that the submission of documents/information, in accordance with the Circular to SEBI and National
Stock Exchange of India Limited (NSE), should not in any way be deemed or construed that the same has been
cleared or approved by SEBI and NSE. SEBI and NSE does not take any responsibility either for the financial
soundness of any scheme or for the correctness of the statements made or opinions expressed in the documents
submitted.

Based on the draft scheme and other documents submitted by the Company, including undertaking given in terms
of Regulation 11 of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015, we hereby convey our “No objection” in terms of
Regulation 37 of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015, so as to enable the Company to file the draft scheme with
NCLT.

The Listed entity involved in the proposed Scheme shall disclose the No-Objection Letter of the Stock
Exchange(s) on its website within 24 hours of receiving the same.

However, the Exchange reserves its rights to raise objections at any stage if the information submitted to the
Exchange is found to be incomplete/ incorrect/ misleading/ false or for any contravention of Rules, Bye-laws and
Regulations of the Exchange, Listing Regulations, Guidelines/ Regulations issued by statutory authorities.

The validity of this “Observation Letter” shall be six months from April 02, 2025, within which the Scheme shall
be submitted to NCLT.

Kindly note, this Exchange letter should not be construed as approval under any other Act /Regulation/rule/bye
laws (except as referred above) for which the Company may be required to obtain approval from other
department(s) of the Exchange. The Company is requested to separately take up matter with the concerned
departments for approval, if any.

The Company shall ensure filing of compliance status report stating the compliance with each point of
Observation Letter on draft scheme of arrangement on the following path: NEAPS > Issue > Scheme of
arrangement > Reg 37 of SEBI LODR, 2015> Seeking Observation letter to Compliance Status.

This Document is Digitally Signed

Signer: SAILI MOHAN KAMBLE
Date: Wed, Apr 2, 2025 15:57:40 IST
Location: NSE

138



Continuation Sheet

Yours faithfully,
For National Stock Exchange of India Limited

Saili Kamble
Manager

P.S. Checklist for all the Further Issues is available on website of the exchange at the following
URL:https://www.nseindia.com/companies-listing/raising-capital-further-issues-main-sme-checklist

This Document is Digitally Signed

Signer: SAILI MOHAN KAMBLE
Date: Wed, Apr 2, 2025 15:57:40 IST
Location: NSE
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COMPLAINTS REPORT

[In respect of Scheme of Amalgamation of Cavendish Industries Limited and JK Tyre & Industries Limited
and their respective Shareholders]

Period of Complaints Report: October 10, 2024 to October 30, 2024

Part A

1. Number of complaints received directly Nil

2. Number of complaints forwarded by Stock Exchanges/ SEBI Nil

3. Total Number of complaints/comments received (1+2) Nil

4, Number of complaints resolved Not applicable

5. Number of complaints pending Not applicable
Part B

1. Not Applicable

DU
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Annexure 13

L E€TrYRE

& INDUSTRIES L
November 19, 2024

To,

Manager - Listing Compliance

National Stock Exchange of India Limited,

‘Exchange Plaza’, C-1, Block G, Bandra Kurla Complex,
Bandra (E), Mumbai - 400 051

Kind Att. Ms. Srishti Agarwal / Ms. Shiwani Mundhra
Scrip Code / SYMBOL: JKTYRE

Sub:  Application under Regulation 37 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”) for the proposed Scheme of Amalgamation of
Cavendish Industries Limited (“Transferor Company”) with JK Tyre & Industries Limited
{“Company” or “Transferee Company”) and their respective Shareholders under Sections 230
to 232 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 {“Act”) (“Scheme”)

Ref:  Report on Complaint in terms of Paragraph 6.2 of Part | of the SEBI Master Circular No.
SEBI/HO/CFD/POD-2/P/CIR/2023/93 dated June 20, 2023 as amended from time to time (“SEBI
Master Circular”)

Dear Sir/ Madam,

This is in reference to the Scheme filed by the Company pursuant to Regulation 37 of the Listing
Regulations with BSE Limited (“BSE”) and National Stock Exchange of India Limited (“NSE”).

As per Paragraph 6.a of Part | of the SEBI Master Circular, the Company is inter alia required to submit a
‘Report on Complaints’ containing the details of complaints received by the Company on the Scheme from
various sources within 7 days of expiry of 21 days from the date of uploading of the draft Scheme and
related documents on the website of the relevant stock exchange.

The period of 21 days from the date of uploading of the draft Scheme along with related documents by
NSE on its website i.e. October 28, 2024, has expired an November 17, 2024, accordingly, we attach
herewith a ‘Report on Complaints’, as Annexure-1 to this letter.

The Report on Complaints is also being uploaded on the website of the Company, i.e., www.jktyre.com,
as per the aforementioned SEBI Master Circular.

We request you to take the above on record as compliance under the applicable provisions of the Listing
Regulations and SEBI Master Circular.

For JK Tyre & Industries Limited

Kam nér Manik
Company Secretary

/

g Admin. Off.: 3, Bahadur Shah Zafar Marg, New Delhi-110 002, Fax: 91-11-23322059, Phone: 91-11-66001112, 66001122 @
'~, Regd. Off.: Jaykaygram, PO - Tyre Factery, Kankrol: - 313 342 (Rajasthan), Fax : 02852-232018, Ph. : 02952-233400 / 233000
Websile : www.jktyre. com CIN : L67120RJ1951PLC045966 VIKRANT
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COMPLAINTS REPORT

[In respect of Scheme of Amalgamation of Cavendish Industries Limited with JK Tyre & Industries Limited
and their respective Shareholders]

Periad of Complaints Report: October 28, 2024 to November 17, 2024

Part A

1. Number of complaints received directly Nil

2. Number of complaints forwarded by Stock Exchanges/ SEBI Nit

3. Total Number of complaints/comments received (1+2) Nil

4. Number of complaints resolved Not applicable

5, Number of complaints pending Not applicable
Part B

1 Not Applicable
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v/

Submission of Valuation Report

Complied. Copy of the Share
Exchange Ratio Report is enclosed
as part of this application.

& INDUSTRIES LTD.
(c) | Para (I)(A)4)(a)
(d) Para (1)(A)(5)

Auditors certificate regarding
compliance with Accounting
Standards

Complied. Copy of the certificates
issued by the statutory auditors of
the Transferor Company and the
Transferee Company confirming
that accounting treatment
mentioned in the Scheme is in
compliance with Section 133 of the
Companies Act 2013 and
accounting standards framed
thereunder is enclosed as part of
this application.

(€)

Para (1)(A)(9)

Provision of approval of public
shareholders through e-voting

The Transferee Company will
comply with provisions of e-voting
as per the Companies Act, 2013 and
the SEBI (Listing Obligations and
Disclosures Requirements)
Regulations, 2015 as amended from
time to time.

For JK Tyre & Industries Limited

Kam

umar Manik

Company Secretary

Certified that the transactions / accounting treatment provided in thé draft scheme of
amalgamation of Cavendish Industries Limited (Transferor Company) with JK Tyre &
Industries Limited (Transferee Company) and their respective shareholders are in
compliance with all the Accounting Standards applicable to a listed entity.

For JK Tyre & Industries [jmited

e . .
-'/\‘\EQEJ-S; For JK Tyre & Industries Limite

%

Chief Financial Officer " Mana Director

- 3 0CT 2024

> 'x?’,\:\ll
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Annexure 15

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Details of ongoing adjudication and recovery proceedings, prosecution initiated and all other enforcement action taken,
if any, against JK Tyre & Industries Ltd., Promoters and Directors

A.

Details of ongoing adjudication and recovery proceedings, prosecution initiated and all other enforcement action taken, if
any, against JK Tyre & Industries Ltd.

One of our dealer partners filed a civil suit (“Plaintiff’) against us before the Court of the Principal Senior Civil Judge,
Vijaywada, contending that they had placed several security deposits with us and we refusedto pay interest and handling
charges due on such deposits. The Court of the Principal Senior Civil Judge, Vijaywada, by order dated July 10, 2023
decreed the suit against us directing us to pay a sum of X 70.69 crores and interest thereon. We have filed an appeal before
the High Court of Andhra Pradesh at Amravati against the aforesaidorder dated July 10, 2023 contending, inter alia, that
the claim was already settled with the Plaintiff. In themeanwhile, the Plaintiff has filed an application dated September 11,
2023 under Section 7 of the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 before the National Company Law Tribunal (“NCLT
Jaipur”) toinitiate corporate insolvency resolution process against us for the purpose of recovering of the said sum along
with interest thereon and handling charges pursuant to the order dated July 10, 2023. The counsel for the Plaintiff has
submitted before the High Court on December 19, 2023 that they will not press further proceedings before the NCLT
Jaipur till the time the High Court passes orders in the stay application and petition under Order VII, Rule 11 of the CPC
against order dated July 10, 2023 filed by us. Regular hearing in both matters i.e. Appeal and CRP are going on before High
Court of Andhra Pradesh. Vide Order dated 17.3.2025, the NCLT, Jaipur has adjourned the matter sine die. The Hon'ble
High Court of Andhra Pradesh vide its Order dated 30.4.2025 has been pleased to grant stay on all proceedings pursuant
to final Decree dated 10.7.2023.

Our Company has instituted recovery proceedings against GP Catarinense Comercio Importacao e Exportacao Ltda,
J.S. Comercio de Pneus Ltda., and Brumel Distribuidora de Pneus Ltda. (“GPP Companies”), in Brazil, for recovery of
approximately USD 6.7 million in relation to non-payment of duesby the GPP Companies for tyres exported to them by us.
The case is currently pending before the RegionalCourt of Sao Jose dos Pinhais, Metropolitan Region of Curitiba — Parana,
Brazil.

The company received a show cause on October 6, 2021 (“Show Cause Notice”) from the Principal CommissionerCGST
& Central Excise, Bhopal (“Principal Commissioner”) requiring us to pay central value added tax (“CENVAT”) credit
under the Cenvat Credit Rules, 2004, as amended, in relation to sale by our Company of certain capital goods to Rent
Alpha Private Limited and J.K. Credit & Finance Limited amounting to ¥14.4 crore. We deposited an amount of T 1.00
crore on December 2, 2019 under protest during the course ofinvestigation preceding the Show Cause Notice. Further, we
filed reply dated May 18, 2022 to the Show Cause Notice wherein we contested payment of T 14.40 crore. The Principal
Commissioner subsequently issued a letter August 31, 2022 wherein they intimated the matter was transferred to the call
book under thedirections of the Principal Commissioner as a similar matter is pending before the Madras High Court. We
have not received any further notices from the Principal Commissioner in relation to the Show Cause Notice.

The Directorate General of GST Intelligence (“DGGI”) issued a show cause notice dated April 12, 2022 toour Company
alleging, inter alia, that we had not paid composite tax on supply of tubes, tyres and flaps asapplicable under the Central
Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017 (“CGST Act”) and had supplied tubes/flapsat a lower GST rate by wilfully misdeclaring the
supply as non-composite supply. It is further alleged that wehad belatedly paid T 81.90 crores towards such differential tax
liability on February 21, 2019 after investigation was initiated by the DGGI. We have filed our reply against the show cause
notice dated Aprill2,2022 before the Additional Commissioner of Central Tax, Chennai South Central Tax Commissionerate.
The financial impact of this case is estimated to be T 81.90 crore alongwith applicable interest, and penalty amount equal to
the tax. The matters are currently pending.

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India submitted a letter dated December 16, 2013 to the Competition
Commission of India (“CCI”) forwarding a representation from the All India Tyre Dealer’s Federation, alleging that our
Company and certain other domestic tyre manufacturing companies were engaging in cartelisation. The CCI by order
dated June 24, 2014 instructed the office of the Director General (“DG Office”) to investigate into the affairs of our
Company and other domestic tyre manufacturing companies in relation to this matter. The DG Office submitted its
report on December 8, 2015, and subsequently the CCI vide its order dated August 31, 2018 (“CCI Order”) held that, we,
actingin concert with other tyre manufacturers, had indulged in cartelization and increased the prices of cross ply/bias
tyres variants sold by each of us in the replacement market belonging to the truck/bus segment, and have also limited
and controlled the production and supply in the said market, thereby contravening the provisions of Section 3 of the
Competition Act, 2002. The CCI Order imposed a penalty of T 309.95 crore on the Company and a penalty of Rs. 16.45
Lakhs on Shri Arun K. Bajoria, Director & President - International, inter alia. An appeal against the CCI Order was filed
along with the other concerned domestic tyre manufacturing companies before the National Company Law Appellate
Tribunal, Principal Bench, New Delhi (“NCLAT”). Shri Arun K. Bajoria also filed appeal before NCLAT, against the said
CCI order. The NCLAT vide order dated December 1, 2022 (“NCLAT Order”) remitted the matter to the CCI, directing
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the CCI to re-examine arithmetical errors by the DG Office in the case, and toconsider reviewing the penalty imposed
on us keeping in mind promotion of the domestic tyre industry. The CCI and another tyre manufacturer have filed an
appeal before the Supreme Court of India against theNCLAT Order, which are currently pending. The Company strongly
reiterates that there has been no wrong doing on the part of the Company and that the Company has never indulged in or
was part of any cartel or undertook any anti-competitive practice.

In Reference Case No. 1 of 2019, the CCI passed a prima facie order directing the DG Office to investigate JK
Tyre & Industries Ltd. (“JK Tyre”) for alleged cartelization in respect of a tender(s) issued by the Director, State
Transport, Haryana, for purchase of new steel radial tyres of different sizes and specifications. The investigation
has since been completed by DG, CCI. The Company has received copy of DG’ Supplementary Report dated
21st February 2025 along with DG’s first report dated 28th July 2023. The DG’s investigation concludes that JK Tyre
along with its representative and another tyre company with its representative engaged in cartelization during the year
2013 in respect of Himachal Pradesh tender, in contravention of provisions of Section 3(3) read with Section 3(1) of the
Competition Act. It may be noted that there is no direct evidence given by DG in its report against the Company. DG has
pointed out exchange of one e-mail between two Agencies of JK Tyre and the said another tyre company in some other
matter and also exchange of information between the said two agencies undermining the competitive integrity and since
these two were representatives of JK Tyre and an another tyre company respectively, DG has inferred that JK Tyre and
an another tyre company are also in cartel. Under Section 48(1) of the Competition Act, individuals who are incharge/
responsible for the conduct of the business of the contravening companies are also deemed to be guilty of the contravention
along with the company and accordingly DG has identified Chairman & Managing Director of JK Tyre along with other
individuals in respect of other entities in contravention of the provisions of the Competition Act. It may be noted that the
Company at its own and on behalf of Chairman & Managing Director will be submitting its response/ objections on DG’s
report after receipt of complete version of the DG’s Investigation report (i.e. non redacted portion). The Company strongly
reiterates that there has been no wrong doing on the part of the Company and that the Company has never indulged in or
was part of any cartel or undertook any anti-competitive practice.

The Directorate of Enforcement (“ED”) passed an order dated July 13, 2020 (“Freezing Order 17) for freezing our bank
account under the Prevention of Money Laundering Act, 2002 (“PMLA”) following a letter of request for assistance in
criminal matters dated September 26, 2018 received from the Office of the Prosecutor General, Rio De Janeiro, Brazil
under the United Nations Convention Against Corruption (Merida Convention — Decree No. 5.687/2006) and United
Nations Convention Against Transnational Organised Crime (Palermo Convention - Decree No. 5,015/2004). We
challenged the Freezing Order 1 in a writ petition and the Freezing Order 1 was set-aside by the Hon’ble High Court of
Delhi by order dated October 27, 2021 for procedural impropriety. With consent of parties to the proceedings, the Hon'ble
High Court’s order also contained directions for ED to consider the submission of all parties and then pass fresh orders
in accordance with law. Subsequently, ED passed another freezing order dated April 29, 2022, (“Freezing Order 2”) for
freezing an amount of I 2.85 crores (approx.) held in our bank account. The Adjudicating Authority under PMLA, by
order dated October 21, 2022, allowed the continuation of Freezing Order 2. We have filed an appeal before the Appellate
Tribunal under PMLA against the order of the Adjudicating Authority dated October 21, 2022. We have also filed a writ
petition before the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi challenging the Freezing Order 2. In the said writ petition, by order dated
August 05, 2022, the Hon'ble High Court lifted the freeze on our bank account pursuant to us furnishing a fixed deposit
of approximately T 2.85 crores. The Hor'ble Delhi High Court in the hearing on 24" Jul 2025 set aside the freezing order
and further directed that all consequential proceedings be set aside. However, proceedings before Appellate Authority are
pending.

Norton Intec Rubber Private Limited filed a claim before the MSME Council, Chennai against our Company for recovery
of outstanding amount of approximately ¥ 29.53 crore comprising principal of approximately T 0.91 crore and interest
amounting to approximately I 28.62 crore calculated in accordancewith the requirements of the Micro, Small and Medium
Enterprises Development Act, 2006, as amended (“MSME Act”). The MSME Council, Chennai pursuant to order dated
June 3,2010 rejected the objectionsfiled by us against the aforementioned claim. Against such order dated June 3, 2010, we filed
a writ petition before the Madras High Court. The Madras High Court dismissed the writ petition filed by us, pursuant to
order dated August 20, 2010. We filed an appeal before a division bench of the Madras High Court challenging such order
passed by the single-judge bench. In the meantime, the MSME Council, Chennai passed its final award on September 20,
2010 (“Final Award”) directing us to pay Norton Intec Rubber Private Limited an amount of approximately ¥ 10.81 crore.
Further, the division bench of the Madras HighCourt dismissed the appeal filed by us pursuant to order dated November
20, 2012, against which, we havefiled an appeal before the Supreme Court of India. The Supreme Court of India pursuant
to its orders dated January 28, 2013 and March 20, 2013 stayed the execution of the Final Award subject to the deposit of
50% of the award amount, further to which, we deposited X 6.00 crore. The matter is currently pending hearing before the
Supreme Court of India. The financial impact of this case is estimated to be ¥ 12.21 crore including ¥ 1.40 crore towards
balance interest.

The Directorate of Revenue Intelligence, Ahmedabad Zonal Unit issued a show cause notice on September27, 2013 and
a demand notice on October 3, 2013 (“Demand Notices”) to our Company alleging that our Company had wrongfully
claimed exemption from safeguard duty on import of carbon black from China under the Customs Tariffs Act, 1975.
Pursuant to the Demand Notices, the Commissioner of Customs, Chennai-IV passed an order dated February 25, 2015
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against us, which we challenged by way of writ petition filed before the High Court of Rajasthan (Jodhpur Bench). The
matter is currently pending beforethe High Court of Rajasthan (Jodhpur Bench). The financial impact of this case is
estimated to be X 3.12 crore as duty plus any interest and penalty that may be levied.

Our Company received notices on June 13, 2017 and January 22, 2018 from the Additional Director General, Directorate
of Revenue Intelligence ("ADG, DRI”) alleging non-payment of customs duty on import of metal boxes used by foreign
suppliers for raw material packaging, against which, we filed an appeal with the Additional Director General (Adjudication),
Directorate of Revenue Intelligence, Mumbai(“ADG (Adjudication)”). The ADG (Adjudication) by way of order dated June
17,2020 upheld the noticeissued by the ADG, DRI, against which order, we filed an appeal before the Customs, Excise and
ServiceTax Appellate Tribunal, Mumbai (“CESTAT, Mumbai”), which is currently pending. The financial impact of this
case is estimated at T 8.75 crore as duty plus interest and penalty payable under the CustomsAct.

Our Company received notices on February 27, 2017 and April 26, 2018 from the Investigation Department, Directorate
of Revenue Intelligence (“Investigation Department, DRI”) alleging non- payment of customs duty on import of spools,
separators and pallets used for packaging of imported steel tyre cords, against which we filed an appeal with the ADG
(Adjudication). The ADG (Adjudication) by way of order dated January 2,2020 upheld the notice issued by the Investigation
Department, DRI, againstwhich order, we have filed an appeal before the CESTAT, Mumbai, which is currently pending.
The financial impact of this case is estimated at T 18.29 crore as duty plus any interest and penalty that may belevied.

We had entered into lease deeds dated August 5, 1975 and November 19, 1975, and transfer deed dated August 12, 1975, with
the State Government of Rajasthan for the purposes of acquiring land for our Kankroli Tyre Plant in District Rajsamand,
whereunder it was stated that the annual rent shall be subject to revision after every thirty years and the enhancement in rent
at each revision shall not exceed 25% of the rent payable for the period immediately preceding such revision. The Revenue
Department of the State Government of Rajasthan amended the Rajasthan Land Revenue (Industrial Areas Allotment)
Rules, 1959pursuant to notifications dated November 25, 1987 and August 13, 2009 (“Notifications”), prescribing certain
rental rates based on the population of the concerned town/city/village. The District Collector, Rajsamand by way of order
dated June 12, 2012 issued a demand notice (“Demand Notice”) for recoveryof difference in annual lease rent charges on
our land retrospectively from 1987 till December 12, 2013 based on the rate prescribed in the Notifications. Subsequently,
the Tehsildar, District Rajsamand issued notice dated June 18, 2012 under Form No. II, Rule 24 of Rajasthan Land Revenue
(Payments, Credits, Refunds & Recovery) Rules, 1958 alleging dues of T 0.34 crore in lieu of lease rent charges outstanding
inour name. The Tehsildar further issued notice dated August 27, 2012 (“Attachment Notice”) for the attachment and sale
of property under the provisions of Section 230 of the Rajasthan Land Revenue Act, 1956 calling upon us to deposit the
impugned lease rent charges failing which our movable property shallbe attached and sold. We have filed a writ petition
before the High Court of Rajasthan (Jodhpur Bench) praying for setting aside the Demand Notice and Attachment Notice,
which is currently pending.

We had entered into power delivery agreement dated July 10, 2007 with V.S. Lignite Power Private Limited (“VSPPL”)
whereunder we were entitled to consume 4.44% of the energy generated by VSPPL at its captive thermal power plant at
Bikaner, in proportion to our shareholding in VSPPL. The State Government of Rajasthan had issued Notification No.
E12(14) FD/Tax/2006-143 dated March 8, 2006 in exercise of powers conferred by Section 3(3) of the Rajasthan Electricity
(Duty) Act, 1962, whereunder persons generating energy for their own use and consumption were exempt from payment
of electricity duty. However, we received electricity bills dated March 1, 2013 for the billing month of February 2013
(“Electricity Notice 1”) from Ajmer Vidyut Vitaran Nigam Limited (“AVVNL”) which included levy ofelectricity duty. We
filed a writ petition before the High Court of Rajasthan (Jodhpur Bench) praying for the quashing of the Electricity Notice
1 issued by AVVNL. Subsequently, we received another notice dated July 23,2015 from the Chief Engineer (Commercial),
AVVNL (“Electricity Notice 2”) alleging thatVSPPL had failed to meet the eligibility conditions of a captive power plant and
accordingly, the exemptionof electricity duty and water conservation cess was not available to us. We received a bill dated
August 1,2015 from AVVNL for recovery of the aforesaid charges set out in the Electricity Notice 2. We have fileda writ
petition before the High Court of Rajasthan (Jodhpur Bench) challenging the recovery of late payment surcharge and
praying for quashing of the Electricity Notice 2, which is currently pending.

The Rajasthan Electricity Regulation Commission (“RERC”) passed order dated March 23, 2017 against our Company
and other entities directing payment of deficit in renewable purchase obligations (payment for minimum percentage of
renewable energy by end users) under the RERC (Renewable Energy Certificate and Renewable Purchase Obligation
Compliance Framework) Regulations, 2010 for the period from March 23, 2007 to December 22, 2010. We have filed an
appeal against the order of the RERC dated March 23, 2017 before the Appellate Tribunal for Electricity, New Delhi.

Tribunal vide it's decision dated 30.7.2024 held that amendment made in Regulation 4(2) of Renewal Purchase Obligation
(RPO) Regulations, 2007 to revise the percentage of minimum purchase of RE vide Regulations of 2011 and 2014 is
correct. Therefore, Tribunal do not find any error or infirmity in the impugned orders of the Rajasthan Renewal Energy
Corporation. The appeals are devoid of any merit and are hereby dismissed as such.

The RERC pursuant to order dated September 1, 2022 permitted AVVNL and other electricity distributioncompanies in
the State to impose special fuel surcharge on consumers (including us, being industrial consumers) at the rate of Rs. 0.07
per unit (KWh) per month for 60 months with effect from the billing month of October, 2022 onwards. Accordingly, the
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16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

Chief Engineer, AVVNL passed order dated September 20, 2022 (together with the RERC order dated September 1, 2022, the
“Recovery Orders”) for recovery of the aforesaid special fuel recharge. We have filed a writ petition before the High Court
of Rajasthan (Jodhpur Bench) praying for quashing of the Recovery Orders, which is currently pending.

We had entered into agreement with Zorya Distributed Power Services Private Limited for setting up a solar power plant
at our Kankroli Tyre Plant for exclusive supply of power. The Additional Chief Engineer(HQ), AVVNL pursuant to letter-
cum-order dated November 23,2021 (“Surcharge Order”) levied cross-subsidy surcharge on third party sale of solar power
under the RERC (Terms and Conditions for Tariff Determination from Renewable Energy Sources) Regulations, 2020. We
have filed a writ petition before the High Court of Rajasthan (Jodhpur Bench) praying for quashing of the Surcharge Order,
which is currently pending.

The Tehsildar, Rajasmand, Rajasthan by notice dated March 17, 2003 directed recovery of X 49, 320 underthe Rajasthan
Land Revenue Act, 1956 for deficit in lease rate payment. We have filed an appeal against the notice dated March 17, 2003
before the District Collector, Rajasmand, which is currently pending.

Kuehne Plus Nagel Pvt. Ltd. has filed a Commercial Suit before Delhi High Court against JK Tyre & Industries Ltd. (the
Company) and Cavendish Industries Limited (CIL), thereby claiming an amount of Rs. 8.97 Crores towards detention,
demurrage, consignment handling and allied charges which were paid by them to the shipping line and port on the ground
that our Company along with the buyer / consignee failed to collect the consignment from the destination port.

The said Kuehne Plus Nagel Pvt. Ltd. had issued Demand Notice under Insolvency & Bankruptcy Code, 2016 to both the
Company and CIL. We had suitably replied to the said notice on 9" February, 2024 by stating that no amount is due and
payable by us on the ground that Kuehne Plus Nagel Pvt. Ltd. had acted as Forwarding Agent on CY to CY (Container
Yard to Container Yard) basis. Hence their role ceased at the destination Container Yard. Beyond the said point, it was the
responsibility of the Buyer / Consignee to collect the container.

Further, there are adequate laws and rules framed by Port Authority who would have taken action in accordance with such
rules. It would not be out of place to state here that the said Kuehne Plus Nagel Pvt. Ltd. did not inform our Company
prior to assuming the responsibility to deal with the goods after it reached the destination port and as such JK Tyre &
Industries Ltd. (Company) is not responsible for the acts and consequences of Kuehne Plus Nagel Pvt. Ltd. after the title in
the goods had passed onto Buyer / named Consignee. The matter is pending before Delhi High Court for adjudication of
the jurisdiction issue.

The Company has received a demand order dated 29th February 2024 on 16th March 2024 from the Additional
Commissioner, CGST & Central Excise, Bhopal against Show Cause Notice dated 24™ February 2023 issued in the matter
of Input Tax Credit (ITC) availed on lease rental services from the Lessors in respect of the capital goods received on lease
for the period July 2017 to 2019.

The amount involved is Rs. 8.78 Crore and interest as applicable as per Section 50 of CGST Act, 2017 along with penalty of
Rs. 8.78 Crore against which an appeal stating relevant grounds was filed on 29" May 2024. However, the Commissioner
(Appeals) has passed order against our appeal. The Company has a strong case to appeal before the higher authorities and
the same is being evaluated.

On similar grounds, the Input Tax Credit (ITC) availed on lease rental services from the Lessors in respect of the capital
goods received on lease for the period October 2019 to March 2020 and April 2020 to March 2022 was disallowed. The
overall liability on account of tax along with applicable interest and penalty amounts to Rs. 4.24 crores and Rs. 15.10 crores
respectively. On our appeal, the Commissioner has passed an order reducing the liability on account of tax and penalty
from Rs. 4.24 crores to Rs. 2.23 crores and interest as applicable and from Rs. 15.10 crores to Rs. 8.87 crores and interest as
applicable. The Company has a strong case to appeal before the higher authorities and the same is being evaluated.

In respect of the Assessment years 2012-13, 2015-16, 2018-19 & 2020-21 certain expenditures have been disallowed by
Assessing authorities under Income - Tax, Act 1961. The Company is pursuing these matters. If, however, the Company’s
representation / appeals not upheld, the total liability of Rs. 27.75 crores can entail on the Company.

Miscellaneous cases related to GST matters such as Transitional credit, non reversal of ITC on Credit Notes issued by
Supplier, reconciliation differences between GSTR 2A and GSTR 3B, ITC on hotel accommodation and other expenses
as disputed, defective processes adopted by Department pertaining to refund of GST, certificates from customers towards
reversal of ITC against credit notes issued to them totaling to Rs.8.1 crores approximately. All these cases are being persuade
appropriately through company’s representations / appeals.

Service Tax matters where Department has incorrectly classified IPR services as consulting engineering services thereby
imposing taxes and penalties both aggregating to Rs. 4.93 crores. The company is of the contention that since the taxable
value of service has already suffered tax under IPR as prescribed under the law, the same cannot be taxed twice under
different heading. The case has being persuade appropriately through company’s representations / appeals.

Miscellaneous cases pertaining to Labour Laws, ESIC, Provident Fund, Industrial Dispute Act, Consumer Court cases
and Entry Tax matters are disputed by the company. The overall amount involved is Rs. 7.68 crores. These cases are also
persuade appropriately through company’s representations / appeals.
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C.

Details of ongoing adjudication and recovery proceedings, prosecution initiated and all other enforcement action taken, if
any, against the Promoter of JK Tyre & Industries Ltd.

Bengal & Assam Company Limited (‘the Company) had applied for adjudication of Stamp Duty before the Office of the
Collector of Kolkata, Government of West Bengal (“Collector of Stamps”), in respect of 32,59,450 Equity Shares issued
pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement between erstwhile Florence Investech Limited, BMF Investments Limited and
J.K. Fenner (India) Limited and Bengal & Assam Company Limited, sanctioned by the Hon’ble National Company Law
Tribunal, Kolkata Bench, vide its Order dated 5" November, 2018. Collector of Stamps vide an Order dated 20" June, 2024
has adjudicated Stamp Duty of Rs. 10.73 Crore. The Company being aggrieved by the aforesaid Order of the Collector of
Stamps, Kolkata had filed a Writ Petition before the Hon’ble High Court of Calcutta on 5 September, 2024. The Hon’ble
High Court of Calcutta vide its Order dated 20™ February 2025 had restrained the Collector Stamps, Kolkata, for taking
any coercive measure against the Company till 31* July, 2025 or until further Order, whichever is earlier.

Details of ongoing adjudication and recovery proceedings, prosecution initiated and all other enforcement action taken, if
any, against the Directors of JK Tyre & Industries Ltd.

In respect of the case reported under para A point 5, the CCI order had also imposed a penalty of Rs. 16.45 Lakh on Shri
Arun K. Bajoria, Director & President - International. Further details are given in the aforesaid para A point 5.
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Annexure 19

e
pwc

Private & Confidential

15 October 2024

The Board of Directors The Board of Directors

JK Tyre & Industries Limited Cavendish Industries Limited
Jaykaygram, PO — Tyre Factory 7, Council House Street,

Kankroli — 313 342 Kolkata — 700 001

Rajasthan, India West Bengal, India

Dear Sirs,

We refer to our fair Share Exchange Ratio (“SER”) report dated 16 September 2024 and Summary
Workings dated 27 September 2024, for providing the fair share exchange ratio for the proposed
amalgamation of the Cavendish Industries Limited (“Cavendish” or “Transferor Company”) with the JK
Tyre & Industries Limited (“JK Tyre” or “Transferee Company”), proposed to be implemented through
a composite scheme of arrangement, pursuant to Section 230 to 232 and other applicable provisions of
Companies Act, 2013.

As asked by you, find below our responses to queries received by you from the National Stock Exchange
of India Ltd.

Query: “In the valuation of JK Tyre & Industries Limited, Cavendish Industries Limited, JK Tornel
S.A. De C.V., Mexico, Valiant Pacific LLC, UAE & Treel Mobility Solutions Private Limited as per
Income Approach, it has been observed that there is increase in projected revenue on a year-to-year
basis. Kindly clarify reasons for the same, clarification has to be given on the letterhead of valuer who
has given the valuation report.”

Response: As discussed with the Management, the increase in the projected revenue of JK Tyre &
Industries Limited, Cavendish Industries Limited, JK Tornel S.A. De C.V., Mexico and Valiant Pacific
LLC, UAE is on account of the following reasons:

e Expected increase in production volumes driven by:
o0 Augmentation of existing capacity through debottlenecking and/or higher capacity
utilisation;
o Addition of new production capacities under implementation as approved by the Board
of Directors;
o0 For companies which also have trading volumes (i.e. JK Tornel S.A. De C.V., Mexico
and Valiant Pacific LLC, UAE), increase in traded volume; and
e Expected increase in the tyre prices considering general inflationary increase, including increase
in raw material prices.

For Treel Mobility Solutions Private Limited, the projected revenue is expected to increase only on
account of higher capacity utilization of existing plants and addition of new production capacity under
implementation as approved by the Board of Directors.

)

PwC Business Consulting Services LLP, 252 Veer Savarkar Marg, Shivaji Park, Dadar, Mumbai — 400 028.
T:+91(22) 66691500, F: + 91 (22) 66547801 /04 / 07 / 08, www.pwc.com/india

LLPIN : AAO-9288 Registered with limited liability.

Registered Office : 11-A,Sucheta Bhawan, 1% Floor, Vishnu Digambar Marg, New Delhi, 110 002.
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Private and Confidential

This letter should be read in conjunction with our report and the limitations mentioned therein. Any
terms not defined in this letter shall derive their meaning from our Report.

Trust you would find the above in order.
Yours faithfully,
For PwC Business Consulting Services LLP
IBBI Registered Valuer No.: IBBI/RV-E/02/2022/158
NEERAJ DRGeiitine
Date: 2024.10.15
GA RG 1 1a:(;32:27 +05'30'
Neeraj Garg

Partner
IBBI Membership No.: IBBI/RV/02/2021/14036
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Annexure 20

[ 4

Additional documents submitted with NSE as per Annexure M of the NSE Checklist and in line with the
advice received from BSE via email dated April 1, 2025, pursuant to Point (Q) of the observation letter
along with the application filed under Regulation 37 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India
{Listing Obiigations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 for obtaining Observation Letter

sr. No. Particulars Yes/ [Not  Annexure
Applicable
1. In cases of Demerger, apportionment of losses of the listed Not Applicable -

Company among the companies involved in the scheme.

2. Details of assets, liabilities, revenue and net worth of the Yes Annexure
companies involved in the scheme, both pre and post 20.1
scheme of arrangement, along with a write up on the history
of the demerged undertaking / Transferor Company certified
by Chartered Accountant (CA).

3. Any type of arrangement or agreement between the Not Applicable -
demerged Company / resulting Company / merged /
amalgamated Company / creditors / shareholders /
promoters / directors / etc, which may have any
implications on the scheme of arrangement as well as on the
shareholders of listed entity.

4, in the cases of capital reduction / reorganization of capital Not Applicable -
of the Company, reasons along with relevant provisions of
Companies Act, 2013 or applicable laws for proposed
utilization of reserves viz. Capital Reserve, Capital
Redemption Reserve, Securities premium, as a free reserve,
certified by CA.

5. In the cases of capital reduction/ reorganization of capital of Not Applicable -
the Company, built up for reserves viz. Capital Reserve,
Capital Redemption Reserve, Securities premium, certified
by CA.

6. In the cases of capital reduction/ reorganization of capital of Not Applicable -
the Company, Nature of reserves viz. Capital Reserve,
Capital Redemption Reserve, whether they are notional
and/or unrealized, certified by CA.

7. In the cases of capital reduction/ reorganization of capital of Not Applicable - D
the Company, the built up of the accumuiated losses over

the years, certified by CA. -
M~
*
Admin. Off.: 3, Bahadur Shah Zafar Marg, New Dethi-110 002, Phone: 91-11-66001112, 66001122 @
Regd. Off.: Jaykaygram, PO - Tyre Factory, Kankroli - 313 342 (Rajasthan), Fax : 02052-232018, Ph. : 02952-302400 / 330011
Website : www.jktyre.com CIN : L67120RJ1951PLC045966 T
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Sr.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15,

16.

17.

18.

15,

20,

Part cula

Relevant sections of Companies Act, 2013 and applicable
Indian Accounting Standards and Accounting treatment,
certified by CA.

In case of Composite Scheme, details of shareholding of
companies involved in the scheme at each stage.

Whether the Board of unlisted Company has taken the
decision regarding issuance of Bonus shares. If yes provide
the details thereof.

List of comparable companies considered for comparable
companies’ multiple method, if the same method is used in
valuation.

Share Capital built-up in case of scheme of arrangement
involving unlisted entity/entities, certified by CA.

Any action taken/pending by Govt./Regulatory body/Agency
against all the entities involved in the scheme for the period
of recent 8 years.

Comparison of revenue and net worth of demerged
undertaking with the total revenue and net worth of the
listed entity in last three financial years.

Detailed rationale for arriving at the swap ratio for issuance
of shares as proposed in the draft scheme of arrangement
by the Board of Directors of the listed Company.

In case of Demerger, basis for division of assets and liabilities
between divisions of Demerged entity.

How the scheme will be beneficial to public shareholders of
the Listed entity and details of change in value of public
shareholders pre and post scheme of arrangement.

Tax/other liability/benefit arising to the entities involved in
the scheme, if any.

Comments of the Company on the Accounting treatment
specified in the scheme to conform whether it is in
compliance with the Accounting Standards/Indian
Accounting Standards.

If the Income Appreach method used in the Valuation,
Revenue, PAT and EBIDTA (in value and percentage terms)
details of entities involved in the scheme for all the number
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Applicable

Yes

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Yes

Yes

Yes

Not Applicable

Yes

Not Applicable

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Annexure
20.2

Annexure
20.3

Annexure
20.4

Annexure
20.5

Annexure
20.6

Annexure
20.7

Annexure
20.8

Annexure
20.9

Kindly refer
Annexure
20.3



L

JCETrYIRE

& INDUSTRIES

Sr. No.

21.

22.

23,

24,

of years considered for valuation. Reasons justifying
EBIDTA/PAT margin considered in the valuation report.

Confirmation from valuer that the valuation done in the
scheme is in accordance with applicable valuation
standards.

Confirmation from Company that the scheme is in
compliance with the applicable securities laws.

Confirmation that the arrangement proposed in the scheme
is yet to be executed.

Part B of Annexure M of the NSE Checklist — Presentation.
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Annexure
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& INDUSTRIES LTD,

JKTIL: SECTL:SE: 53:2025 March 21, 2025

To,

The General Manager,
Department of Corporate Services,
BSE Limited,

P.J. Towers, Dalal Street,

Mumbai — 400 001

Scrip Code: 530007

Dear Sir/ Madam,

Sub:  Application under Regulation 37 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”) for the proposed Scheme of Amalgamation of
Cavendish Industries Limited (“Transferor Company”) with JK Tyre & Industries Limited
(“Company” or “Transferee Company”} and their respective shareholders under Sections 230 to
232 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) {“Scheme”)

The rationale and benefits arising out of the Scheme to the shareholders (including public shareholders)
and as mentioned in the Scheme is reproduced below:

1. The Transferor Company and the Transferee Company, both, are engaged in the similar line of
business. Taking into consideration the similar line of business and growth prospects available, it is
proposed to undertake the amalgamation. This amalgamation will inter alia result in all the businesses
being housed in one listed company with the following benefits:

a)

b)

economies of scale, operational synergies & efficiencies at multiple levels of business
operations;

optimisation in administrative, managerial and other overheads;

reduction in interest cost;

pooling of resources for faster growth;

ease of doing business;

comprehensive products offering, availability of combined sales and distribution network;
improved customer satisfaction;

significant reduction in multiplicity of legal and regulatory compliances; and

improved investor perception and enhanced shareholders’ value.

e Scheme is in the interest of the Transferor Company and the Transferee Company and their

:gespective stakeholders.
R

Tt g

Admin, Off.: 3, Bahadur Shah Zafar Marg, New Deihi-110 002, Phone: 91-11-66001112, 66001122 @
Regd. Off.: Jaykaygram, PG - Tyre Faclory, Kankroli - 313 342 (Rajasthan), Fax : 02052232018, Ph. : (2952-302400 / 330011
Website : www ktyre.com CIN : L67120R41951PLC045866 VIKRANT
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Existing and Proposed Capital Structure of entities involved in the Scheme

The existing and proposed capital structure of the entities involved in the Scheme has been

provided against the Point No 16 of NSE checklist. The same can also be referred as follows:

JK Tyre & Industries Limited:

Promoter and Promoter Grou
Public
Total

Cavendis Industries Limited:

Promoter and Promoter
Public
Total

13,85, 055
13,54, 972
7 027

5,99,71,273

71 273

50.55%
49.45%
100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

1 536 91.77%
975 48.23%
28 2 1 100.00%

Not applicable, company shall
stand dissolved.
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In case unlisted company is involved, calculation of percentage of shareholding of pre-scheme public
shareholders of the listed company and QIBs of the unlisted entity, in the post scheme shareholding of
“merged” company on fully diluted basis shall not be less than 25%

« Cavendish Industries Limited is subsidiary of JK Tyre & Industries Limited and no QIBs are
holding any share in Cavendish Industries Limited.

 Shareholding of pre-scheme public shareholders of JK Tyre & Industries Limited in the
merged JK Tyre & Industries Limited (i.e. in post scheme shareholding pattern of JK Tyre &
Industries Limited) will be more than 25%. Detailed of shareholding of pre-scheme public
shareholders in merged JK Tyre & Industries Limited is also mentioned in the post-scheme
shareholding pattern attached as Annexure No 6 & 7 of NSE checklist.
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Corporate Identification Number (CIN): L67120R]J1951PLC045966
Registered Office: Jaykaygram, PO - Tyre Factory, Rajsamand, Kankroli — 313 342, Rajasthan, India
Tel: 02952 - 302 400 / 330 011| Fax: 02952 - 232018
Email: kmanik@jkmail.com |Website: www.jktyre.com
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L I E€rYyE

& INDUSTRIES LTD.
Corporate Identification Number (CIN): L67120RJ1951PLC045966
Registered Office: Jaykaygram, PO — Tyre Factory, Rajsamand, Kankroli — 313 342, Rajasthan, India
Tel: 02952 — 302 400 / 330 011 Fax: 02952 - 232018
Email: kmanik@jkmail.com |Website: www.jktyre.com

Dear Sir/ Madam,
Subject: Letter regarding notice for convening the meeting of unsecured creditors of JK Tyre & Industries Limited

You are hereby informed that by an Order dated June 12, 2025 read with Order dated July 10, 2025 (uploaded on
July 14, 2025) (collectively known as “Tribunal Order”), the Jaipur Bench of the National Company Law Tribunal
(“Tribunal”), a Meeting of the unsecured creditors of the Company, will be held for the purpose of their considering,
and if thought fit, approving, with or without modification(s), the proposed Scheme of Amalgamation of Cavendish
Industries Limited (“Transferor Company”) with JK Tyre & Industries Limited (“Company” or“ Transferee Company”)
and their respective shareholders under Sections 230 to 232 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act,
2013 (“Scheme”), as detailed below:

Day Wednesday

Date September 3, 2025

Time 12.30 p.m. (IST)

Mode of Meeting As per the directions of the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Jaipur Bench,
the meeting shall be conducted through video conferencing (“VC”) / other audio -
visual means (“OAVM”)

REMOTE E-VOTING

Cut-off date for e-voting | Monday, June 30, 2025

Start Date and Time Sunday, August 31, 2025 at 9.00 a.m. (IST)

End Date and Time Tuesday, September 2, 2025 at 5.00 p.m. (IST)

Pursuant to the Tribunal Order and as directed therein, the Meeting will be held through video conferencing
(“VC”) / other audio visual means (“OAVM”), in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Companies Act,
2013 (“Act”) and the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI Listing Regulations”) and also other applicable Rules and Guidelines, to consider, and if
thought fit, to pass, the resolution for approval of the Scheme by requisite majority as prescribed under Section
230(6) of the Act and/or SEBI Listing Regulations and other Rules / Regulations, as applicable.

The Board of Directors of the Company at their meeting held on September 16, 2024, have approved the Scheme,
subject to the approval of requisite majority of unsecured creditors of the Company as may be required, and
subject to the sanction of the Tribunal and such other authorities as may be necessary.



The links to join the Meeting through VC / OAVM may be accessed through https://www.evotingindia.com/ and
then click on the “Shareholders/Members Tab”. User ID and Password are given in this letter. Further, you may
also refer the detailed instructions for joining the Meeting and manner of casting vote through remote e-voting or
e-voting during the Meeting as given in the notes to the notice of the Meeting.

The aforesaid notice of the Meeting along with its explanatory statement and all relevant annexures thereto are
also placed on the:

a) website of the Company and can be accessed at https://jktyre.com/investor/investor-unsecured-credi-
tors-notices

b) website of CDSL viz. https://www.evotingindia.com being the agency appointed by the Company, which
will provide the facility of voting to the Unsecured Creditors through remote e-voting, for participation in
the Meeting through VC/OAVM and e-voting at the Meeting; and

c) websites of the Stock Exchanges i.e., BSE Limited (“BSE”) viz. www.bseindia.com and the National Stock
Exchange of India Limited (“NSE”) viz. www.nseindia.com

The complete notice along with its explanatory statement and annexures can also be accessed through the QR
Code, through which the relevant details — such as the day, date, time, and VC/OAVM login details for the meeting,
along with the exact path to access the full notice, explanatory statement and relevant documents along with a
copy of the Scheme, is given below:

Further, as directed in the Tribunal Order, the advertisements of the notice of the Meeting containing the day, date,
time and the process / links to join the Meeting as mentioned above will also be published through advertisement
in (i) Business Standard (English Language - All Editions); and (ii) Pratahkal (Hindi Language — All Editions).

If so desired, the unsecured creditors may obtain a physical copy of the Notice and the accompanying documents,
i.e., Scheme and the Statement under Section 230 read with Section 102 and other applicable provisions of the Act
and Rule 6 of the CAA Rules, free of charge. A written request in this regard, along with the details of such creditors
in the Company may be addressed to the Company Secretary at kmanik@jkmail.com

For all queries or issues regarding attending Meeting and e-Voting from the CDSL e-Voting System, you can write
an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or contact at toll free no. 1800 21 09911.

Dated: July 31, 2025 Sd/-
Place: New Delhi Justice Vijender Jain

(Former Chief Justice Punjab & Haryana High Court)
Chairperson Appointed for this Meeting
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